REPORT FROM THE NEW YORK STATE SENATE

COMMITTEE ON INVESTIGATIONS AND GOVERNMENT OPERATIONS

CHAIR SENATOR JAMES SKOUFIS



Final Investigative Report: Public Authorities in New York State

DECEMBER 16, 2019

COMMITTEE ON INVESTIGATIONS AND GOVERNMENT OPERATIONS

• CHAIR • Senator James Skoufis

COMMITTEE MEMBERS •

Senator Chris Jacobs Senator Alessandra Biaggi Senator David Carlucci Senator Todd Kaminsky Senator Andrew J. Lanza Senator Luis R. Sepúlveda

INVESTIGATIVE STAFF •

Sara DiBernardo, Esq. Counsel Michael Mazzariello, Esq. Chief Investigator

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I.	PUBLIC AUTHORITIES IN NEW YORK STATE	2
II.	OVERVIEW OF PUBLIC AUTHORITIES	5
III.	AUTHORITIES BUDGET OFFICE	7
IV.	STATE AUTHORITIES	10
v.	LOCAL AUTHORITIES	15
VI.	INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITIES	17
VII.	LOCAL DEVELOPMENT CORPORATIONS	22
VIII.	STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS OF AUTHORITIES	29
IX.	CASE STUDIES	
A.	MEDLINE	
B.	GREEN ACRES	48
X.	INVESTIGATIVE FINDINGS & LEGISLATIVE RECOMMENDATIONS	55
A.	INADEQUATE STATUTORY OVERSIGHT	57
B.	ACCOUNTABILITY OF PUBLIC AUTHORITIES	60
C.	INSUFFICIENT TRANSPARENCY	62
D.	INSUFFICIENT RESOURCES FOR AUTHORITIES BUDGET OFFICE	63
E.	PUBLIC AUTHORITIES BOARD MEMBERS OVERSIGHT	65
F.	STATE AUTHORITY BOARDS VACANCIES	67
G.	INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCIES REFORM	67

I. PUBLIC AUTHORITIES IN NEW YORK STATE

New York State has a complex system of public authorities that are formed to achieve public or quasi-public objectives. Public authorities are designed to function for the benefit of the people of New York through various activities including financing, building, and managing public projects and improving a variety of governmental functions.1 Utilized at all levels of government, the State relies on public authorities to deliver vital services to the people of New York. Public authorities are responsible for developing, operating, and maintaining some of the State's most critical infrastructure including roads, bridges, hospitals, and schools. Public Authorities include state and local authorities, industrial development agencies and local development corporations.

The State's current reliance on public authorities primarily began in the 1930s, with Robert Moses using the concept to finance a variety of transportation projects across New York State, including the now-Robert F. Kennedy Bridge.2 Importantly, 1938 amendments to the NYS Constitution expressly empowered public authorities to contract debt independently of the State, allowing them to bypass constitutional limits on state debt.³ Under Governor Nelson Rockefeller, the use of public authorities at both the state and local levels significantly expanded.⁴ The most notable feature of the expansion was the development of legal instruments that enabled public authorities to issue debt on behalf of the State for purposes that state agencies could only previously pursue and finance by

¹ N.Y. AUTHORITIES BUDGET OFFICE, ANNUAL REPORT ON PUBLIC AUTHORITIES IN NEW YORK STATE (2019) (hereinafter "ANNUAL REPORT ON PUBLIC AUTHORITIES").

² Public Authorities in New York State, CITIZENS BUDGET COMMISSION, Apr. 2006, at 1.

³ NY Const art X, § 5

⁴ Public Authorities in New York State, CITIZENS BUDGET COMMISSION, Apr. 2006, at 1.

borrowing money through general obligation bonds approved in a general election.⁵ By the mid-1970s, public authorities were aggressively aiding the State in financing projects relating to housing, urban renewal, universities, medical facilities and transportation.⁶

Today, often unbeknownst to the public, the State frequently relies on public authorities to fund and manage essential government functions relating to energy, economic development, healthcare, education, and transportation.⁷ Notable public authorities responsible for providing essential state functions include the Metropolitan Transportation Authority, the Power Authority of the State of New York, the New York State Thruway Authority, the New York State Bridge Authority and the New York State Affordable Housing Corporation.

Over the past 50 years, public authorities have become a critical source of funds for New York State.⁸ As the needs of the public have surpassed tax revenue, the State has increasingly relied on public authorities to fund essential infrastructure by providing financial assistance neither approved by the public nor reflected in the state budget.⁹ Due to the State's extensive reliance on public authorities, they play a significant role in the debt structure of New York State; over 96 percent of all State-funded outstanding debt was issued by public authorities without voter approval.¹⁰

While public authorities play a vital role in providing essential government services, including economic development, unregulated activities of authorities too often

7 *Id*.

⁵ *Id*.

⁶ *Id*.

⁸ Scott N. Fein & Ira M. Millstein, *Who's Running the Railroad?*, CRAIN'S NEW YORK BUSINESS, Sept. 13, 2019.

⁹ Id.

¹⁰ OFFICE OF THE NEW YORK STATE COMPTROLLER, Public Authorities (2019).

lead to the waste and abuse of public funds. Regulating the rampant behavior of public authorities is essential to ensuring the public benefit.

On March 25, 2019, the New York State Senate Committee on Investigations and Government Operations opened an investigation into the compliance and practices of public authorities across New York State.11 The Committee issued information and document requests to 143 public authorities, each receiving 17 requests with sub-questions. Requests were sent to 10 state authorities, 15 local authorities, 109 Industrial Development Agencies, and 9 Local Development Corporations. Exhibit A provides the list of 143 public authorities selected for this investigation.

The requests sought information and documents relating to the operations and finances of each authority as well as reviewed compliance with applicable New York State laws. Of the 143 public authorities investigated, 135 responded to the Committee's requests. The public authorities that failed to respond wholly or in part include:

- Geneva Industrial Development Agency;
- Mount Vernon Industrial Development Agency;
- New York State Thruway Authority;
- Southern Tier Economic Growth, Inc.;
- Town of Corinth Industrial Development Agency;
- Village of Spring Valley Urban Renewal Agency;
- Westchester County Industrial Development Authority; and
- Yonkers Industrial Development Agency.12

11 Reference to the "Committee" within this report refers to the actions and opinions of a majority of the New York State Senate Investigation and Government Operations Committee members. 12 The Committee sent the information and document request letters using the United States Postal Service's regular mail service. While the Committee acknowledges that letters for the nonresponsive authorities may have been lost in transit or delivered to an incorrect location, investigative staff attempted to contact the nonresponsive authorities on at least one occasion. After the issuance of this report, the Committee encourages and welcomes a response from the nonresponsive authorities.

II. OVERVIEW OF PUBLIC AUTHORITIES

Public authorities are instruments of the State created only by a special act of the Legislature.¹³ New York State's first significant public authority was created in 1921 to coordinate the operations of the Port of New York and New Jersey. Public authorities have since proliferated at both the state and local level, providing essential quasi-governmental functions for the benefit of the public. Their levels of autonomy vary depending on the powers and constraints built into their statutory mandate. While some public authorities are entirely self-sufficient, others rely on State appropriations in the budget to fund operations and projects.

Authorities primarily achieve their public purpose by providing financial assistance to private corporations to stimulate economic development in a community. Most authorities can issue bonds to develop and maintain infrastructure, such as roads and schools, or to fund projects for third parties, including building hospitals and nursing homes. The debt for the bonds are typically supported by project revenues, including tolls levied by the authority, fees paid by the third party, or appropriated payments from the State to repay the outstanding debt.14 The State has also designated specific revenue streams to an authority to assist payment of debts.15

The nature of public authorities in New York is unique; authorities are neither traditional agencies nor private companies, both of which have statutory mandates to ensure transparency and accountability. To ensure public authorities act in the public

¹³ NY Const art X, § 5
14 OFFICE OF THE NEW YORK STATE COMPTROLLER, PUBLIC AUTHORITIES BY THE NUMBERS 2 (January 2017).
15 ANNUAL REPORT ON PUBLIC AUTHORITIES, *supra* note 1.

interest consistent with their intended purpose, the State adopted the Public Authorities Accountability Act (PAAA) of 2005 and the Public Authorities Reform Act (PARA) of 2009. The purpose of PAAA was to ensure openness and accountability of all public authorities and strengthen "public confidence in the financial and operating integrity of these institutions."₁₆ Despite the PAAA's intent to enhance transparency and oversight by strengthening reporting requirements, in 2009 the Public Authorities Reform Act ("PARA") was passed, designed to strengthen existing public authorities regulations by expanding the enforcement, oversight and regulation of public authorities.¹⁷

Formally established with the passage of PARA, the Authorities Budget Office (ABO) is responsible for monitoring and regulating the activities of public authorities. The mission of the ABO is to ensure public authorities act in the public interest consistent with their intended purpose. The oversight the ABO provides is crucial in shedding light and providing insight on the operations and financial activities of public authorities.

As of July 2019, there are 583 active public authorities, an increase of 298, or by 126 percent, since July 2008, when the ABO issued its first annual report.¹⁸ The current inventory of covered public authorities includes:

- 48 state authorities
- 535 local authorities
 - 109 IDAs
 - o 294 LDCs
 - o 41 urban renewal or community development agencies
 - \circ 28 water, water finance, and water and sewer authorities
 - o 9 solid waste and resource recovery authorities
 - 5 parking authorities
 - 3 airport authorities
 - o 25 land banks
 - o 21 miscellaneous authorities

¹⁶ Budget Report on Bills at 1-2, Bill Jacket, L 2005, ch 766.
¹⁷ Budget Report on Bills at 1-2, Bill Jacket, L 2009, ch 506.
¹⁸ ANNUAL REPORT ON PUBLIC AUTHORITIES, *supra* note 1.

In 2018, public authorities collectively spent approximately \$54.2 billion in operating expenses and held a total of \$282.1 billion in outstanding debt.¹⁹ *Table 1* provides the operating expenses and outstanding debt by type of authority for the 2018 fiscal year.

2018	Operating Expenses (\$)	Outstanding Debt (\$)
State Authorities	35,249.38	165,248.77
Local Authorities	17,825.46	89,797.69
IDAs	69.66	7,610.8
LDCS20	1,012.8	19,449.66
Totals	54,157.30	282,106.92

 Table 1: Authority Operating Expenses and Outstanding Debt for 2018 (\$ millions)

III. AUTHORITIES BUDGET OFFICE

The Authorities Budget Office ("ABO") was first created in unconsolidated law with the enactment of the Public Authorities Accountability Act of 2005 (PAAA). Initially established within the State Division of Budget, the ABO was created to "review and report on the compliance of public authorities with accepted standards of corporate governance, accountability and financial disclosure."²¹

With the passage of PARA in 2009, the ABO was re-established as an independent entity within the Department of State in order to improve the oversight, accountability and transparency of public authorities.22 Importantly, PARA also requires all state and local

¹⁹ ANNUAL REPORT ON PUBLIC AUTHORITIES, supra note 1, at 9, 19.

²⁰ Id. Figure for LDCs excludes Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporations (TASCs).

²¹ Budget Report on Bills at 1-2, Bill Jacket, L 2005, ch 766.

²² See Mem. In Support 5, Bill Jacket, L 2009, ch 506.

authorities to submit detailed annual, budget, financial, and other reports to the ABO for public review to ensure transparency and accountability of public authorities' activities.23

Pursuant to PAAA, the ABO's powers and duties include analyzing financial and program information to assess compliance, assisting authorities with the improvement of management practices and procedures, and producing annual reports on its findings and analysis of public authorities.²⁴ With the passage of PARA in 2009, the power and resources of the ABO significantly expanded, enabling the newly independent office to enhance its oversight of public authorities. Detailed in Public Authorities Law § 6, key expanded powers and duties of the ABO include the ability to:

- Promulgate regulations necessary to effectuate the purposes of the Act relating to the statutory responsibilities of the ABO;
- Make recommendations to the Governor and the Legislature concerning opportunities to improve the performance, reporting, reformation, structure and oversight of public authorities;
- Make recommendations to the Governor and the Legislature concerning changes in terms of office of public authorities' board members;
- Request and examine the books, records, and other documentation of any public authority;
- Initiate formal investigations in response to complaints or appearances of non-compliance with statutory requirements by an authority;
- Issue subpoenas pertaining to such investigations;
- Publicly warn and censure authorities for non-compliance with statutory requirements and establish guidelines governing such actions;
- Recommend the suspension or dismissal of officers or directors who fail to act in accordance with statutory requirements;
- Compel any non-compliant authority to submit a detailed explanation of such failure to comply; and
- Commence a special proceeding in the Supreme Court seeking an order to compel production when an authority fails to provide requested information or other documentation necessary to perform its duties.25

²³ PUB. AUTH. §§ 6(3), 2800-2802 (2019).
24 PAAA § 27, L 2005, ch 766.
25 PUB. AUTH. § 6 (2019).

Both PAAA and PARA serve as guideposts that empower the ABO to monitor and regulate public authorities. The ABO's mission is to make public authorities more accountable and transparent and to ensure they act in the public interest consistent with their intended purpose.₂₆ The ABO carries out its mission by:₂₇

- Collecting, analyzing and publicly disseminating information on the finances and operations of public authorities;
- Conducting reviews of the operating and governance practices of public authorities to assess compliance with state law;
- Promoting good governance principles through training, technical assistance, policy guidance, the issuance of recommended best practices and assistance to staff and board members; and
- Investigating complaints made against public authorities for noncompliance or inappropriate conduct.

The ABO is headed by a Director, appointed by the Governor upon the advice and consent of the State Senate.²⁸ The Director serves a fixed four-year term, and can only be removed for reasons of permanent disability, inefficiency, neglect of duty, malfeasance, a felony or conduct involving moral turpitude, or a breach of fiduciary duty.²⁹ The Senate confirmed the current Director Jeffrey Pearlman on June 19, 2017. For the 2019 fiscal year, the ABO's budget is \$2.059 million, an increase from \$1.936 million appropriated in the 2018 fiscal year.³⁰

In 2019, the Legislature amended Public Authorities Law to authorize the ABO to suspend local authority board members and executive staff for failure to submit any report requirement by Public Authorities Law § 2800 within 36 months of its due date.31 Annual

²⁶ ANNUAL REPORT ON PUBLIC AUTHORITIES, *supra* note 1, at 1.

²⁷ Id.

²⁸ PUB. AUTH. § 5 (2019).

²⁹ Id.

³⁰ S1500-D, 2019-2020 Sen. (Ny. 2019), S7500-D 2018-2019 Sen. (Ny. 2019).

³¹ S1872, 2019-2020 Sen. (Ny. 2019).

reports are due 90 days after the end of an authority's fiscal year. Prior to this amendment, the ABO was only permitted to make recommendations of suspension and issue a public censure. The lack of a sufficient enforcement mechanism previously allowed authorities to ignore the reporting requirement with impunity. This amendment closes a gap in the ABO's enforcement powers, holding non-compliant individuals accountable for long-term violations. This amendment took effect on November 20, 2019.32

The mechanisms by which the ABO ensures public authorities comply with statutory requirements are essential to protecting public authorities' duties of transparency and accountability to the public. No other office in the United States has a similar centralized mission that includes oversight of such a diverse system of state and local authorities.33

Since 2007, the ABO has issued 13 annual reports on all public authorities, 68 special reviews of individual authorities, and 5 general reports on authority practices. All ABO reports and authority reviews are available to the public on their website.

IV. STATE AUTHORITIES

State authorities include public authorities or public benefit corporations created in state law, with one or more of its members appointed by the Governor or who serve as members by virtue of their elected or appointed position.³⁴ As of July 2019, there are 48 active state authorities in New York. Examples of active state authorities include the Capital District Transportation Authority, the New York State Bridge Authority, and the

³³ ANNUAL REPORT ON PUBLIC AUTHORITIES, *supra* note 1, at 1.

³⁴ PUB. AUTH. § 2(1) (2019).

Metropolitan Transportation Authority. Exhibit B provides the full list of active state authorities.

State authorities are responsible for critically important functions in numerous areas including transportation, energy, environmental protection, housing, and economic development.³⁵ Their finances and operations are often closely intertwined with those of the State itself, resulting in heightened concerns because state public authorities are not subject to the same statutory oversight, accountability and transparency mandates that apply to State agencies.³⁶

Pursuant to New York State Public Authorities Law, state authorities are required to submit certain operational and financial information to the ABO annually for review. Section VIII of this report provides a comprehensive discussion of public authorities reporting requirements. State authorities are also subject to reporting and accounting requirements by the State Comptrollers' Office.³⁷ Pursuant to 2 NYCRR 201.2, state authorities are required to submit its annual report, financial statements, report on internal controls, report on procurement contracts, investment reports and a copy of its annual independent audit of investments.³⁸ Additionally, the State Comptroller has the discretion to review and approve state authority contacts.³⁹

The New York State Public Authorities Control Board (PACB) has the responsibility of approving applications for the financing and construction of any project proposed by 14 delineated state authorities and their subsidiaries, including, for example,

³⁵ OFFICE OF THE NEW YORK STATE COMPTROLLER, PUBLIC AUTHORITIES BY THE NUMBERS 1 (January 2017).
36 *Id.*37 2 NYCRR 201.2 (2019)
38 *Id.* List is not exhaustive.
39 2 NYCRR 201-206 (2019)

the Dormitory Authority, the Long Island Power Authority, and the State Job Development Authority.⁴⁰ The PACB consists of five members appointed by the Governor, four of which are based upon recommendations of leaders in the Legislature.⁴¹ Without prior approval, the state authorities cannot make a commitment, enter into an agreement, or incur any debt for the purpose of acquiring, constructing, or financing any project.⁴² Only three of the five PACB members vote on the approval or rejection of a project.⁴³ The two members appointed upon the recommendations of the minority leaders of the Senate and the Assembly are non-voting members.⁴⁴ Each voting member has veto authority; the PACB must come to unanimous agreement on approving project financing.⁴⁵ During the 2019-2020 Legislative Session, Public Authorities Law was amended to require that a member of the PACB vote within the scope of his or her legal authority; failure to vote within the scope of legal authority constitutes a violation of the public's trust. As the appointing authority, the Governor has the discretion to remove a PACB member "he or she finds to be acting, or threatening to act, beyond the scope of such member's legal authority."⁴⁶

A. STATE AUTHORITIES SPENDING

State authorities operating expenses for 2018 were \$35.2 billion, an increase of 15.6 percent between 2014 and 2018.47 The Housing Trust Fund Corporation, which increased

⁴⁰ PUB. AUTH. § 51 (2019).
41 PUB. AUTH. § 50(2) (2019).
42 PUB. AUTH. § 51 (2019).
43 PUB. AUTH. § 50(2) (2019).
44 *Id.*45 *Id.*46 PUB. AUTH. § 51 (2019).
47 ANNUAL REPORT ON PUBLIC AUTHORITIES, *supra* note 1, at 9.

its operating expenses by \$2.8 billion during that period, is responsible for the majority of the increase.₄₈ The Metropolitan Transportation Authority (MTA) also reported a \$993 million increase from 2014 to 2018.₄₉ A complete list of state authorities operating expenditures from 2014 to 2018 is included as Exhibit C.₅₀

B. STATE AUTHORITIES DEBT

In 2018, state authorities reported \$165.2 billion in outstanding debt, a 6 percent increase since 2014.51 State authorities' debt represents nearly 60 percent of the total debt reported by all public authorities in 2018.52 A complete list of state authorities' outstanding debt from 2014 to 2018 is included as Exhibit D.53 *Table 2* illustrates the total outstanding debt for state authorities.

2018	Outstanding Debt (\$)	Percent of Total (%)
State Debt	49.0	29.7
Authority Purposes Debt	69.7	42.2
Conduit Debt	46.5	28.1
Total Debt	165.2	100

Table 2: State Authorities' Outstanding Debt for 2018 by Type of Debt (\$ millions)

State debt includes debt issued at the direction of the State or backed by its moral obligation or direct appropriations.⁵⁴ Non-State funds include debt issued by state

48 *Id.* at 9.

49 *Id*.

50 Exhibit is provided courtesy of the ABO in its 2019 Annual Report.

51 ANNUAL REPORT ON PUBLIC AUTHORITIES, *supra* note 1, at 19.

52 Id.

53 Exhibit is provided courtesy of the ABO in its 2019 Annual Report.

54 ANNUAL REPORT ON PUBLIC AUTHORITIES, *supra* note 1, at 19.

authorities to finance its capital needs and purposes, and retired using the authorities' own revenue streams.55 Conduit debt includes debt issued by state authorities on behalf of third parties.56

State authorities' outstanding debt has continued to increase since 2014.57 While most state authorities have reported a decrease in debt, six state authorities have reported increases of 40 percent or more compared to 2014, with a combined debt of \$32.1 billion in 2018 compared to \$22.1 billion reported in 2014.58 *Table 3* below illustrates the debt growth those six state authorities have reported since 2014.59

Table 5: Su	ue aumoriue	s wun aebi gi	owin oj 40 p	ercent or mol	re 2014 (\$ mil	
Authority	2014 (\$)	2015 (\$)	2016(\$)	2017(\$)	2018(\$)	Growth 2014-18 (%)
Erie County Medical Center	173.13	175.53	173.65	272.51	257.33	48.6
New York Job Development Authority	6,939.30	6,436.63	6,595.92	10,068.65	10,007.06	44.2
NYS Housing Finance Agency	12,661.28	13,644.43	15,446.38	16,780.29	17,733.68	40.1
Ogdensburg Bridge and Port Authority	4.13	3.38	2.59	2.07	10.97	166.0
Utility Debt Securitization Authority	1,932.32	2,919.44	3,965.53	4,262.40	4,139.59	114.2
Westchester County Health Care Corporation	446.63	460.71	682.84	670.27	657.06	47.1
Total (\$)	22,156.79	23,640.12	26,866.91	32,056.19	32,805.69	-

 Table 3: State authorities with debt growth of 40 percent or more 2014 (\$ millions)

55 Id.

56 *Id*.

57 Id. at 19.

58 Id.

59 Id. at 22.

V. LOCAL AUTHORITIES

Local authorities, similar to state authorities, are incorporated to provide essential services to the communities they serve, including creating and maintaining infrastructure, revitalizing communities, improving jobs and opportunities, and stimulating economic growth. As of July 2019, there are 535 active local authorities in New York State.

According to Public Authorities Law § 2(2) local authorities include:60

- A public authority or public benefit corporation created by the State whose members do not hold a civil office, or are *only* appointed by the governor specifically upon the recommendation of the local government(s);
- Not-for-profit corporations affiliated with, sponsored by, or created by a county, city, town or village government;
- A local industrial development agency or authority or local public benefit corporation;
- An affiliate of such local authority; or
- A land bank corporation created pursuant to Article 16 of Not-For-Profit Corporation Law.

For the purposes of reviewing and analyzing compliance with statutory requirements, the ABO separates IDAs and LDCs from other types of local authorities; this report adheres to the ABO's distinction of the three categories of public authorities, thus the financial data of local authorities in this section excludes data from IDAs and LDCs. Nevertheless, *all* local authorities defined in Public Authorities Law § 2(2) are required to annually submit certain operational and financial information to the ABO for review. Section VIII of this report provides a comprehensive discussion of public authorities reporting requirements.

60 PUB. AUTH. § 2(2)(a)-(e) (2019).

A. LOCAL AUTHORITIES SPENDING

In 2018, local authorities reported \$17.8 billion in operating expenses, a 16 percent increase from 2014.₆₁ The increase is mainly due to the New York City Health and Hospitals Corporation increasing its expenses by \$2.1 billion over that period.₆₂ Importantly, this overall increase is likely higher because 24 of 102 local authorities did not file their reports with the ABO prior to the issuance of the ABO's 2019 annual report.₆₃ A complete list of local authorities operating expenditures from 2014 to 2018 is included as Exhibit E.₆₄

B. LOCAL AUTHORITIES DEBT

Local authorities reported a total of \$89.8 billion in outstanding debt for 2018, a 19 percent increase compared to 2014.65 Of the total debt, debt issued to finance the purposes of the local authority comprised 84.6 percent, state backed debt 8.9 percent, and conduit debt 6.5 percent.66 A complete list of local authorities' outstanding debt from 2014 to 2018 is included as Exhibit F.67 *Table 4* illustrates the total outstanding debt for local authorities.

2018	Outstanding Debt (\$)	Percent of Total (%)
State Debt	7.94	8.9
Authority Purposes Debt	76.04	84.7
Conduit Debt	5.8	6.4
Total Debt	89.8	100

Table 4: State Authorities' Outstanding Debt for 2018 by Type of Debt (\$ millions)

61 *Id.* at 9.

62 *Id*.

63 *Id*. at 9.

64 Exhibit is provided courtesy of the ABO in its 2019 Annual Report.

65 ANNUAL REPORT ON PUBLIC AUTHORITIES, *supra* note 1, at 19.

66 *Id*.

67 Exhibit is provided courtesy of the ABO in its 2019 Annual Report.

VI. INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITIES

IDAs are established by the State at the request of a particular municipality county, city, town, village or Indian reservation—for the benefit of such municipality.68 Following the passage of a special act of the Legislature, the local municipality must submit to the Secretary of State a certificate setting forth the date of passage, the agency name, names of members and terms of office, and facts establishing the need for the IDA.69

As of July 2019, 109 IDAs are active in New York State. Every county has authorized the formation of an IDA – a single IDA serves Warren and Washington counties and a single IDA serves the five counties that comprise New York City.70 An additional 52 IDAs exist at the sub-county level.71 Exhibit G provides the number of IDAs located in each New York State county.72

A. INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY STATUTORY MANDATE

In addition to the statutory mandates set forth for local authorities in Public Authorities Law, IDAs are primarily governed by the New York State Industrial Development Act, codified as Title One of Article 18-A of the New York General Municipal Law.⁷³ General Municipal Law permits IDAs to undertake projects relating to: industrial, manufacturing, warehousing, commercial, research, recreational facilities,

71 *Id*.

⁶⁸ GENERAL MUNICIPAL LAW §§ 854, 856 (2019).

⁶⁹ GENERAL MUNICIPAL LAW § 856 (2019).

⁷⁰ ANNUAL REPORT ON PUBLIC AUTHORITIES, *supra* note 1, at 48.

⁷² Authorities Budget Office response to Investigations and Government Operations Committee (Oct. 30, 2019).

⁷³ GENERAL MUNICIPAL LAW §§ 850-88 (2019).

industrial pollution control facilities, educational or cultural facilities, and civic facilities.⁷⁴ An IDA can initiate a project on its own behalf or provide financial assistance to a third party to undertake the project.

IDAs are authorized to offer financial incentives to attract, retain, and expand businesses to improve economic conditions in their respective locales.⁷⁵ Types of financial assistance include issuing the proceeds of bonds, straight-leases, or tax exemptions.⁷⁶ A straight-lease transaction is a project in which an IDA takes ownership or control of the property or equipment of a project, entitling such property or equipment to be exempt from taxation, but the project occupant does not receive proceeds of bonds.⁷⁷ IDAs can also operate a revolving loan fund, whereby it provides loans for projects in which the IDA will not take a traditional ownership interest.

Since IDAs act for the public benefit, they are exempt from paying taxes or assessments on any property acquired or under its jurisdiction, control or supervision.⁷⁸ Bonds, notes, income and property of the IDA are exempt from taxation, except for transfer and estate taxes.⁷⁹

Pursuant to General Municipal Law § 874(1) and Real Property Tax Law § 412-a, real property owned or leased by an Agency is exempt from certain real property taxes.⁸⁰ The tax exemption lasts until the IDA terminates its ownership or leasehold interest of its property.

⁷⁴ GENERAL MUNICIPAL LAW § 858 (2019). List is not exhaustive.

⁷⁵ N.Y. AUTHORITIES BUDGET OFFICE, OPERATIONAL REVIEW: IDA SALES AND USE TAX Exemptions (2009).

⁷⁶ GENERAL MUNICIPAL LAW § 854 (2019).

⁷⁷ Id.

⁷⁸ GENERAL MUNICIPAL LAW § 874 (2019).

⁷⁹ Id.

⁸⁰ The IDA must file a form with the local assessor claiming such exemption.

Each IDA is required to adopt a "uniform tax exemption policy" to provide guidelines for the claiming of real property, mortgage recording, and sales tax exemptions.⁸¹ Among other requirements, the guidelines must include procedures for payments in lieu of taxes (PILOTs) as well as for deviations from the uniform tax exemption policy.⁸²

General Municipal Law § 858(15) permits IDAs to enter into agreements with businesses for payments in lieu of taxes (PILOTs). PILOT agreements essentially fix a beneficiary's tax liability to a specified amount over a certain time period. An IDA must remit any PILOT payments it receives to each affected tax jurisdiction within 30 days of receipt.83 Affected tax jurisdictions include any municipality or school district that will fail to receive real property tax payments because of the agreement.84 Unless otherwise agreed upon, the PILOT payments must be allocated among affected tax jurisdictions in proportion to the amount of taxes which would have been received had the project not been tax exempt.85

Purchases by an IDA are also exempt from state and local sales and use taxes.⁸⁶ IDAs can designate the project beneficiary as an "agent" of the IDA to conduct the project, thereby passing the exemption through to the project beneficiary.⁸⁷

Prior to providing any financial assistance of more than \$100,000 to any project, the beneficiary must meet certain prerequisites. The project must serve a public purpose,

⁸¹ GENERAL MUNICIPAL LAW § 874 (2019).

⁸² Id.

⁸³ GENERAL MUNICIPAL LAW § 874(3) (2019).

⁸⁴ GENERAL MUNICIPAL LAW § 854(16) (2019).

⁸⁵ GENERAL MUNICIPAL LAW § 858(15) (2019).

⁸⁶ GENERAL MUNICIPAL LAW § 874(1) (2019).

⁸⁷ GENERAL MUNICIPAL LAW § 874(1), (9) (2019).

by preserving or creating permanent, private sector employment.88 The IDA must adopt a resolution describing the project and the financial assistance contemplated.89 Any financial assistance must be consistent with the IDA's adopted uniform tax exemption policy.90 The IDA must hold and give 10 days' published notice of a public hearing regarding the proposed project and financial assistance.91 All IDAs must develop and adopt a standard application form to accept all requests for financial assistance.92 Each IDA must develop and adopt uniform criteria for the evaluation and selection for each category of projects.93 IDAs must develop a uniform agency project agreement that sets forth the terms and conditions under which financial assistance can be provided.94

B. INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY SPENDING

In 2018, IDAs reported \$69.7 million in operating expenses, a 16 percent increase from 2014. Notable increases in expenses during this period include the Syracuse IDA increasing by \$5.4 million (109.9 percent), the Chautauqua IDA increasing by \$3.4 million (573.2 percent), the Genesee County IDA increasing by \$3.4 million (255.4 percent), and the Franklin County IDA increasing by \$2.5 million (625.6 percent).95 A complete list of IDAs operating expenditures from 2014 to 2018 is included as Exhibit H.96

⁸⁸ GENERAL MUNICIPAL LAW § 862(c) (2019).

⁸⁹ GENERAL MUNICIPAL LAW § 859-a(1) (2019).

⁹⁰ Id.

⁹¹ GENERAL MUNICIPAL LAW § 859-a(2)(3) (2019).

⁹² GENERAL MUNICIPAL LAW § 859-a(4) (2019).

⁹³ GENERAL MUNICIPAL LAW § 859-a(5) (2019).

⁹⁴ GENERAL MUNICIPAL LAW § 859-a(6) (2019).

⁹⁵ ANNUAL REPORT ON PUBLIC AUTHORITIES, *supra* note 1, at 9.

⁹⁶ Exhibit is provided courtesy of the ABO in its 2019 Annual Report.

C. INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY DEBT

In 2018, IDAs reported \$7.6 billion in outstanding debt, a 44 percent decrease compared with 2014.97 Conduit debt comprises the majority of the debt at \$7.4 billion, or 97 percent. The remaining \$229.2 million, or 3 percent, is debt issued for authority purposes. A complete list of IDAs outstanding debt from 2014 to 2018 is included as Exhibit I.98

D. INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE

In 2018, 97 IDAs reported distributing tax exemptions totaling \$1,413,999,483.99 Table 3 provides a breakdown by type of tax exemption issued for 2018. Compared with 2017, the total reported tax exemptions issued by IDAs in 2018 increased by 1.5 percent.100

Table 3: Type of IDA Tax Exemptions for the 2018 Fiscal Year (\$)

Type of Exemption	State Sales Tax	Local Sales Tax	County Property Tax	Local Property Tax	School Property Tax	Mortgage Recording Tax	Total
Amount Issued	84,239,001	76,442,394	166,654,367	506,035,862	554,004,192	26,623,668	1,413,999,483

The IDAs that issued the most amount of tax exemptions in 2018 include the New

York City IDA, Nassau County IDA, Hempstead IDA, Yonkers IDA, and Rensselaer

97 ANNUAL REPORT ON PUBLIC AUTHORITIES, *supra* note 1, at 19.
98 Exhibit is provided courtesy of the ABO in its 2019 Annual Report.
99 Authorities Budget Office response to Investigations and Government Operations Committee (Oct. 30, 2019).
100 *Id.*

County IDA. *Table 4* illustrates the amount and type of tax exemptions those IDAs issued during the 2018 fiscal year.¹⁰¹

Authority	State Sales Tax	Local Sales Tax	County Property Tax	Local Property Tax	School Property Tax	Mortgage Recording Tax	Total Exemptions
New York City IDA	5,851,318	6,017,487	0	308,777,642	0	11,069,254	331,715,701
Nassau County IDA	2,357,255	2,723,035	18,987,985	26,694,716	70,633,398	1,667,990	123,064,380
Hempstead IDA	706,551	816,951	19,199,260	6,382,508	47,255,160	373,230	74,733,660
Yonkers IDA	3,202,492	3,903,038	6,783,322	15,939,768	29,427,780	87,968	59,344,368
Rensselaer County IDA	6,299,102	6,299,102	7,585,824	11,690,296	19,811,161	233,700	51,919,184
Total	18,416,718	19,759,613	52,556,391	369,484,930	167,127,499	13,432,142	640,777,293

 Table 4: Top IDA Tax Exemptions Issued for the 2018 Fiscal Year (\$)

VII. LOCAL DEVELOPMENT CORPORATIONS

"Local Development Corporation" or "LDC" is a generic term used by the ABO to include not-for-profit corporations that meet the definition of a local authority pursuant to Section 2 of Public Authorities Law.¹⁰² Unlike other public authorities, LDCs are incorporated through the filing of certificates with the Department of State. Excluding Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporations (TSACs), there are 256 active LDCs in New York State. Exhibit J provides the number of LDCs located in each New York State county.¹⁰³

¹⁰¹ Authorities Budget Office response to Investigations and Government Operations Committee (Oct. 30, 2019).
¹⁰² ANNUAL REPORT ON PUBLIC AUTHORITIES, *supra* note 1, at 9.
¹⁰³ Authorities Budget Office response to Investigations and Government Operations Committee (Oct. 30, 2019).

A. LOCAL DEVELOPMENT CORPORATIONS STATUTORY MANDATE

Pursuant to Public Authorities Law § 2(2)(b), local authorities include not-forprofit corporation affiliated with, sponsored by, or created by a county, city, town or village government. The most common type of not-for-profit that meets this definition is a LDC, formed pursuant to Section 1411 of New York State Not-for-Profit Corporation Law.¹⁰⁴ LDCs include those corporations created for lawful business purposes that achieve a public or quasi-public objective.¹⁰⁵ Their certificates of incorporation often describe their mission as reducing unemployment, promoting employment, improving job opportunities, lessening the burdens of government or expanding existing industry in the local community.¹⁰⁶ LDCs also include land banks established pursuant to Article 16 of Not-for-Profit Corporation Law.

LDCs have the power to construct and improve industrial or manufacturing plants for the use of others, issue grants and loans, borrow money, acquire real property from a municipality below market value, enter into contracts, and provide certain tax exemptions in support of its corporate purposes.¹⁰⁷

Since LDCs qualify as local authorities under Public Authorities Law, they are subject to the reporting requirements of PAAA and PARA; Section VIII of this report provides a comprehensive discussion of public authorities reporting requirements.

B. LOCAL DEVELOPMENT CORPORATIONS SPENDING

In 2018, LDCs reported \$1 billion in operating expenses, a minor increase of 0.04 percent from 2014 to 2018.108 The New York City Economic Development Corporation (\$794.6 million), the Brooklyn Navy Yard (\$66.8 million), and the Governor Island Corporation (\$41.8 million) comprise 84.7 percent of the reported operating expenses for 2018.109 A complete list of LDCs operating expenditures from 2014 to 2018 is included as Exhibit K.110

C. LOCAL DEVELOPMENT CORPORATIONS DEBT

LDCs are commonly used as tools to alleviate municipal budget pressures by assuming municipal debt or providing cash infusions to balance budgets.111 In 2018, LDCs reported \$20 billion in outstanding debt.112 *Table 5*, on the following page, provides LDC debt from 2015 to 2018.113

108 ANNUAL REPORT ON PUBLIC AUTHORITIES, *supra* note 1, at 10. Figure excludes Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporations (TASCs).
109 *Id.* at 10.
110 Exhibit is provided courtesy of the ABO in its 2019 Annual Report.
111 ANNUAL REPORT ON PUBLIC AUTHORITIES, *supra* note 1, at 57.
112 Authorities Budget Office response to Investigations and Government Operations Committee (Oct. 30, 2019).
113 *Id.*

LDC Debt (\$)							
Fiscal Year	Authority Debt	Conduit Debt	Other-State Funded	Grand total			
2015	9,011,704,336.81	9,281,098,330.31	26,787,128.00	18,319,589,795.12			
2016	8,807,838,039.85	11,394,565,801.67	12,753,496.00	20,215,157,337.52			
2017	8,422,923,863.19	11,733,780,908.84	12,483,496.00	20,169,188,268.03			
2018	8,051,431,543.91	11,922,576,726.76	12,153,496.00	19,986,161,766.67			
Change from 2015 to 2018 (%)	-10.7	+28.5	-54.6	+9.1			

Table 5: Type of LDC Debt from 2015 to 2018

Build NYC Resource Corporation is the biggest contributor to outstanding debt reported in 2018, rising from \$1.1 billion in 2014 to \$2.9 billion in 2018.114 *Table 6* provides the LDCs with the most outstanding debt reported in 2018.115

 Table 6: Top LDC Debt for 2018

	Type of Debt (\$)					
Authority	Authority Debt	Conduit Debt	Total			
Build NYC Resource Corporation	-	2,995,456,575.99	2,995,456,575.99			
Hudson Yards Infrastructure Corporation	2,723,870,000.00	-	2,723,870,000.00			
Monroe County Industrial Development Corporation	-	1,860,548,384.77	1,860,548,384.77			
Dutchess County Local Development Corporation	-	1,031,001,803.00	1,031,001,803.00			
Town of Hempstead Local Development Corporation	-	522,355,000.00	522,355,000.00			
Total	2,723,870,000.00	6,409,361,763.76	9,133,231,763.76			

114 ANNUAL REPORT ON PUBLIC AUTHORITIES, *supra* note 1, at 26.

115 Authorities Budget Office response to Investigations and Government Operations Committee (Oct. 30, 2019).

D. LOCAL DEVELOPMENT CORPORATIONS FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE

Pursuant to Non-for-Profit Corporation Law § 1411, in furtherance of its authority purposes, LDCs may issue financial assistance in the form of loans, bonds, grants and other negotiable obligations.

i. LDC LOANS

LDCs reported issuing \$57.4 million in loans during the 2018 fiscal year, a 142.2 percent increase compared with 2017.116 *Table 7* below provides the total amount of loans issued by LDCs from 2015 to 2018. The Buffalo Urban Development Corporation issued the largest single loan reported, \$9.7 million to the development project at Northland Avenue, which will be the location of the Western New York Workforce Training Center.117 In 2018, 66 LDCs reported to the ABO a cumulative loan debt of \$210.8 million.118

Year	2015	2016	2017	2018
Amount of Loans Issued (\$)	43,927,267	44,051,337	33,958,406	57,433,820
Number of Issuing LDCs	Number of Issuing46		42	46

Table 7: LDC Loans Issued from 2015-2018

¹¹⁶ Authorities Budget Office response to Investigations and Government Operations Committee (Oct. 30, 2019).

¹¹⁷ *Id.* at 57.

¹¹⁸ ANNUAL REPORT ON PUBLIC AUTHORITIES, *supra* note 1, at 57.

Five LDCs issued 79 percent of the total loans for 2018. *Table 8* provides the loans issued for those LDCs during the 2018 fiscal year.¹¹⁹

Authority	2017 (\$)	2018 (\$)	Change (%)	Percent of Total (%)
NYC Neighborhood Capital Corporation	1,384,553	23,520,000	+1598.7	40.95
NYC Energy Efficiency Corporation	3,236,335	10,469,085	+223.5	18.23
Buffalo and Erie County Regional Development Corporation	3,267,500	5,133,500	+57.1	8.94
New York City Economic Development Corporation	8,500,000	3,931,890	-53.7	6.85
Albany County Business Development Corporation	2,261,800	2,120,813	-6.2	3.69
Total	18,650,188	45,175,288	+142.2	78.6

Table 8: Top LDCs Loans Issued for 2018

ii. LDC BONDS

In 2018, LDCs issued bonds totaling almost \$959 million, a 72 percent decrease since 2017.120 *Table 9* illustrates the LDCs with the largest bonds issued in 2015 to 2018. Currently, LDCs have cumulatively \$15.6 billion in outstanding bond debt.121

¹¹⁹ Authorities Budget Office response to Investigations and Government Operations Committee (Oct. 30, 2019).

¹²⁰ Authorities Budget Office response to Investigations and Government Operations Committee (Oct. 30, 2019).

121 ANNUAL REPORT ON PUBLIC AUTHORITIES, *supra* note 1, at 57.

Authority	2015 (\$)	2016 (\$)	2017 (\$)	2018 (\$)	Total (\$)	Change from First Reported Year (%)
Build NYC Resource Corporation	711,076,000	912,902,300	421,845,000	234,461,000	2,280,284,300	-67
Niagara Area Development Corporation	-	11,520,000	9,700,000	165,010,000	186,230,000	+1332.4
Jefferson County Civic Facility Development Corporation	-	11,000,000	-	93,170,000	104,170,000	+747
Dutchess County Local Development Corporation	105,885,000	79,015,237	464,507,459	84,010,000	733,417,696	-20.7
Otsego County Capital Resource Corporation	63,458,000	-	10,500,000	72,550,000	146,508,000	+14.3

Table 9: Top LDC Bonds Issued 2015-2018

iii. LDC GRANTS

In 2018, 31 LDCs reported issuing \$55.5 million in grants, a 92 percent decrease compared to total amount issued in 2015. *Table 10* shows the total amount of grants issued by LDCs from 2015 to 2018.122

Year	2015	2016	2017	2018
Total	711,640,459	19,550,078	274,539,151	55,468,956

122 Authorities Budget Office response to Investigations and Government Operations Committee (Oct. 30, 2019).

VIII. STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS OF AUTHORITIES

While public authorities perform important quasi-governmental functions for the benefit of the people of New York, lack of transparency and effective regulations may allow waste and abuse to occur, undermining the public trust. Statutory mandates requiring transparency of their activities is essential in holding public authorities accountable. However, the nature of public authorities is unique; as independent entities created in statute, public authorities are not subject to the many laws that regulate traditional agencies or private companies. To ensure public authorities and their members are acting in the public interest, the State has enacted several statutory mandates to assist with regulating their activities. Public authorities are subject to numerous areas of New York State law, including Public Authorities Law and Public Officers Law, which promote transparency and accountability.

A. REPORTING REQUIREMENTS

Pursuant to Public Authorities Law §§ 2800-2806, state and local authorities are required to submit to the ABO and other government entities detailed annual, budget, independent audit reports as well as other important operational and financial information. The information required is reported in an online application developed and maintained jointly by the Office of the State Comptroller and the ABO, known as the Public Authorities Reporting Information System (PARIS).

Section 2800 of Public Authorities Law requires public authorities to certify and submit an annual report and audit report within 90 days of the end of the fiscal year.123 The

annual report must include the authority's operations and accomplishments; financial reports including audited financials; a schedule of outstanding bonds and notes, projects undertaken by the authority; a listing of materials changes; an assessment of internal controls; and, at a minimum, a four-year financial plan.124 Section 2801 requires state authorities to submit a budget report 90 days prior to the start of the fiscal year; local authorities must file a budget report 60 days prior to the start of the fiscal year.125 Furthermore, the State Comptroller is required to examine the books and accounts of every authority at least once every five years.126

Every financial report submitted pursuant to Public Authorities Law § 2800 must be approved by the authority's board and certified in writing by the CEO and CFO. The certification ensures that, based on the officer's knowledge, the information provided is (a) accurate, correct and does not contain any untrue statement of material fact, (b) does not omit any material fact which would cause the financial statements to be misleading, and (c) fairly presents the financial condition and results of operations of the authority.127

The ABO has the authority to "publicly warn and censure authorities for noncompliance" and as noted earlier in the report, while the ABO can suspend authority staff in certain instances, the ABO cannot dismiss, but only recommend the "dismissal of officers or directors, based on information that is [] available to the public under law."¹²⁸ The ABO periodically issues a report on the public authorities that are non-compliant with reporting requirements, which constitutes an official warning to those authorities on its

¹²⁴ *Id.* List provided is not exhaustive.
125 PUB. AUTH. § 2801 (2019).
126 PUB. AUTH. § 2803 (2019).
127 PUB. AUTH. § 2800(3) (2019).
128 PUB. AUTH. §§ 6(2)(f), (2)(g) (2019).

delinquent list. As of June 30, 2019, 137 public authorities failed to submit its annual report, audit report, and/or budget report for the previous fiscal year.¹²⁹ One state authority, Nassau Health Care Corporation, failed to submit all three reports.¹³⁰ The delinquent list also includes 30 local authorities, 12 IDAs, and 94 LDCs.¹³¹ The ABO's most recent delinquent authorities list is attached as Exhibit L.

Notably, as the investigation progressed, the investigative team witnessed marked improvements in the activities of several of the previously non-compliant public authorities. Numerous public authorities recognized deficiencies in their public disclosure and informed the Committee they were making strides towards improving their websites and the information publicly accessible on their site.

B. PUBLIC DISCLOSURE

Public authorities law requires each state and local authority to make accessible to the public, via its official or shared website, "its mission, current activities, most recent annual financial reports, current year budget and its most recent independent audit report."¹³² In addition, the ABO issued regulation, 19 NYCRR 250 that requires IDAs to post certain project information on their websites.

In light of the importance of public disclosure and transparent reporting of public authority financial and operational information, investigative staff performed a website

¹²⁹ PUBLIC AUTHORITIES THAT HAVE FAILED TO FILE REPORTS IN THE PUBLIC AUTHORITIES REPORTING INFORMATION SYSTEM AS OF JUNE 20, 2019, AUTHORITIES BUDGET OFFICE (June 30, 2019).
¹³⁰ *Id.*¹³¹ *Id.*¹³² PUB. AUTH. § 2800(b) (2019).

compliance check of 50 randomly selected IDAs. *Table 11* below provides the cumulative results of the compliance review. Exhibit M includes the detailed compliance information for all 50 IDAs selected.

# of Authorities	Mission Statement	Enabling Statute	By-Laws	Code of Ethics	Operations & Accomplishments Report
Yes	43	28	48	49	27
No	7	22	2	1	23
# of Authorities	List of Board Members	Committees & Members	Executive Management Team	Board Meeting Schedule	Board Meeting Notices
Yes	47	43	42	38	29
No	3	7	8	12	21
# of Authorities	Board Meeting Agendas	Board Meeting Minutes	Annual Budget Report (2019)	Audited Financial Statement	List of Active Projects
Yes	37	49	42	45	29
No	13	1	8	5	21
# of Authorities	Applications for Active Projects	Resolutions for Active Projects	Project Agreements for Active Projects	Uniform Tax Exemption Policy	Uniform Evaluation Criteria Policy
Yes	20	20	18	45	14
No	30	30	32	5	36

Table 11: Public Disclosure Compliance Review

As noted, Public Authorities Law § 2800(b), as well as ABO regulations, require public authorities to make publicly accessible on their website certain operational and financial information. The results of the compliance review conducted by investigative staff illustrates insufficient compliance among IDAs.

C. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

Various sections of New York State law require public authority board members and employees to examine and report conflicts of interest issues that may arise at their respective authority. Section 74 of Public Officers Law prohibits officers and employees of state authorities from having a direct or indirect interest or engage in business or activities that may conflict with their proper discharge of duties.133 Section 2824(7) of Public Authorities Law requires all public authorities to establish a governance committee responsible for examining ethical and conflict of interest issues.134 Executive Law § 55 requires board members and officers of state authorities to report to the state inspector general any information concerning undisclosed conflicts of interest by another board member or employee relating to the activities of the authority.135 Not-for-Profit Corporation Law requires not-for-profit entities, including LDCs, to adopt a conflict of interest policy.136 Additionally, the ABO issued a Recommended Governance Practice for conflicts of interest, encouraging all public authorities to adopt a written conflict of interest policy to ensure its board members and employees act in the authority's best interest if such a situation were to arise.137

A conflict of interest occurs when the financial, familial, or personal interests of a public authority board member or employee comes into actual or perceived conflict with their responsibilities to the authority.138 The purpose of such a policy is to protect the

¹³³ PUB. OFFICERS LAW § 74 (2019).
134 PUB. AUTH. § 2824(7) (2019).
135 EXEC. LAW § 55(1) (2019).
136 NOT-FOR-PROFIT CORP. LAW § 715(a) (2019).
137 AUTHORITIES BUDGET OFFICE, CONFLICT OF INTEREST POLICY FOR PUBLIC AUTHORITIES (2019).
138 *Id.*

authority's interest when it is contemplating entering into a transaction or agreement that may potentially benefit the private interest of a board member or employee.¹³⁹ Instituting a conflict of interest policy is important in assuring that the public authority's interest prevails over the personal interest of the board member or employee, and therefore assuring the public authority's responsibility to the public benefit.

Of the 143 authorities investigated by the Committee, 35 reported a board member or employee having at least one conflict of interest since January 1, 2016. In total, the 35 authorities reported 199 conflicts of interest. *Table 12* provides the number of conflicts of interest reported by type of public authority.

Type of Authority	Number of Authorities Reporting	Number of Conflicts of Interests Reported	
State	1	2	
Local	5	23	
IDA	28	169	
LDC	1	5	
Total	35	199	

Table 12: Reported Conflicts of Interest by Type of Authority Since January 1, 2016.

The following 22 authorities failed to explicitly disclose to the Committee whether

(or not) a board member of employee reported a conflict of interest since January 1, 2016.

- Buffalo Water Board;
- Cattaraugus County Industrial Development Agency;
- Chenango Industrial Development Agency;
- City of Rensselaer Industrial Development Agency;
- Cohoes Industrial Development Authority;
- Corinth Industrial Development Agency;
- Franklin County Industrial Development Agency;
- Islip Industrial Development Agency;
- Madison County Industrial Development Agency;
- Montgomery County Industrial Development Agency;
- Mount Pleasant Industrial Development Agency;
- New York State Bridge Authority;
- New York State Energy Research and Development Authority;
- Niagara Frontier Transportation Authority;
- Otsego County Development Corporation
- Power Authority of the State of New York;
- Southern Tier Economic Growth, Inc.;
- Suffolk County Industrial Development Agency;
- Town of Riverhead Community Development Agency;
- Village of Spring Valley Urban Renewal Agency;
- Westchester County Industrial Development Agency; and
- Yonkers Industrial Development Agency.

Implementing and enforcing a substantive conflict of interest policy is essential to ensuring public authorities' board members and employees are acting ethically and in the best interest of the community they serve. Importantly, only 20 of the 50 IDAs selected for the public disclosure compliance review have publicly accessible conflicts of interest policies on their website. The Committee strongly encourages all public authorities to evaluate their conflict of interest policies, immediately adopt any substantive modifications, and subsequently publicly post its policies on its website. Exhibit M provides a list of the 50 authorities reviewed for public disclosure, including a publicly accessible conflicts of interest policy.

D. WHISTLEBLOWER ACCESS AND ASSISTANCE

Public Authorities Law § 2986 requires the ABO, in consultation with the Office of the Attorney General, to develop a whistleblower access and assistance program for state and local authorities. The program is designed to provide "board members, officers, and staff of public authorities with a confidential means to report credible allegations of misconduct, wrongdoing, or unethical behavior and to protect those individuals, when acting in good faith, from personal or professional retaliation."140 State and local authorities are required to adopt and adhere to the ABO's whistleblower protection policy and procedures.141 Of the 143 authorities investigated, 130 had publicly accessible whistleblower policies and procedures on their website. However, 3 of the 130 authorities whistleblower policies were buried within their code of ethics or miscellaneous policies. The Committee recommends to the following authorities uploading a distinct whistleblower policy document on its website: Delaware County Industrial Development Agency, Erie County Industrial Development Authority, and Ulster County Resource Recovery Agency. Additionally, while the Yonkers Industrial Development Agency has a whistleblower policy on its website, the Committee finds the policy insufficient, and recommends the Yonkers IDA expand upon its policy. Its current policy is included within the IDA's code of ethics policy, comprises only one sentence, and is vague: "it is the policy of the [Yonkers IDA] to afford certain protections to individuals who in good faith report violations of the [Yonkers IDA's] Code of Ethics or other instances of potential wrongdoing within the [IDA]." The Yonkers IDA should outline the protections of whistleblowers and its policies for when it receives a tip of alleged wrongdoing or misconduct.

The average "clicks" to reach the whistleblower policy from the home page was 2.4 for the 130 public authorities: 2.2 for state authorities, 2.7 for local authorities, 1.2 for IDAs and 2.3 for LDCs.

140 AUTHORITIES BUDGET OFFICE, WHISTLEBLOWER ACCESS AND ASSISTANCE PROGRAM (2019). 141 Id.

The 12 public authorities that do not have a reasonably publicly accessible whistleblower policy on its website are:

- Brooklyn Navy Yard Development;
- Buffalo Water Board;
- Corinth Industrial Development Agency;
- North Greenbush Industrial Development Agency;
- Port Jervis Industrial Development Agency;
- Southern Tier Economic Growth, Inc.;
- Suffolk County Industrial Development Agency;
- Suffolk County Judicial Facilities Agency;
- Sullivan County Partnership;
- Tompkins County Development Corporation;
- Village of Groton Industrial Development Agency; and
- Village of Spring Valley Urban Renewal Agency.¹⁴²

In light of the importance of monitoring the actions of public authorities to ensure they are acting in the best interests of the public, the Committee strongly encourages all public authorities to develop and adopt a substantive whistleblower protection policy, and make it reasonably accessible to the public by placing it on their authority web homepage. Exhibit M provides a list of the 50 authorities reviewed for public disclosure, including a publicly accessible whistleblower policy.

IX. CASE STUDIES

In an effort to delineate best practices for Industrial Development Agencies, the Committee chose to evaluate two case studies in New York State: the Medline Industries, Inc. ("Medline") warehouse project in the Town of Montgomery, Orange County, and the Green Acres Mall project in the Town of Hempstead, Nassau County. For both case studies,

¹⁴² Investigative staff performed a reasonable and diligent search of public authorities' websites to locate whistleblower policies.

the Committee issued information and document requests to the pertinent parties, including the company requesting financial assistance and the relevant IDA, as well as other parties that have an interest in the project. The goal of the case studies is to recognize best practices as well as expose fraud and waste that may accompany IDA practices by gaining a comprehensive understanding of how these deals are made.

A. MEDLINE

Medline, based in Illinois, is the largest privately held manufacturer and distributor of medical supplies in the United States. Medline currently has 16 distribution centers across the United States, including, up until recently, one in the Town of Wawayanda near Middletown, Orange County, New York. In 2018, Medline reached over \$10 billion in company sales, and is currently ranked number 32 on Forbes' 2018 list of largest privately held companies in America.

On January 8, 2019, Medline submitted an application to the Town of Montgomery Industrial Development Agency, requesting financial assistance to build a new warehouse in the form of a 15-year PILOT program and a sales tax exemption.¹⁴³ The project proposed building a 1.3 million sq. ft. warehouse on 188 acres of land in the Town of Montgomery. The proposed new warehouse would replace Medline's 500,000 sq. ft. warehouse near Middletown, Orange County, which the company claims it has outgrown.¹⁴⁴ The property tax breaks for Medline's current warehouse near Middletown expired in 2019.

¹⁴³ Medline Industries Inc. application for PILOT to Town of Montgomery Industrial Development Agency (Jan. 8, 2019).

¹⁴⁴ *Id.* Medline refers to its current warehouse in Middletown, NY, but the exact location of the warehouse is in Wawayanda, NY.

Medline's proposed project in Montgomery, Orange County, was chosen as a case study because it serves as an example of how financial incentives can be abused to the detriment of local taxpayers. Additionally, the Medline case study demonstrates a clear and apparent need for economic development agencies, including IDAs, to better scrutinize incentive applications. In light of public objections and community concern following Medline's IDA application, Senator Skoufis, as Chair of the Senate Investigations and Government Operations Committee, opened an investigation into Medline's request for a new PILOT program.145 On behalf of the Committee, investigative staff issued Medline, the Town of Montgomery IDA, the Orange County IDA, and the Orange County Partnership, requests for information and documents relating to Medline's activities in New York State. On October 7, 2019, one day before Medline was required to respond, Medline announced it would withdraw its application for \$17 million in property tax breaks from the Town of Montgomery IDA; Medline also withdrew its request for \$8 million in sales tax exemptions. Nevertheless, the warehouse project moved forward without the financial incentives.

Medline has a history of looking to lower its taxes by applying for financial assistance from economic development agencies when previous incentives come due to expire. In 2014, Medline threatened to leave Illinois, where it has been headquartered for over 100 years, and relocate 714 jobs unless it received \$18 million in "edge" tax credits from the Illinois State Commerce Department. The tax credits it received in 2014 were the fourth since 2001, including \$12 million over the past five years.¹⁴⁶

¹⁴⁵ Investigation announced on September 3, 2019.

¹⁴⁶ Cahill, Joe, *Medline Threatens to Move, and our Governor Caves – again*, CHICAGO BUSINESS (Dec. 3, 2014).

Prior to its most recent PILOT application in Montgomery, the Orange County IDA approved a 10-year PILOT in 2008 for Medline to build its warehouse near Middletown; in total, Medline received a real property tax exemption of approximately \$2,750,000 and a sales tax exemption of approximately \$840,000. Medline's PILOT from the Orange County IDA expired in 2019, the same time Medline sought a new location and new round of tax breaks in the Town of Montgomery. At the expiration of the PILOT, Medline was due to pay their full assessment-based property taxes. The fact that Medline applied for a new facility and tax incentives to build it just as existing tax incentives were ending brings into question whether Medline was again attempting to lower its taxes in the guise of development.

The circumstances surrounding Medline's application to the Town of Montgomery IDA brings the actions of Medline and local economic development officials into question. Initially, Medline was seeking tax exemptions for its new Montgomery facility from the Orange County IDA. Medline submitted an application for financial assistance on June 6, 2018, requesting approximately \$7,556,250 in sales tax exemptions and \$12,446,515 in real property tax exemptions. However, after months of discussions, Medline withdrew its application from the Orange County IDA after determining that working with the Town of Montgomery IDA, rather than the Orange County IDA, would "provide 'one-stop shopping' and reduced costs."¹⁴⁷ The Committee received this correspondence as part of its document request to the Orange County IDA. It is included as Exhibit N. At the same time Medline's Town of Montgomery IDA application was pending, the Town of Montgomery planning board was considering the project's local approvals. The Committee

¹⁴⁷ Email from Eric Gerstein, Medline, Vice President of Tax and Finance to Vincent Cozzolino, The Accelerator, Orange County IDA (Jan. 12, 2019).

sought to ascertain whether "one-stop shopping" suggested there was a connection between local approvals and the IDA's consideration of financial incentives, a collaboration which would prove unethical, if not illegal. No parties that received a document request would or could elaborate on what "one-stop shopping" meant in the context of Medline's communications.

The rationale for IDA's to provide tax incentives is to spur economic development that would not occur otherwise, providing an overall benefit for the community that would exceed the cost of the tax breaks. According to Medline's own calculations provided to the IDA in their application, the company estimated that if they constructed the proposed Montgomery warehouse without any tax incentives from the IDA, they would make \$74.8 million in profits in the first year.¹⁴⁸ The same application states that, if the IDA provided a package that would include \$17,608,653 in property tax exemptions and \$8,043,750 in sales tax exemptions, or a total of \$25,652,403 in tax breaks, the company stood to make a first year profit of \$76.8 million. Given that Medline itself calculated that a new Montgomery facility built without any tax benefits would be profitable, this brings into question the need to provide the company with over \$25 million in tax breaks, which according to the company would only lead to an increase in profits of \$2 million.

On numerous occasions, and in its applications, Medline warned the Orange County IDA and the Town of Montgomery IDA that if it did not receive the financial assistance it was seeking, it would pursue other site locations in New Jersey and Pennsylvania, therefore relocating jobs outside of New York.¹⁴⁹ Eric Gerstein, Medline's Vice President of Tax,

¹⁴⁸ Medline Industries Inc. application for PILOT to Town of Montgomery Industrial Development Agency (Jan. 8, 2019).
149 Id.

Treasury & Risk, stated at the Orange County IDA's July 10, 2018, public meeting that "without [financial incentives] unfortunately [the warehouse] might make more sense in New Jersey."₁₅₀ In the Committee's opinion, neither the Town of Montgomery IDA nor the Orange County Partnership properly scrutinized the application to determine if Medline's threats to leave New York State were serious or hollow. The Orange County Partnership provides business development resources to clients including site selection assistance, financing options, employment training, and marketing. When asked, neither organization provided the Committee with documentation of attempts to ascertain what incentives, if any, were being offered to Medline by New Jersey or Pennsylvania. Further, the Town of Montgomery IDA could not provide the Committee with any documentation regarding investigative work into Medline's alleged interest into out-of-state sites.¹⁵¹ Additionally, the Orange County Partnership stated it did not attempt to contact a single real estate professional in New Jersey or Pennsylvania, or otherwise investigate the validity of Medline's threat to relocate.¹⁵²

At the request of local Medline representative R.J. Smith, Senator Skoufis took a meeting with Mr. Smith on September 11, 2019, to discuss the Senator's opposition to the proposed PILOT. Mr. Smith noted "representations were made" to Medline regarding a PILOT, implying the company was assured by stakeholders that financial incentives would be approved. The Committee inquired with all parties whether any representations were made to Medline regarding a PILOT; each either offered a denial or refused to answer,

150 In the Matter of Medline Industries, Orange County Industrial Development Agency (July 10, 2018) (statement of Eric Gerstein, Vice President of Tax, Treasury & Risk, Medline).
151 Response from Town of Montgomery Industrial Development Agency to New York State Senate Committee on Investigations & Government Operations (Sept. 27, 2019).
152 Response from Orange County Partnership, Inc. to New York State Senate Committee on Investigations & Government Operations (Oct. 8, 2019).

calling into question how and why representations were made to Medline and by whom, particularly provided the fact that the Town of Montgomery IDA had neither taken any votes nor made any public comments to support a PILOT.

The Orange County Partnership was further asked whether it communicated with the Town of Montgomery IDA or its board members outside of public meetings regarding Medline's PILOT application. The Orange County Partnership indicated its President and CEO, Maureen Hallahan, had two conversations: (1) regarding board vacancies and the number of votes required for board action and (2) noting the Committee's information and document request. Nevertheless, in the aftermath of Senator Skoufis' inquiry into Medline's PILOT application, Ms. Halahan writes, "I'm hearing that the Montgomery IDA is still supportive."¹⁵³ The Committee received this correspondence as part of its document requests; it is included as Exhibit O. This statement indicates the Orange County Partnership was receiving private, direct or indirect assurances from the Town of Montgomery IDA regarding Medline's PILOT application despite no formal decision being made by the IDA board.

If Medline had chosen to abandon its proposed project in Montgomery, it stood to lose \$10 million in Excelsior Jobs Tax Credits.154 Additionally, Medline already purchased the project site for \$17,802,000, on September 25, 2018. Abandoning Montgomery and selling the real estate would likely result in a significant monetary loss for Medline given the costs of selling its Montgomery property, the hiring and training of hundreds of new employees, and forfeiture of already-issued and –entitled tax breaks. Moreover, if Medline

¹⁵³ Email from Maureen Halahan, Orange County Partnership, to Dmitry Dukhan, Medline and Kaitlyn Perez, Orange County Partnership (Sept. 9, 2019).
¹⁵⁴ Response from Orange County Partnership, Inc. to New York State Senate Committee on Investigations & Government Operations (Oct. 8, 2019).

chose to leave Montgomery, it would forfeit \$7 million in property tax breaks over the first ten years from an automatic 485-b exemptions. It is the opinion of the Committee that Medline used the threat of relocating New York State jobs to pressure incentive approvals that ultimately were unnecessary, as proven by the fact that the PILOT and sales tax exemption were withdrawn and yet the project is nevertheless moving forward.

As previously mentioned, as part of the case study, the Committee issued information and document requests to the three pertinent economic development stakeholders, the Orange County IDA, the Orange County Partnership, and the Town of Montgomery IDA. All three organizations were significantly involved in the progression of Medline's objective of receiving financial assistance for its new warehouse.

Orange County Industrial Development Agency

The Orange County IDA proved to be the most cooperative party the Committee sought information from regarding the Medline PILOT application. As previously discussed, Medline was originally in discussions with the Orange County IDA prior to moving on to the Town of Montgomery IDA. The Orange County IDA facilitated meetings with stakeholders in the Town of Wallkill, Town of Montgomery, and Empire State Development. Of note, in one such meeting with Empire State Development, Medline was advised to "please use this sentence today" ... "Medline has interest in retaining and expanding operations in Orange County pending competitive NYS incentives and IDA Pilot. The Company has competing interest from [New Jersey] though Wallkill could be our first choice contingent on NYS incentives."155

Orange County Partnership

¹⁵⁵ Email from Vincent Cozzolino, Managing Director, The Accelerator, Orange County IDA to Eric Gerstein, Medline (June 5, 2018).

The Orange County Partnership (OCP) assisted Medline with finding and applying for financial incentive programs offered at the state and local level, but claims it did not specifically direct Medline as to which economic development agencies to apply for tax incentives.¹⁵⁶ OCP provided the following services to Medline: site searches; telephone calls to elected officials to inform them that Medline was anticipating moving into their jurisdiction; advising Medline of available incentive programs and making telephone calls or arranging for meetings with appropriate contacts; and advising Medline of available local resources and professional consultants.¹⁵⁷ When asked at what point OCP began discussions with Medline regarding its application for financial assistance to build a new warehouse, OCP responded November 2018.¹⁵⁸ However, correspondence the Committee received during its investigation indicate that OCP and Medline were in discussions as early as May 2018; Maureen Halahan of OCP informed Medline that "as the center of economic development, [OCP] is able to shepherd [Medline] through this process from site-selection, community outreach, incentives, workforce needs, public relations etc."¹⁵⁹

Notably, OCP was heavily involved in the public relations campaign surrounding Medline's application for financial assistance and local approvals. On numerous occasions, Medline representatives asked OCP to bring members to public hearings to brandish local support for their project. On August 3, 2019—as a result of "opposition [] getting momentum"—Medline instructed OCP to gather members to pack the public meeting held on August 13, 2019, at the Valley Central High School Cafeteria, seeking "50 employees,

¹⁵⁶ Response from Orange County Partnership, Inc. to New York State Senate Committee on Investigations & Government Operations (Oct. 8, 2019).

¹⁵⁷ *Id*.

¹⁵⁸ *Id*.

¹⁵⁹ Email from Maureen Halahan, Orange County Partnership to Dmitry Dukhan, Medline (May 14, 2018).

60-80 residents and other supporters and 30-40 additional businesses."₁₆₀ This correspondence, received by the Committee in its documents requests, is included as Exhibit P. On August 7, 2019, Medline asked OCP to request all members to help with support letters for their project, wanting 30-40 more letters from "our friends at the partnership."₁₆₁ Again, on August 21, 2019, Medline requested OCP to collect 40-50 more letters of support from area businesses.₁₆₂ Additionally, Maureen Halahan of OCP reached out to Town of Montgomery Supervisor Rod Winchell requesting direction on arranging meetings for Medline in an effort to assist with grassroots public relations outreach. Town Supervisor Winchell then arranged for a meeting between Maureen Halahan, Medline representatives, the Town of Montgomery Police Chief, and himself.₁₆₃

Importantly, OCP, Medline, and the Orange County Government, engaged in discussions regarding garnering public support for Medline's proposed warehouse in Montgomery.¹⁶⁴ Bill Fioravanti, Economic Development Director for Orange County, held discussions with representatives from Medline regarding hiring a PR professional, preferably an individual that is locally known and respected, "to handle the messaging [and] the media[.]"¹⁶⁵

¹⁶⁰ Email from Dmitry Dukhan, Medline, to Maureen Halahan, Orange County Partnership (Aug. 3, 2019).

¹⁶¹ Email from Dmitry Dukhan, Medline, to Maureen Halahan, Orange County Partnership (Aug. 7, 2019).

¹⁶² Email from Dmitry Dukhan, Medline, to Maureen Halahan, Orange County Partnership (Aug. 21, 2019).

¹⁶³ Email from Maureen Halahan, Orange County Partnership to Rod Winchell, Supervisor, Town of Montgomery Supervisor (Jan. 31, 2019.)

 ¹⁶⁴ Email from Bill Fioravanti, Economic Development Director for Orange County, to Nick Fitzpatrick, Aden Brook (Jan. 11, 2019).
 ¹⁶⁵ Id.

In response to the Times Herald Record reporting of Senator James Skoufis' public opposition of Medline's application for financial assistance, Medline representatives asked OCP staff and Orange County officials how the Orange County Economic Development Office and the OCP were going to "push back."¹⁶⁶

Town of Montgomery Industrial Development Agency

In light of Medline's abrupt switch from the Orange County IDA to the Town of Montgomery IDA, due to its appeal of "one-stop shopping," the Committee was especially interested in the progression of Medline's application for financial assistance as well as the practices and policies of the Town of Montgomery IDA.

The Committee requested on what date the Town of Montgomery IDA began discussions with Medline regarding its application for financial assistance. In its response, the Town of Montgomery IDA stated "on or about January 8, 2019 (date of application)."¹⁶⁷ However, from emails the Committee received as part of its investigation, the Town of Montgomery IDA and Medline began discussions in November 2018, as evident from emails between Maureen Halahan of the Orange County Partnership, Eric Gerstein of Medline, F. Edward Devitt, then-Chairman of the Town of Montgomery IDA, and Joseph Joy, CEO of the Town of Montgomery IDA.¹⁶⁸

¹⁶⁶ Email from Larry Wolinsky, Of Counsel, Jacobowitz and Gubits, LLP, to Richard Smith, Rand Commercial, and Dmitry Dukhan, Medline (Aug. 16, 2019). *See also* Email from Richard Smith, Rand Commercial, to Maureen Halahan, Orange County Partnership, and Bill Fioravanti, Orange County Government (Aug. 16, 2019).

167 Response from Town of Montgomery Industrial Development Agency to New York State Senate Committee on Investigations & Government Operations (Sept. 27, 2019).
168 Email from Eric Gerstein, Medline, to Maureen Halahan, Orange County Partnership, Ed Devitt, Chairman, Town of Montgomery IDA, and Joseph Joy, CEO, Town of Montgomery IDA (Nov. 1, 2018).

Of the 14 requests included in the Committee's letter, the Town of Montgomery IDA failed to provide substantive responses for the majority of requests for information and documents. Unlike the Orange County IDA and the OCP, the Town of Montgomery IDA was significantly less inclined to assist the Committee in its investigative case study.

B. GREEN ACRES

On August 15, 2014, Macerich, the Green Acres Mall Developer, applied for two separate PILOT agreements for consideration by the Town of Hempstead Industrial Development Agency.¹⁶⁹ The first PILOT application related to capital improvements to the already existing Green Acres Mall ("Mall"). The second was for new construction of a two-level shopping center, the Green Acres Commons ("Commons") to be built adjacent to the Mall. Both PILOT programs would allow the Town of Hempstead IDA to assume title of the properties, while collecting PILOT payments from Macerich, which would be redistributed to the affected tax jurisdictions.

Green Acres Mall Project

In its application for financial assistance, Macerich sought a PILOT as well as sales tax and mortgage recording tax exemptions over a 15-year period. The PILOT agreement entailed a 10-year period with a 5-year option expiring on December 31, 2026, and December 31, 2031, respectively. The sales tax exemption was for \$76,930,000 over 15 years, expiring December 31, 2030. The proposed project included making \$46.2 million

¹⁶⁹ Response from John E. Ryan, Counsel for Town of Hempstead Industrial Development Agency to New York State Senate Investigations and Government Operations Committee (Nov. 13, 2019) (hereinafter "Town of Hempstead IDA Response to NYS IGO Committee (Nov. 13, 2019)") (on file with author).

in capital investments over the following 15 years and \$31 million in tenant improvement costs. Macerich anticipated the total project costing approximately \$79 million. Macerich stated the PILOT program was necessary to "enhance the visitor experience, improve the property's profile, and ensure a feeling of safety around the property."

On August 27, 2014, the Town of Hempstead IDA Board approved inducement resolutions for both the Mall and Commons PILOT projects.¹⁷⁰ On December 4, 2014, the Town of Hempstead IDA announced a public hearing to discuss the Mall PILOT application, which was subsequently held on December 15, 2014.¹⁷¹ Notification of the public meeting was sent via certified mail to the Nassau County Executive, Town of Hempstead Supervisor, Mayor of the Village of Valley Stream, Superintendent of Valley Stream School District 30 and Superintendent of the Central High School District.¹⁷² Additionally, the IDA published a notice in Newsday, posted notice in two locations at the Town of Hempstead Town Hall, contacted all taxing jurisdictions and posted the notice on the IDA website.¹⁷³ With the exception of IDA officials and a court reporter, no one attended the public meeting.¹⁷⁴

On December 17, 2014, the Town of Hempstead IDA Board approved the Mall PILOT agreement, which provided for the following PILOT payments to District 30, the Town of Hempstead and the Village of Valley Stream.¹⁷⁵

170 *Id.* 171 *Id*.

172 *Id*.

173 *Id*.

¹⁷⁴ Town of Hempstead Industrial Development Agency and Valley Stream Union Free School District 30: Green Acres Mall PILOT Payments, OFFICE OF THE NEW YORK STATE
COMPTROLLER (December 2017) (hereinafter "Green Acres Mall PILOT Payments report").
175 Response from Cory Scott, Senior Vice President, Macerich to New York State Senate
Investigations and Government Operations Committee (Nov. 1, 2019) (hereinafter "Macerich Response to NYS IGO Committee (Nov. 1, 2019)") (on file with author).

General Tax Year	Total Pilot Payment Per Year (\$)
2017-2021	\$13,700,000.00
2022-2026	\$14,500,00.00
2027	\$15,675,676.00
2028	\$16,077,616.00
2029	\$16,489,863.00
2030	\$17,176,940.00
2031	\$17,892.646.00

In its application for the Green Acres Mall Project, Macerich stated that when fully leased the new mall would create 355 full-time jobs in the first year and 570 full-time jobs by the second year. The application also stated the new mall would create 535 direct jobs in the Town of Hempstead when fully leased.

The agreement was set to expire on December 31, 2026, however the agreement permitted an extension; the continuation of the project for the remaining five years was contingent upon the continued job compliance commitments Macerich agreed to in its Lease Agreement with the IDA. As part of both PILOT programs, Macerich promised to create 355 full-time jobs in the first year and 570 by the end of the second year.

Green Acres Commons Project

The Commons IDA application sought a PILOT as well as sales tax and mortgage recording tax exemptions over a 15-year period. In the application, Macerich noted that the project would not be feasible if it did not secure the financial benefits from the Town of Hempstead IDA. The PILOT agreement entailed a 10-year period with a 5-year option expiring on December 31, 2026, and December 31, 2031, respectively. The sales tax exemption was for \$27,000,000 over 3 years, expiring June 1, 2018. The anticipated total project cost was \$83.7 million.

On April 8, 2015, the Town of Hempstead IDA announced a public hearing to discuss the proposed Commons PILOT program, which was subsequently held on April 21, 2015. The IDA followed the same notification procedures as it did for the proposed Mall PILOT program hearing.¹⁷⁶ Again, with the exception of IDA officials and a court reporter, no one attended the meeting.¹⁷⁷ A day after the public meeting, the IDA Board approved the Commons PILOT agreement, which provided for the following PILOT payments to District 30, the Town of Hempstead and the Village of Valley Stream throughout the 15-year period.¹⁷⁸

General Tax Year	Total Pilot Payment Per Year (\$)
2017	\$440,000.00
2018	\$808,000.00
2019	\$1,254,000.00
2020-2021	\$1,700,000.00
2022-2026	\$1,800,000.00

In its application for the Green Acres Commons Project, Macerich stated that, over the construction period, 475 direct full-time equivalent workers and 225 indirect and induced full-time workers, with an average annual salary of \$62,000. The application also noted that the existing mall would retain its current 2,774 full-time employees.

The agreement was also set to expire on December 31, 2026, however the Lease Agreement included an extension clause; the continuation of the project for the remaining five years was contingent upon the continued job compliance commitments.¹⁷⁹

¹⁷⁶ Town of Hempstead IDA Response to NYS IGO Committee (Nov. 13, 2019). 177 *Green Acres Mall PILOT Payments* report at 3.

¹⁷⁸ *Id*.

¹⁷⁹ Macerich Response to NYS IGO Committee (Nov. 1, 2019).

Prior to the 2016-2017 fiscal year, District 30 officials were notified of the PILOT programs, which would affect the District's tax revenue. Importantly, District 30 shares PILOT revenue with the Central High School District. While preparing the 2016-17 budget, District 30 officials were informed that it would receive approximately 72.25 percent of the Mall PILOT payments and 63 percent of the Commons PILOT payments.180 However, the former Assistant Superintendent of Business advised the District Board to budget for approximately 50 percent of the Mall PILOT, with the difference in expected revenues for the 2016-17 fiscal year to be funded by the tax levy.181 This recommendation of 50 percent was based upon a previous, unrelated PILOT agreement. 182 District 30 only budgeted to receive \$3.2 million for the 2016-17 fiscal year, but ultimately received \$5 million in PILOT payments for the Mall and Commons projects. 183 The miscalculation resulted in District 30 realizing \$1.8 million more in revenue than budgeted. 184 The Central High School District budgeted \$3.5 million in PILOT payments, but received \$5.3 million, realizing \$1.8 million in additional PILOT revenue. 185 As a result of District 30 and Central High School District's miscalculations, they levied \$3.6 million more in taxes than necessary.186

During the first year of the PILOTs (2016-2017), property taxes increased significantly in the affected tax jurisdictions, including Districts 30, 13, and 24, due to the indirect impact of the PILOT payments on the funding of the school districts.187 While a

180 Green Acres Mall PILOT Payments report at 6.
181 Id.
182 Id.
183 Id. at 9.
184 Id.
185 Id.
186 Id.
187 Green Acres Mall PILOT Payments report at 5.

portion of the unanticipated increase is attributable to inaccurate PILOT estimates made by District 30 and Central High School District officials, the increase is also a result of factors such as increases to the tax levy and shifts in the proportion of property taxes paid to the school districts.¹⁸⁸ Due to the Mall and Commons PILOT projects, the affected tax jurisdictions received approximately \$6.5 million in less revenue compared to the previous year.¹⁸⁹

On January 19, 2017, the Town of Hempstead IDA held a public hearing to discuss possibly revoking the PILOT agreements. About 700 community members attended the hearing, many of which repeatedly expressed concerns that Macerich was not meeting its employment benchmarks for construction and full-time jobs, as it promised in the agreements. As a result of this public concern, the IDA investigated Macerich's employment figures and concluded that Macerich had grossly misstated the number of both temporary construction jobs and permanent, full-time jobs.

Due to the failure to create jobs and the significant increase in property and school taxes in 2016, members of the affected communities held the Town of Hempstead Board responsible, demanding action on their part to address the increase.

The Executive Director of the IDA proceeded to request employment records from Macerich; the company replied that only 3 vendors responded to its inquiry of employment numbers, reporting only 45 employees. Macerich did not provide any additional information or proof to the IDA with regards to the construction jobs or whether the existing mall retained its 2,774 full time jobs. In April of 2017, the Town of Hempstead

IDA Board subsequently voted 5-0 to revoke the PILOT agreement for the Mall for failing to fulfill job commitments.

In response, Macerich sued the IDA, alleging they had met the promised job benchmarks. Despite the lack of information provided to the Town of Hempstead IDA regarding performance benchmarks, in February of 2018, Supreme Court Judge Timothy Driscoll found that Macerich had met its required job benchmarks, therefore finding that the Town of Hempstead IDA did not have the proper basis to revoke the Mall PILOT.

The Green Acres Mall and Commons PILOT projects serve as an example of the impacts IDA projects can have on a community if the financial assistance issued is not property scrutinized at the appropriate time. While School District 30 officials failed to accurately determine its budget in light of the PILOT agreements, the Town of Hempstead IDA neglected to properly investigate the proposed project prior to its approval. The Town of Hempstead IDA passed inducement resolutions for the Mall and Commons PILOT projects prior to receiving a cost-benefit analysis.¹⁹⁰ Additionally, the Town of Hempstead IDA does not have a policy requiring the review of direct and/or indirect property tax impacts.¹⁹¹ Without a thorough review of the direct and indirect impacts a PILOT agreement can have on the affected tax jurisdictions tax rate, programs that may negatively affect a community may ultimately be approved.¹⁹² As public authorities, IDAs are created to serve communities by increasing its economic welfare and promoting growth. The Committee strongly encourages the Town of Hempstead IDA, as well as all other IDAs, to

¹⁹⁰ *Id.* at 4. *See also* Town of Hempstead IDA Response to NYS IGO Committee (Nov. 13, 2019).
191*Green Acres Mall PILOT Payments* report at 5.
192 *Id.*

develop and implement practices that safeguard the public interest and prevent the abuse of public funds.

The Green Acres case study further demonstrates the need for all IDAs to properly and systemically track verifiable employment data on its own – and not be subject to the whims of an applicant's – or their vendors' – reporting.

Lastly, this case study highlights the significant need for the Legislature to reexamine whether existing notice requirements are adequate or effective; at both the December 15, 2014, and April 20, 2015, hearings on the projects, no one from the public attended, which community members attribute to insufficient notice. The Committee recommends amending current procedures to ensure communities and elected officials receive more robust notification of major actions and public hearings. With more adequate outreach, Town of Hempstead residents and elected officials may have been able to voice their concerns prior to the issuance of the two PILOTs – not after.

X. INVESTIGATIVE FINDINGS & LEGISLATIVE RECOMMENDATIONS

While public authorities play a significant role in assisting the State with providing essential services to the public, their unique niche between public agencies and private entities restricts the extent of oversight, accountability and transparency in their actions. As the State increasingly relies on public authorities to provide essential government functions to the public, including wholly funding and managing crucial infrastructure projects, the outstanding debt of public authorities continues to grow. In 2018, public authorities reported over one-quarter of a trillion in outstanding debt, approximately \$282.1

billion, an 8 percent increase since 2014.193 Public authorities are empowered to contract debt and issue financial assistance without public approval, bypassing constitutional limits on state debt.194

The State's extensive reliance on public authorities is problematic due to insufficient statutory mandates that scrutinize their financial and operational activities. Referred to as the "shadow government," public authorities are often not subjected to sufficient public scrutiny, creating questions about whether the interests of the communities they serve are being supported. It is the Committee's opinion that the standards of accountability and transparency of public authorities need to be strengthened to ensure public authorities are acting within their designed purpose: to serve the people of New York State.

Over the course of the investigation, the investigative team identified several deficiencies in the statutory mandates of public authorities, which ultimate result in insufficient oversight of public authorities' activities. Heading into the 2020 Legislative Session, the Committee recommends Members of the Legislature develop and pursue reforms that seek to better protect taxpayer interests. Additionally, given the symbiotic nature of accountability and transparency, public authorities can make vital adjustments to their practices immediately. The recommendations discussed in this section aim to increase accountability and transparency of public authorities.

The Committee urges the full Legislature and all types of public authorities to strongly consider the recommendations identified, many of which can be proactively incorporated into current practices.

¹⁹³ ANNUAL REPORT ON PUBLIC AUTHORITIES, *supra* note 1, at 9, 19. 194 NY Const art X, § 5.

Recommendations relate to the following aspects of public authorities:

- A. Inadequate Statutory Oversight
- B. Accountability of Public Authorities
- C. Insufficient Transparency
- D. Insufficient Resources for Authorities Budget Office
- E. Public Authorities Board Members Oversight
- F. State Authority Board Vacancies
- G. Industrial Development Agencies Reform

A. INADEQUATE STATUTORY OVERSIGHT

Public authorities annually invest billions of dollars in economic development projects each year, primarily in the form of grants, loans or tax credits. While public authorities are designed to offer financial incentives to stimulate economic growth, it is difficult to evaluate the extent and effectiveness of initiatives because oversight is spread across several State entities, including the ABO and the State Comptroller. Moreover, given the substantial amount of money invested each year, it is also difficult to ascertain the benefactors of assistance and determine whether the State is receiving an adequate return on investment, typically in the form of new or retained jobs. Examining public authorities' financial activities is crucial in preventing abuse of public funds. The Committee encourages the full Legislature to develop legislation that improves existing statutory oversight of public authorities. Monitoring investments in economic development projects is essential to understanding the efficiencies and effectiveness of financial incentives, enabling public authorities to better evaluate potential projects and serve their communities.

Industrial Development Agencies

IDAs are formed by the State at the request of a particular municipality for the benefit of such municipality. IDAs function to promote the economic welfare, business opportunities and prosperity of the communities they serve. The actions of IDAs, including issuing bonds or entering into PILOT agreements, directly affect economic interests of municipalities where they are located. Currently, there are 109 active IDAs in New York State; only the ABO and the State Comptroller have the authority to examine the operations and finances of IDAs. While the ABO and the State Comptroller act to safeguard the public interest, their resources and efforts encompass all IDAs within the State. Thus, in order to protect public interests and prevent fraud and abuse of public funds, the Committee recommends amending General Municipal Law to permit County Comptrollers to audit IDAs located within their municipality.

Local Development Corporations

Local development corporations (LDCs), as well as other types of private organizations, are frequently used by local governments as a means to indirectly finance local government operations and projects. Audits performed by the State Comptroller have exposed that LDCs have been used to avoid constitutional or statutory restrictions that apply to projects directly undertaken by a local government. While LDCs are established as distinct entities separate from a local government, as a practical matter, they often function as instruments of the local government. Pursuant to General Municipal Law § 34, the State Comptroller is able to examine the finances and activities of every municipal corporation, industrial development agency, district, fire company or agency. The State Comptroller does not have the authority to audit LDCs and other similar types of private organizations, even when they are in the control of a local government.¹⁹⁵ Instead, the Comptroller may only examine the relationship between the local government entity and the private organization as part of an audit of the local government entity. However, even in the context of such an audit, the Comptroller is prohibited from inspecting beyond the financial or business relationship, and therefore cannot review the overall finances and operations of the LDC itself. This restriction on transparency is problematic, because, for example, the Comptroller is unable to examine the LDCs internal controls to assess whether financial assistance provided to the LDC by a local government is properly safeguarded.

S5445, introduced by Senator Skoufis, addresses this lapse in transparency by expanding the oversight authority of the State Comptroller to include direct audits of private organizations that are under the control of municipal corporations or other local government entities.¹⁹⁶ Expanding the scope of potential audits will provide greater assurance that private entities are acting in the public interest. S5445 passed the Senate on May 30, 2019, and the Assembly on June 18, 2019. The Committee strongly urges the Governor to sign this bill into law.

Additionally, the Committee recommends the full Legislature develop legislation that permits county comptrollers' to directly audit local development corporations within their county.

195 GENERAL MUNICIPAL LAW § 34 (2019).196 S5445, 2019-2020 Sen. (Ny. 2019).

B. ACCOUNTABILITY OF PUBLIC AUTHORITIES

Public authorities differ from State agencies in the manner in which they are held accountable; elections and politics are the primary mechanism of accountability for the government, while public authorities are monitored through period compliance reviews and reporting on their operations and finances. However, throughout the investigation the lack of meaningful mechanisms to ensure accountability were evident. While the ABO has several vital functions, their statutory mandate neglects to include enforcement powers. The ABO is limited to publicly warning and censuring authorities for non-compliance and issuing recommendations for corrective action. However, the ABO does not have the authority to compel compliance.

Public Authorities Law empowers the ABO to conduct reviews and analysis of the operations, practices and reports of public authorities to assess compliance with statutory requirements and make recommendations concerning the reformation and structure of public authorities. As part of its oversight obligations, the ABO regularly issues public authorities and their appointing authorities' specific recommendations to improve practices. Recommendations often includes rendering conclusions and opinions regarding the performance of a public authority and/or board member. The purpose of a recommendation is to assist public authorities in improving its operational and financial practices as well as ensuring compliance with State statutes. However, neither public authorities nor their appointing authorities are required to respond to ABO recommendations, essentially rendering this important accountability mechanism ineffectual.

60

Holding public authorities accountable for their activities and operations is crucial to protect public interests, therefore the Committee recommends amending Public Authorities Law to require public authorities to respond to ABO recommendations. The Legislature should develop legislation mirroring the requirements codified in Executive Law § 170 for audits by the State Comptroller. Section 170 of Executive Law empowers the State Comptroller to audit agencies and issue a final report with recommendations. Pursuant to this law, the head of an entity audited by the State Comptroller is required to respond to any recommendations for corrective action with 90 days of receipt of the final report. Thus, the Committee encourages the full Legislature to amend Public Authorities Law to require public authorities and their appointing authorities' to respond to receipt.

While PARA strengthened the reporting requirements of public authorities, the content and accuracy of the information are often inadequate. Pursuant to Public Authorities Law § 2800, public authorities are required to submit to the ABO certain annual and audit reports on its operations and finances. However, public authorities' reporting practices are significantly lacking, resulting in inaccurate information and a waste of public funds. A primary concern for the ABO is the accuracy of data reported in PARIS. In order to ensure public authorities are acting pursuant to their enabling legislation, reporting of accurate financial information is critical. Currently, financial reports submitted to the ABO must be certified that the information provided is accurate, is not misleading or omits material facts, and fairly represents the financials of the authority.¹⁹⁷ Despite this requirement, the ABO routinely identifies significant discrepancies in authorities' reports,

which hinders the accountability and transparency of their activities. Importantly, there are no penalties for filing false or inaccurate data with the ABO. Therefore, the Committee recommends the full Legislature develop legislation requiring certification under penalty of perjury for knowingly filing false or inaccurate information.

Each year, LDCs incur millions of dollars in debt and issue millions of dollars in financial incentives, however, LDCs are not subject to the same financial assistance agreements and recapture policies as those required of IDAs. In 2018, LDCs reported \$19.5 billion in outstanding debt. The Committee recommends amending Not-for-Profit Corporation law to require LDCs implement similarly important financial policies to ensure public funds are not being abused or wasted.

C. INSUFFICIENT TRANSPARENCY

Designed to act for the benefit of the people, public authorities are ultimately accountable to those they serve. However, due to their unique status as quasi-public entities, public authorities are not subject to the same level of public scrutiny as traditional State agencies. Nevertheless, public authorities must be open and transparent because of their role in the economic welfare of a community. The Committee recommends amending Public Authorities Law to require public authorities to plainly disclose all conflicts of interests on their individual or shared website. Public disclosure of such conflicts will ensure public authorities are acting in the public interest when contemplating a transaction or agreement that may potentially benefit the private interest of a board or staff member.

Public authorities are required to make certain information and reports accessible to the public via its shared or individual website. In addition, the ABO issued regulation 19 NYCRR 250 that requires IDAs to post certain project information on their websites. In light of these requirements, the investigative team conducted a compliance review of 50 randomly selected IDAs to examine if the required information is publicly accessible. Thirteen IDAs did not publicly post one or more of their financial and operational reports. An authority's website is a primary way the public can receive information on the authority's activities. Currently, the public does not have access to PARIS, the database for all reported information of public authorities. Transparency of operational and financial information is crucial to safeguarding public funds, and the lack of publicly accessible data hinders accountability. Therefore, the Committee strongly recommends that PARIS be accessible to the public.

Lastly, the Committee strongly encourages all public authorities to regularly update the contact information listed on their authority website. Throughout the course of the investigation, the investigative team had an alarmingly difficult time contacting staff of public authorities. On numerous occasions, the contact information listed for an authority was the general municipal building number or the clerk's office. Additionally, when staff contacted several authorities via the information listed on their website, the individuals who answered were completely unaware of the public authority's existence. Public authorities have a responsibility of transparency to the communities they serve; therefore, having accurate contact information readily accessible to the public is critical.

D. INSUFFICIENT RESOURCES FOR AUTHORITIES BUDGET OFFICE

The failure to prioritize public authority accountability is demonstrated in the State's failure to provide significant financial assistance to the Authorities Budget Office (ABO) for their oversight activities. The ABO is the primary watcher of public authorities in New York State; its mission is to ensure public authorities are acting in the public interest consistent with their intended purpose. The mechanisms by which the ABO verifies public authorities are complying with statutory requirements are essential to protecting their duties of accountability and transparency to the public. As of November 2019, the ABO has a staff of 11: an Executive Director, two Deputy Executive Directors, three members dedicated to governance & technical assistance, and five for compliance & enforcement. The modest staff of 11 have the herculean task of ensuring the 583 active public authorities in New York State are acting for the benefit of the public.

For the 2019-2020 fiscal year, the ABO was appropriated \$2.059 million, a minor increase of about \$120,000 compared to the 2018-2019 fiscal year.¹⁹⁸ While the Senate appropriated an additional \$450,000 in their one-house budget for the ABO's operations, this money was stripped out of the final, enacted 2019-2020 budget. To help it fulfill its vital statutory mission, the Committee recommends the full Legislature increase the appropriations to the ABO by at least \$1 million in the 2020-2021 fiscal year. This increase would strengthen the ABO's oversight mechanisms, by allowing it to:

- Hire additional staff;
- Expand investigations and reviews;
- Modernize the Public Authorities Reporting and Information System (PARIS) to ensure accuracy of information reported;
- Obtain additional information from authorities to improve transparency and accountability of their operations;
- Monitor compliance with the Freedom of Information and Open Meetings Laws, and authorities' ethics guidelines and conflicts of interest laws; and
- Complete more powers and duties as delineated in Public Authorities Law.

198 S1500-D, 2019-2020 Sen. (Ny. 2019), S7500-D 2018-2019 Sen. (Ny. 2019).

E. PUBLIC AUTHORITIES BOARD MEMBERS OVERSIGHT

Public authorities are designed to strike a balance between political accountability and independence.¹⁹⁹ Unlike traditional State agencies, the governing boards of public authorities are expected to be more independent of those who appoint them, to make decisions outside the arena of politics, and to be accountable to the public through reporting and transparency. Therefore, those individuals who serve on a public authority board must be independent from political influence and be accountable for their decisions and actions as a board member.

Each year, IDAs grant millions of dollars of public funds in the form of tax incentives for projects seeking financial assistance. The board members of an IDA are responsible to deciding which projects will receive assistance and how much assistance to offer. Allowing elected officials to serve as IDA board members presents an inherent conflict and opportunities for corruption. For example, a benefactor seeking financial assistance from an IDA could contribute to the campaign of an elected official who serves on the IDA board to secure a vote of approval for its project. Despite this obvious potential for corruption, elected officials are permitted to serve on IDAs boards across the State. S4678, introduced by Senator Skoufis, would prohibit any elected official serving at the county, town, city or village level, from serving as board member for any IDA located within the county. The Committee encourages the Legislature to advance this important anti-corruption bill in the 2020 Legislative Session.

Public Authorities Law § 2824(2) requires board members of public authorities to participate in state approved training regarding their legal, fiduciary, financial and ethical

199 Public Authorities in New York State, CITIZENS BUDGET COMMISSION, Apr. 2006, at 1.

responsibilities within one year of appointment. Following the passage of PARA in 2006, the ABO developed a policy guidance on board member training to assist public authorities in meeting the requirements. The ABO has subsequently updated its policy guidance to reemphasize the training requirements and help ensure compliance. As part of annual reporting requirements, public authorities are required to indicate whether each board member has complied with the training requirements of Section 2824(2). To deter non-compliance with training requirements, the ABO is authorized to recommend to the appointing authority the suspension or dismissal of board members.²⁰⁰ In September and October of 2019, the ABO sent a letter to the appointing authorities of 23 board members recommending their removal from the public authority board due to ongoing failure to attend training.²⁰¹ Only 2 of the 23 authorities responded to the ABO's recommendation for corrective action. Those authorities that have neglected to respond are:

- Brooklyn Navy Yard Development Corporation;
- Columbia Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation;
- Erie County Fiscal Stability Authority;
- Jamestown Urban Renewal Agency;
- Municipal Assistance Corporation for the City of Troy;
- Nassau County Bridge Authority;
- Niagara Falls Urban Renewal Agency;
- Operation Oswego County;
- Orange County Water Authority;
- Rockland Economic Development Corporation;
- West Brighton Community Local Development Corporation; and
- Westchester County Local Development Corporation.202

Training is essential to ensuring board members understand their responsibility of

accountability and transparency to the public. The Committee strongly urges these public

authorities and the board members to comply with the requirements of the Law immediately. Furthermore, the Committee recommends amending the powers of the ABO to allow it to bring enforcement actions against non-compliant board members who fail to receive the mandated training.

F. STATE AUTHORITY BOARDS VACANCIES

State authorities include authorities or public benefit corporations created in state law, with one or more of its members appointed by the Governor or who serve by virtue of their elected or appointed position. As of November 2019, there are 463 board member positions in 48 state authorities, 55 of which are vacant.²⁰³ The Governor is responsible for appointing a candidate for at least 42 of the 55 vacancies.²⁰⁴ The Committee urges the Governor to appoint qualified individuals for the 42 vacant positions as expeditiously as possible.

G. INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCIES REFORM

Governor Nelson Rockefeller enacted IDAs in 1969 for the purpose of incentivizing economic activities in New York State by issuing financial assistance to private companies, primarily in the form of tax breaks. While reasonable incentives are occasionally necessary to attract or retain business, the extent to which IDAs have been providing questionable benefits brings into question whose interests are being served by the system. Private

²⁰³ Information provided to the Committee by the Authorities Budget Office.

²⁰⁴ Id.

closure. Projects requesting financial assistance are frequently approved with minimal scrutiny and little community input. This system appears to often favor the interests of business without sufficiently examining if the public interest is being met. The Committee strongly recommends reforming the powers and strengthening the accountability and transparency requirements of IDAs.

The purpose of IDAs is to incentivize companies to relocate or remain in its community through the offer of financial assistance. However, it is important to prevent IDAs from placing the interests of companies ahead of the public trust, which they are designed to serve.

S4668, introduced by Senator Skoufis, prohibits IDAs from issuing financial assistance to projects that have already started development. This bill would prevent companies that threaten relocation despite already being under-construction from receiving any unjustified financial incentives. Notably, many IDAs located in Long Island require retention applications that threaten relocation to supply incentive offer letters, if any, from other states. The Committee recommends pursuing legislation that requires all applications seeking financial assistance to disclose such information. Importantly, IDAs do not need to wait for law to be amended, but can immediately implement this requirement in their applications. The Committee strongly encourages all other IDAs implement such a requirement into their standard practices for applications for financial assistance.

Each year, IDAs issue millions of dollars of financial assistance to projects; however, in numerous instances, incentives are issued without disclosing the identity of the benefactor to the public. IDAs have a duty to be accountable and transparent to the communities they serve, therefore the public has a right to know what companies are

68

receiving publicly funded incentives. S4667, introduced by Senator Skoufis, prohibits IDAs from issuing financial assistance to projects in which the project benefactor is not publicly disclosed at the time of the required public hearing for the project.

IDAs often approve the issuance of financial assistance with little or no community input. School districts are required to address budget impacts of PILOTs without having any involvement in the process; local workers are excluded from the discussions and decision making concerning the projects and incentives; and concerned citizens and community members are blindsided by IDA agendas released hours before meetings. As they were created to for the public benefit, IDAs have a responsibility of transparency to the communities they serve. S4720, introduced by Senator Mayer, holds IDAs more accountable by requiring all boards to have at least one representative from a labor union and at least one representative from a school board.²⁰⁵ The bill also requires the affected school districts and state elected officials receive at least ten days public notice of meetings.²⁰⁶ Agendas of meeting must also be made available to the public at least three days in advance of the meeting and must be posted on the IDA's website.²⁰⁷

During the 2019-2020 Legislative Session, the Senate passed S88, which requires IDAs to live stream and post video recordings of all open meetings and public hearings. IDAs must also post the video recordings for a period of not less than five years. This bill, introduced by Senator Kaminsky, was signed into law on August 27, 2019 and takes effect on January 1, 2020.

205 S4720, 2019-2020 Sen. (Ny. 2019). 206 *Id.* 207 *Id.*

IDAs often grant private companies financial assistance in return for economic benefit, typically a promise to create or retain jobs in the community. IDAs are required to annually evaluate the success of each project at meeting the job and economic metrics agreed to as a condition of financial assistance. Additionally, they must develop policies for the return of all or part of the financial assistance provided for a project in the event that a project has material shortfalls in job creation and retention or material violations of the conditions of the agreement. However, IDA boards have the discretion to implement such policies and compel the return of taxpayer funds. Too often, projects fall significantly short of their benefit promises, distressing the economic welfare of local communities, as was alleged by the Town of Hempstead IDA in the Green Acres case study. S4675, introduced by Senator Skoufis, addresses this abuse by requiring IDA boards to compel the return of taxpayer-funded incentives issued to underperforming projects. The Committee also recommends that construction jobs associated with projects receiving financial assistance be thoroughly tracked, reported to the ABO, logged in PARIS, and subjected to similar clawback provisions as aforementioned, especially in those instances where local labor requirements are imposed on a project.

The Committee recommends standardizing IDA fees for all IDAs that operate within the same county in order to mitigate "shopping around." Where multiple IDAs operate in overlapping jurisdiction, standardizing fees will remove one variable that otherwise promotes a "race to the bottom" mentality where an applicant can bounce between IDAs and determine where they can get the best deal for themselves at the expense of local taxpayers. In light of their design to serve the community they are located within,
the Committee recommends amending the General Municipal Law to require a substantial portion of IDA fees be given back to the community in the form of direct tax relief.

Preventing companies from "shopping around" for the best financial benefit possible from IDAs—as was evident in the Medline case study—is crucial to ensuring IDAs are acting in the best interests of the public, not in the interest of companies. While IDAs across the state provide important competitive incentives to attract and retain business, competition among IDAs that serve overlapping communities may harm, rather than benefit, the public by providing unnecessary or unwarranted financial incentives. The Committee encourages the full Legislature to examine the need to prohibit "overlapping" IDAs in order to ensure IDAs are acting in the public interests. Possible solutions to eliminating "one-stop shopping" include eliminating municipal IDAs and only permitting county IDAs or, alternatively, requiring that if a municipal IDA is active in a community, the county IDA where that municipality is located cannot serve the overlapping community.

The reforms discussed in this section are crucial in preventing the abuse of public funds by holding IDAs more accountable and transparent in their actions. The Committee encourages the full Legislature to develop and expand on these reforms during the upcoming 2020 Legislative Session.

In coordination with the recommendations outlined in this section, it is of the utmost importance that IDAs undergo a cultural and operational transformation whereby incentives are no longer viewed as an entitlement. During the course of the investigation, the Committee found that many IDAs, as a matter of practice, approve any application that checks the required boxes without serious scrutinizing of the project's need for incentives.

71

The mission of an IDA should be to not simply incentivize for the sake of incentivizing, but to maximize a community's benefit, particularly when it comes to the project's ratable. While determining the seriousness of a threat to locate or relocate elsewhere can be a difficult and often subjective process, such scrutiny will benefit the taxpayers that IDAs are formed to represent.

Exhibit A

Туре	Authorities
LDC	Albany City Capital Resource Corporation
IDA	Albany City Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Albany County Industrial Development Authority
Local	Albany Parking Authority
IDA	Allegany County Industrial Development Agency
Local	American Museum of Natural History Planetarium Authority
IDA	Amherst (Town) Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Amsterdam Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Auburn Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Babylon Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Bethlehem Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Brookhaven Industrial Development Agency
LDC	Brooklyn Navy Yard Development
IDA	Broome County Industrial Development Agency
State	Buffalo Fiscal Stability Authority
Local	Buffalo Water Board
IDA	Cattaraugus Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Cayuga Industrial Development Agency
State	Central New York Regional Transportation Authority
IDA	Chautauqua County Industrial Development Authority
IDA	Chemung Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Chenango Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Clarence Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Clifton Park Industrial Development Authority
IDA	Clinton County Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Cohoes Industrial Development Authority
IDA	Colonie Industrial Development Authority
IDA	Columbia Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Concord Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Corinth Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Cortland County Industrial Development Authority
IDA	Delaware County Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Dunkirk Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Dutchess County Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Erie County Industrial Development Authority
Local	Erie County Water Authority
IDA	Erwin (Town) Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Essex County Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Fairport Industrial Development Authority
IDA	Franklin County Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Fulton County Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Genesee County Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Geneva Industrial Development Agency

IDA	Glen Cove Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Glen Falls Industrial Development Authority
IDA	Green Island Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Greene County Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Groton (Village) Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Guilderland Industrial Development Authority
IDA	Hamburg Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Hamilton County Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Hempstead Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Herkimer Industrial Development Authority
IDA	Hornell Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Hudson Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Islip Industrial Development Agency
Local	Ithaca Urban Renewal Agency
IDA	Jefferson Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Lancaster Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Lewis County Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Livingston County Industrial Development Authority
IDA	Lockport (Town of) Industrial Development Authority
State	Long Island Power Authority
IDA	Madison County Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Malone (Town) Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Mechanicville-Stillwater IDA
State	Metropolitan Transportation Authority
IDA	Middletown Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Monroe Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Montgomery (Town) Industrial Development Agency
LDC	Montgomery County Capital Resource Corportation
IDA	Montgomery County Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Mount Pleasant Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Mount Vernon Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Nassau County Industrial Development Authority
IDA	New Rochelle Industrial Development Agency
Local	New York City Housing Development Corporation
IDA	New York City Industrial Development Authority
Local	New York City Water Board
State	New York State Bridge Authority
State	New York State Energy Research and Development Authority
IDA	Newburgh Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Niagara County Industrial Development Authority
Local	Niagara Falls Water Board
State	Niagara Frontier Transportation Authority
IDA	Niagara Town Industrial Development Agency
IDA	North Greenbush Industrial Development Agency

IDA	Oneida County Industrial Development Authority
IDA	Onondaga County Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Ontario County Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Orange County Industrial Development Authority
LDC	Orange County Partnership
Local	Orange County Water Authority
IDA	Orleans County Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Ostego County Industrial Development Agency
LDC	Oswego County Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Otsego County Development Corporation
IDA	Peekskill Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Port Chester Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Port Jervis Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Poughkeepsie Industrial Development Authority
State	Power Authority of the State of New York
IDA	Putnam County Industrial Development Agency
LDC	Ramapo Local Development Corporation
IDA	Rensselaer (City) Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Rensselaer County Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Riverhead (Town of) Community Development Agency
Local	Riverhead (Town of) Industrial Development Agency
State	Rochester-Genesee Regional Transportation Authority
IDA	Rockland County Industrial Development Authority
IDA	Salamanca Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Saratoga County Industrial Development Authority
IDA	Schenectady City Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Schenectady County Industrial Development Agency
Local	Schenectady Urban Renewal Agency
IDA	Schoharie County Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Schuyler County Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Seneca County Industrial Development Agency
LDC	Southern Tier Economic Growth, Inc.
Local	Spring Valley (Village of) Urban Renewal Agency
IDA	St. Lawrence County Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Steuben County Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Suffolk County Industrial Development Agency
Local	Suffolk County Judicial Facilities Agency
IDA	Sullivan County Industrial Development Agency
LDC	Sullivan County Partnership for Economic Development
IDA	Syracuse Industrial Development Authority
IDA	Tioga County Industrial Development Agency
LDC	Tompkins County Development Corporation
IDA	Tompkins County Industrial Development Agency
IDA	Troy Industrial Development Authority

- IDA Ulster County Industrial Development Agency
- Local Ulster County Resource Recovery Agency
- State United Nations Development Corporation
- IDA Utica (City of) Industrial Development Authority
- IDA Wallkill Industrial Development Agency
- IDA Warren and Washington Counties Industrial Development Agency
- IDA Wayne County Industrial Development Agency
- IDA Westchester County Industrial Development Authority
- IDA Wyoming County Industrial Development Authority
- IDA Yates County Industrial Development Agency (Finger Lakes EDC)
- Local Yonkers Community Development Agency
- IDA Yonkers Industrial Development Agency

Exhibit B

Active State Authorities

Agriculture and New York State Horse Breeding Development Fund Albany Convention Center Authority Battery Park City Authority **Buffalo Fiscal Stability Authority** Capital District Transportation Authority Central New York Regional Transportation Authority Metropolitan Transportation Authority Development Authority of the North Country Dormitory Authority of the State of New York **Environmental Facilities Corporation** Erie County Fiscal Stability Authority Erie County Medical Center Corporation Homeless Housing Assistance Corporation Housing Trust Fund Corporation Hudson River Park Trust Hudson River-Black River Regulating District Long Island Power Authority Municipal Assistance Corporation for the City of Troy Nassau County Interim Finance Authority Nassau Health Care Corporation Natural Heritage Trust Nelson A. Rockefeller Empire State Plaza Performing Arts Center Operating Corporation New York Convention Center Operating Corporation New York Job Development Authority New York Local Government Assistance Corporation New York State Affordable Housing Corporation New York State Bridge Authority New York State Energy Research and Development Authority New York State Housing Finance Agency New York State Olympic Regional Development Authority New York State Thoroughbred Breeding Development Fund New York State Thruway Authority New York State Urban Development Corporation Niagara Frontier Transportation Authority North Country Power Authority Ogdensburg Bridge and Port Authority Port of Oswego Authority Power Authority of the State of New York Rochester-Genesee Regional Transportation Authority **Roosevelt Island Operating Corporation** Roswell Park Cancer Institute Corporation State of New York Mortgage Agency State of New York Municipal Bond Bank Agency

Tobacco Settlement Financing Corporation United Nations Development Corporation Utility Debt Securitization Authority (UDSA) Westchester County Health Care Corporation

Exhibit C



Corporations (TASCs), reported having a total of \$1.0 billion in operating expenses, which is a miniscule increase of 0.04 percent from 2014 to 2018. New York City Economic Development Corporation (with a total of \$749.6 million) combined with Brooklyn Navy Yard (with a total of \$66.8 million) and Governors Island Corporation (with a total of \$41.8 million) comprises 84.7 percent of the reported operating expenses for 2018. The 35 TASCs that reported indicated a total of \$15.1 million in operating expenses for the reporting period. Of the TASCs, Suffolk TASC's operating expenses comprised 34.6 percent of the total operating expenses which is similar to their totals from 2017.

Authority Name	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	Percent
	Amount	Amount	Amount	Amount	Amount	Change
						2014-2018
Agriculture and New York State Horse Breeding Development Fund	15.72	15.55	15.18	16.27	15.77	0.3%
Albany Convention Center Authority	0.61	0.75	1.33	4.75	7.22	1088.9%
Battery Park City Authority	44.03	53.57	46.15	47.73	47.15	7.1%
Buffalo Fiscal Stability Authority	0.71	0.75	1.15	0.75	0.83	16.8%
Capital District Transportation Authority	94.46	95.69	105.67	108.41	114.58	21.3%
Central New York Regional Transportation Authority	84.80	85.94	89.15	93.34	93.74	10.5%
Development Authority of the North Country	21.71	23.14	23.58	26.48	28.01	29.0%
Dormitory Authority of the State of New York	2,251.44	2,276.12	2,332.38	2,399.18	2,503.98	11.2%
Environmental Facilities Corporation	472.15	440.10	433.84	442.35	409.89	-13.2%
Erie County Fiscal Stability Authority	0.49	0.44	0.43	0.44	0.41	-15.3%
Erie County Medical Center Corporation	505.40	543.92	606.39	636.03	649.46	28.5%
Homeless Housing Assistance Corporation	44.27	44.04	48.44	69.27	67.48	52.4%
Housing Trust Fund Corporation	-	2,612.35	2,846.75	2,835.37	2,809.67	
Hudson River Park Trust	27.28	28.98	31.30	31.38	30.22	10.8%
Hudson River-Black River Regulating District	9.90	7.16	6.43	8.53	8.45	-14.6%
Long Island Power Authority	3,351.38	3,187.38	3,163.35	3,214.12	3,301.30	-1.5%
Metropolitan Transportation Authority	15,848.00	15,337.00	16,150.00	16,850.00	16,841.00	6.3%
Municipal Assistance Corporation for the City of Troy	0.04	0.05	0.05	0.05	0.05	12.9%
Nassau County Interim Finance Authority	1.76	1.74	1.63	1.84	1.71	-2.5%
Nassau Health Care Corporation	529.27	554.36	598.03			
Natural Heritage Trust	1.14	0.68	0.57	1.54	1.05	-7.4%
Nelson A. Rockefeller Empire State Plaza Performing Arts Center Operating Corp.	1.73	1.81	1.70	1.96	2.29	31.9%
New York Convention Center Operating Corporation	155.40	168.85	185.69	194.00	198.07	27.5%
New York Job Development Authority	1.21	2.83	5.67	2.96	1.72	42.4%
New York Local Government Assistance Corporation	4.05	3.70	3.41	3.00	2.92	-27.8%
New York State Affordable Housing Corporation	1.97	2.35	2.57	2.65	2.65	34.6%
New York State Bridge Authority	85.72	65.89	38.00	51.08	54.50	-36.4%
New York State Energy Research and Development Authority	127.26	146.00	128.77	119.76	124.52	-2.2%
New York State Housing Finance Agency	141.35	140.39	228.11	368.76	572.69	305.2%
New York State Olympic Regional Development Authority	53.85	54.46	51.88	54.49	57.60	7.0%
New York State Thoroughbred Breeding Development Fund	22.10	21.91	21.68	19.50	19.00	-14.0%
New York State Thruway Authority ¹	777.28	802.54	1,024.00	872.17	811.15	4.4%
New York State Urban Development Corporation	871.94	696.70	992.50	1,282.26	1,029.05	18.0%
Niagara Frontier Transportation Authority	251.85	252.32	251.13	253.57	263.33	4.6%
Ogdensburg Bridge and Port Authority	7.80	7.48	8.32	10.53	10.55	35.2%
Port of Oswego Authority	4.84	4.65	4.84	4.56	4.37	-9.7%
Power Authority of the State of New York ¹	2,765.00	2,330.00	2,125.00	2,335.00	2,467.00	-10.8%
Rochester-Genesee Regional Transportation Authority	100.46	110.05	116.56	116.51	116.35	15.8%
Roosevelt Island Operating Corporation	22.53	23.02	23.20	26.09	26.63	18.2%
Roswell Park Cancer Institute Corporation	556.77	598.00	637.53	722.45	797.28	43.2%
State of New York Mortgage Agency	55.91	47.13	56.87	62.57	116.89	109.1%
State of New York Municipal Bond Bank Agency	2.74	0.42	0.55	0.64	0.54	-80.4%
Tobacco Settlement Financing Corporation	7.84	0.65	0.63	2.94	0.60	-92.4%
United Nations Development Corporation	30.77	26.53	26.36	28.05	29.43	-4.3%
Utility Debt Securitization Authority (UDSA)	96.73	18.11	108.95	122.20	176.10	82.1%
Westchester County Health Care Corporation	1.035.62	1.201.55	1.304.32	1.379.86	1,432.16	38.3%
Total:			33,850.04	1		15.6%

Table 1: State Authority Operating Expenses 2014-2018* (\$ millions)

*Data Reported as of June 4, 2019, except for Metropolitan Transportation Authority, which is reported as of June 26, 2019. Data shown as 0.00 indicates an authority had operating expenses, but they round to \$0.00 million. Data shown as - indicates an authority reported \$0 in operating expenses.

¹The New York State Canal Corporation was moved from New York State Thruway Authority and became a subsidiary of the Power Authority of the State of New York effective January 1, 2017.

Exhibit D

	(9	6 millions)				
Authority Name	2014 Debt	2015 Debt	2016 Debt	2017 Debt	2018 Debt	Percent
	Outstanding	Outstanding	Outstanding	Outstanding	Outstanding	Change
						2014 - 2018
Albany Convention Center Authority ¹	-	-	-	0.98	0.00	
Battery Park City Authority	1,058.63	1,058.63	1,009.08	982.85	955.46	-9.7%
Buffalo Fiscal Stability Authority	63.16	48.90	34.93	27.78	22.26	-64.8%
Central New York Regional Transportation Authority ¹	0.00	-	-	-	-	
Development Authority of the North Country	12.14	9.14	13.94	12.94	12.23	0.8%
Dormitory Authority of the State of New York	45,772.00	45,664.53	47,286.01	47,856.64	50,471.46	10.3%
Environmental Facilities Corporation	6,721.39	6,414.72	6,053.60	5,917.93	6,266.56	-6.8%
Erie County Fiscal Stability Authority	391.77	349.04	300.15	383.83	339.97	-13.2%
Erie County Medical Center Corporation	173.13	175.53	173.65	272.51	257.33	48.6%
Long Island Power Authority	5,876.73	4,730.60	3,762.60	3,574.53	3,831.97	-34.8%
Metropolitan Transportation Authority	34,746.67	36,474.61	37,238.42	38,083.14	39,614.25	14.0%
Municipal Assistance Corporation for the City of Troy	38.00	33.78	29.40	24.45	19.29	-49.2%
Nassau County Interim Finance Authority	1,087.52	921.61	783.65	653.98	535.48	-50.8%
Nassau Health Care Corporation	242.95	269.95	256.40			
New York Job Development Authority	6,939.30	6,436.63	6,595.92	10,068.65	10,007.06	44.2%
New York Local Government Assistance Corporation	2,592.38	2,345.04	2,058.40	1,758.18	1,369.58	-47.2%
New York State Bridge Authority	110.28	103.70	96.86	89.72	82.27	-25.4%
New York State Energy Research and Development	3,388.14	3,386.35	3,059.30	2,654.63	2,535.47	-25.2%
New York State Housing Finance Agency	12,661.28	13,644.43	15,446.38	16,780.29	17,733.68	40.1%
New York State Thruway Authority ²	13,627.38	10,977.11	10,165.42	8,827.30	8,219.98	-39.7%
New York State Urban Development Corporation	10,720.56	11,083.64	12,418.80	12,895.56	13,578.72	26.7%
Niagara Frontier Transportation Authority	152.34	140.28	134.73	133.57	130.16	-14.6%
Ogdensburg Bridge and Port Authority	4.13	3.38	2.59	2.07	10.97	166.0%
Port of Oswego Authority ¹	1.41	1.27	1.05	0.30	0.00	-100.0%
Power Authority of the State of New York	1,597.24	1,562.97	1,370.77	1,305.97	1,284.81	-19.6%
Roswell Park Cancer Institute Corporation	232.36	218.23	203.82	189.67	172.16	-25.9%
State of New York Mortgage Agency	2,703.24	2,602.72	2,510.08	2,533.66	2,589.53	-4.2%
State of New York Municipal Bond Bank Agency	551.56	506.11	454.93	402.32	347.63	-37.0%
Tobacco Settlement Financing Corporation ¹	1,744.90	1,377.64	659.87	0.00	-	-100.0%
United Nations Development Corporation	87.19	81.75	76.07	70.11	63.85	-26.8%
Utility Debt Securitization Authority (UDSA)	1,932.32	2,919.44	3,965.53	4,262.40	4,139.59	114.2%
Westchester County Health Care Corporation	446.63	460.71	682.84	670.27	657.06	47.1%
Total:	155,676.69		156.845.14	160,436.20	165,248.77	6.1%

Table 6: State Authority Debt Outstanding 2014-2018*

2019 Annual Report on Public Authorities in New York State

* Data reported as of June 4, 2019. Data shown as 0.00 indicates an authority had debt, but paid it off during the reporting year or that the authority had debt, but it rounds to \$0.00 million. Data shown as - indicates no debt outstanding during reporting period.

¹Albany Convention Center Authority, Central New York Regional Transportation Authority, Port of Oswego Authority and Tobacco Settlement Financing Corporation had debt, but paid it off during the reporting year.

²The New York State Canal Corporation was moved from New York State Thruway Authority and became a subsidiary of the Power Authority of the State of New York effective January 1, 2017.

Exhibit E



Authority Name	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	Percent
	Amount	Amount	Amount	Amount	Amount	Change 2014-2018
Albany Community Development Agency	0.80	0.93	0.92	0.85		2014 2010
Albany County Airport Authority	46.28	45.26	46.51	48.16	52.69	13.8%
Albany Municipal Water Finance Authority	-	-	-	-	7.00	70 50/
Albany Parking Authority Albany Port District Commission	4.09 5.13	5.73 5.64	5.79 6.00	6.33 5.98	7.09 5.92	73.5% 15.2%
Albany Water Board	26.95	26.30	28.08	28.52	5.92	15.270
American Museum of Natural History Planetarium Authority	3.18	3.23	3.21	3.49	3.98	25.4%
Amsterdam Urban Renewal Agency	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	14.7%
Binghamton Urban Renewal Agency	0.07	0.07	0.06	0.08	0.06	-7.6%
Buffalo Municipal Water Finance Authority	0.51	1.08	0.08	0.10	0.05	-89.3%
Buffalo Sewer Authority Buffalo Urban Renewal Agency	51.33 49.88	45.88	58.20 54.55	61.58 50.70	58.65 7.00	14.3% -86.0%
Buffalo Water Board	26.16	28.52	27.01	28.71	28.43	-80.0%
Cayuga County Water and Sewer Authority	1.38	1.68	1.87	1.78	1.81	31.4%
Central New York Regional Market Authority	1.52	1.62	1.53	1.48		
Chautauqua, Cattaraugus, Allegany and Steuben Southern Tier Extension Railroad Authority	0.60	1.17	1.03	0.83	0.82	36.5%
City of Fulton Community Development Agency	0.51	0.54	0.51	0.52		
City of Hudson Community Development and Planning Agency ¹	0.10	0.15		0.09	4.57	0.0%
Clifton Park Water Authority Dutchess County Resource Recovery Agency	4.19 18.00	4.72 16.38	4.91 15.60	4.42 14.62	4.57 11.94	9.2% -33.7%
Dutchess County Resource Recovery Agency Dutchess County Water and Wastewater Authority	6.09	6.29	7.02	7.16	7.04	-33.7%
Eastern Rensselaer County Solid Waste Management Authority	0.72	0.60	0.63	0.60	0.65	-9.3%
Elmira Urban Renewal Agency	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.13	416610.0%
Erie County Water Authority	57.81	57.44	59.50	59.63	61.42	6.2%
Franklin County Solid Waste Management Authority	11.45	11.49	9.68	11.79	12.12	5.8%
Freeport Community Development Agency	0.66	0.29	0.88	0.18 1.76	1 70	-2.3%
Genesee Valley Regional Market Authority Glen Cove Community Development Agency	1.84 4.96	4.67	5.02	4.93	1.79 4.93	-2.3%
Glens Falls Urban Renewal Agency	0.01	0.02	0.02	0.04	0.05	397.2%
Gloversville Community Development Agency	0.05	0.05	0.04	0.02	0.01	-75.7%
Greater Rochester Sports Authority	0.01					
Green Island Power Authority	3.48	5.74	3.33	3.04	2.86	-17.6%
Harrison Parking Authority		-	-	0.03	0.00	
Haverstraw Urban Renewal Agency Huntington Community Development Agency	- 0.88	2.01	1.72	-		
Incorporated Village of Hempstead Community Development Agency	0.00	0.37	0.32	0.48	0.47	
Islip Resource Recovery Authority	36.46	35.40		37.46	35.62	-2.3%
Ithaca Urban Renewal Agency	0.82	0.83	1.01	0.97	1.13	38.8%
Jamestown Urban Renewal Agency	0.10	0.91	0.92	0.91	0.90	834.6%
Livingston County Water and Sewer Authority	3.44	3.41	3.43	3.59	3.69	7.3%
Mechanicville Community Development Agency	- 0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.12	5236.7%
Middletown Community Development Agency Monroe County Airport Authority	24.67	25.04	24.43	25.17	0.12 26.64	5236.7% 8.0%
Monroe County Water Authority	59.17	59.57	61.00	61.21	62.19	5.1%
Mount Vernon Urban Renewal Agency	1.32	2.43				
Nassau County Bridge Authority	6.12	6.03	6.22	6.54	6.54	6.9%
Nassau County Sewer and Storm Water Finance Authority	161.73	0.04	0.04	0.03	0.03	-100.0%
New York City Educational Construction Fund	7.30	7.73		7.86	10.05	37.6%
New York City Health and Hospitals Corporation New York City Housing Development Corporation	8,018.38 229.89	8,214.97 270.78			10,116.38 380.21	26.2% 65.4%
New York City Municipal Water Finance Authority	43.17	45.92				
New York City School Construction Authority	132.49	144.46		160.51		159.4%
New York City Transitional Finance Authority	3,541.87	4,074.32		4,746.16	3,501.06	-1.2%
New York City Water Board	2,312.05	2,574.28		2,376.06		9.9%
Niagara Falls Urban Renewal Agency	0.06	0.03	0.16		0.03	-40.9%
Niagara Falls Water Board	25.74	27.30		29.22	29.21	13.5%
North Hempstead Solid Waste Management Authority Nyack Parking Authority	17.09 1.55	16.75 1.65		16.25 1.20	1.42	-8.6%
Olean Urban Renewal Agency	0.02	0.02	0.05	0.05	0.03	-8.0%
Oneida County Sports Facility Authority	0.05	0.06		0.07	0.07	47.0%
Oneida-Herkimer Solid Waste Management Authority	20.05	18.83	19.89	19.73	21.25	6.0%
Onondaga County Resource Recovery Agency	35.55	35.02	31.65	32.76	35.26	-0.8%
Onondaga County Water Authority	36.36	37.60		37.07	37.40	2.9%
Orange County Water Authority	0.52	0.45	0.53	0.29	0.81	55.6%
Port Jervis Community Development Agency Poughkeepsie Urban Renewal Agency	1.75					
Rensselaer County Water and Sewer Authority	0.52	0.34	0.31	0.27	0.13	-73.9%
Rochester Urban Renewal Agency						10.070
Rockland County Solid Waste Management Authority	44.00	45.96	47.43	48.15	51.96	18.1%

Table 2: Local Authority Operating Expenses 2014-2018* (\$ millions)

Authorities Budget Office



Authority Name	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	Percent
	Amount	Amount	Amount	Amount	Amount	Change
						2014-2018
Saratoga County Water Authority	4.48	4.23	4.30	4.47	4.47	-0.3%
Saratoga Springs City Center Authority	1.59	1.61	1.67	1.63		
Schenectady Metroplex Development Authority	1.04	0.98	1.09	1.22	1.10	5.9%
Schenectady Urban Renewal Agency	0.01	0.00	0.00	-	-	-100.0%
Suffolk County Judicial Facilities Agency	1.73	1.72	1.72	1.72		
Suffolk County Water Authority	157.22	161.92	167.14	174.36	180.37	14.7%
Syracuse Parking Authority	-	-	-	-	-	
Syracuse Regional Airport Authority	13.86	28.86	28.14	28.42	29.55	113.1%
Syracuse Urban Renewal Agency	6.01	5.88	-	-	-	-100.0%
Town of Erwin Urban Renewal Agency	0.25	0.15	0.20	0.21	0.14	-43.8%
Town of Islip Community Development Agency	1.58	1.45	1.56	1.61	1.54	-2.6%
Town of North Hempstead Community Development Agency	0.94	1.09	2.19	1.21	2.31	146.8%
Town of Riverhead Community Development Agency	0.72	0.74	0.45			
Trust for Cultural Resources of the City of New York	6.08	6.57	6.39	6.95	8.66	42.5%
Trust for Cultural Resources of the County of Onondaga	0.04	0.04	0.05	0.08	0.09	133.9%
Ulster County Resource Recovery Agency	11.50	10.13	11.13	11.76	12.81	11.4%
Upper Mohawk Valley Memorial Auditorium Authority	0.86	1.08	1.22	1.39		
Upper Mohawk Valley Regional Water Board ²	26.81	15.59	15.61	16.51	15.37	-42.7%
Upper Mohawk Valley Regional Water Finance Authority	-	-	0.16	0.01	0.03	
Utica Urban Renewal Agency	0.52	0.33	0.35	0.38	0.45	-12.1%
Victor Urban Renewal Agency	0.00	0.00	0.00	-	0.00	-29.4%
Village of Elmira Heights Urban Renewal Agency	0.08	0.06	0.08	0.06	0.06	-27.6%
Village of Fairport Urban Renewal Agency	2.35	2.36	2.39	2.67	0.54	-76.9%
Village of Patchogue Community Development Agency	2.28	2.38	2.33	2.42	2.50	9.8%
Village of Rockville Centre Community Development Agency	0.33	-	0.08	-		
Water Authority of Great Neck North	5.86	6.44	6.66	7.10	6.87	17.4%
Water Authority of Southeastern Nassau County	-	-	-	-	-	
Water Authority of Western Nassau County	10.61	10.78	10.62	11.41	11.58	9.1%
Wayne County Water and Sewer Authority	5.77	6.06	7.41	7.85	8.45	46.5%
White Plains Urban Renewal Agency	0.33	0.41	0.37	0.37	0.37	14.0%
Wilton Water and Sewer Authority	1.32	1.33	1.51	1.50		
Yonkers Community Development Agency	0.36	0.14	1.23	0.43	0.13	-65.5%
Yonkers Parking Authority	6.05	6.32	6.85	7.03	6.05	0.0%
	Total: 15,361.41	16,208.40	17,335.09	18,405.41	17,825.46	16.0%

*Data reported as of June 4, 2019. Data shown as 0.00 indicates an authority had operating expenses, but they round to \$0.00 million. Data shown as - indicates an authority reported \$0 in operating expenses. ¹ City of Hudson Community Development and Planning Agency changed their FYE Date for the FY2014 reporting period. FY2014 data is for 15 months.

² Upper Mohawk Valley Regional Water Board changed their FYE Date for the FY2014 reporting period. FY2014 data is for 21 months.

Exhibit F



	(\$ milli	ons)				
Authority Name	2014 Debt	2015 Debt	2016 Debt	2017 Debt	2018 Debt	Percent
	Outstanding	Outstanding	Outstanding	Outstanding	Outstanding	Change
						2014 - 2018
Albany Community Development Agency	0.59	0.51	0.43	0.35		
Albany County Airport Authority	105.05	96.78	88.22	77.32	90.49	-13.9%
Albany Municipal Water Finance Authority	46.97	42.34	35.58	42.88		
Albany Parking Authority	16.58	15.61	14.63	13.38	9.88	-40.5%
Albany Port District Commission	0.00	-	-	-	-	
American Museum of Natural History Planetarium Authority	0.57	0.57	0.57	0.57	0.57	0.0%
Buffalo Municipal Water Finance Authority	152.61	143.42	136.92	128.52	119.89	-21.4%
Buffalo Sewer Authority	36.89	43.86	41.83	40.19	38.51	4.4%
Buffalo Urban Renewal Agency	6.03	3.87	0.00	-	-	-100.0%
Cayuga County Water and Sewer Authority	5.98	5.66	5.35	5.05	4.96	-17.1%
Central New York Regional Market Authority	1.02	0.95	0.89	0.85		
Clifton Park Water Authority	19.79	18.62	17.41	15.94	14.64	-26.0%
Dutchess County Resource Recovery Agency	16.14	15.22	14.24	12.13	10.96	-32.1%
Dutchess County Water and Wastewater Authority	35.85	34.70	38.95	36.17	39.30	9.6%
Elmira Urban Renewal Agency	0.21	0.11	0.00	-	-	-100.0%
Erie County Water Authority	74.97	66.45	51.56	42.97	58.49	-22.0%
Franklin County Solid Waste Management Authority	22.28	14.51	12.31	22.91	21.39	-4.0%
Freeport Community Development Agency	0.00	1.16	1.16	-		
Gloversville Community Development Agency	0.15	0.15	0.15	0.15	0.15	0.0%
Green Island Power Authority	15.58	14.79	13.95	12.98	12.06	-22.6%
Haverstraw Urban Renewal Agency	2.73	2.60	2.47	2.32		
Incorporated Village of Hempstead Community Development Agency		1.57	1.57	1.44	1.44	
Islip Resource Recovery Authority	9.43	8.34	7.23	6.10	4.94	-47.6%
Ithaca Urban Renewal Agency	0.75	0.75	0.72	0.69	0.63	-16.0%
Livingston County Water and Sewer Authority	4.48	4.34	4.19	4.04	3.89	-13.3%
Monroe County Airport Authority	37.11	30.41	23.37	15.97	10.19	-72.5%
Monroe County Water Authority	145.34	142.39	139.01	135.13	130.75	-10.0%
Nassau County Bridge Authority	9.90	9.68	9.45	0.23	8.73	-11.8%
Nassau County Sewer and Storm Water Finance Authority	157.20	154.26	144.06	133.71	122.90	-21.8%
New York City Educational Construction Fund	266.16	264.19	240.41	235.88	231.20	-13.1%
New York City Health and Hospitals Corporation	880.21	833.41	784.42	746.77	679.68	-22.8%
New York City Housing Development Corporation	9,200.76	10,099.42	9,978.06	10,649.95	11,664.45	26.8%
New York City Municipal Water Finance Authority	29,872.18	29,570.91	29,714.29	30,030.40	30,015.40	0.5%
New York City Transitional Finance Authority	31,038.82	33,850.11	37,357.48	40,695.65	43,355.31	39.7%
Niagara Falls Water Board	105.87	105.72	105.72	101.81	97.71	-7.7%
North Hempstead Solid Waste Management Authority	3.44	2.61	1.76	0.89		
Nyack Parking Authority	0.17	0.13	0.08	0.04	0.00	-100.0%
Oneida-Herkimer Solid Waste Management Authority	36.93	33.24	30.79	24.78	22.46	-39.2%
Onondaga County Resource Recovery Agency	46.02	54.56	52.82	51.03	49.17	6.8%
Onondaga County Water Authority	62.00	64.26	60.12	56.99	53.77	-13.3%
Rensselaer County Water and Sewer Authority	13.80	10.18	10.04	5.97	0.00	-100.0%
Rockland County Solid Waste Management Authority	55.76	51.77	47.60	40.60	34.54	-38.1%
Saratoga County Water Authority	46.46	45.93	44.98	44.30	43.60	-6.1%
Schenectady Metroplex Development Authority	56.33	54.62	51.62	56.57	53.35	-5.3%
Suffolk County Judicial Facilities Agency	66.23	63.94	63.05	60.35		
Suffolk County Water Authority	745.84	726.21	814.91	806.21	802.00	7.5%
Town of Islip Community Development Agency	0.00	-	-	-	-	11070
Trust for Cultural Resources of the City of New York	1,645.80	1,542.71	1,567.20	1,530.14	1,551.56	-5.7%
Trust for Cultural Resources of the County of Onondaga	214.06	211.24	209.42	236.97	233.00	8.8%
Ulster County Resource Recovery Agency	14.18	12.11	9.98	7.85	5.45	-61.6%
Upper Mohawk Valley Memorial Auditorium Authority	0.69	0.72	0.58	0.52	5.10	0.1070
Upper Mohawk Valley Regional Water Finance Authority	62.34	58.70	61.92	63.20	64.68	3.8%
Water Authority of Great Neck North	31.07	30.57	30.11	27.44	26.58	-14.5%
Water Authority of Western Nassau County	64.52	112.59	110.20	107.92	105.54	63.6%
Wayne County Water and Sewer Authority	04.32	0.78	0.67	2.12	1.88	111.9%
	0.89	0.78	0.07	-	1.00	111.9%
Wilton Water and Sewer Authority	0.57	0.29	0.00	- 0.00		-100.0%
Yonkers Community Development Agency	2.32		2.02	1.85	- 1.68	-100.0%
Yonkers Parking Authority						
Total:			82,156.76 during the reporting	86,338.12	89,797.69	19.0%

Table 7: Local Authority (Other) Debt Outstanding 2014-2018* (\$ millions)

 Total:
 75,457.89
 78,677.03
 82,156.76
 86,338.12
 89,797.69
 1

 * Data reported as of June 4, 2019. Data shown as 0.00 indicates an authority had debt, but paid it off during the reporting year or that the authority had debt, but it rounds to \$0.00 million. Data shown as - indicates no debt outstanding during reporting period.
 82,156.76
 86,338.12
 89,797.69
 1



Authority Name	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	Percent
	Amount	Amount	Amount	Amount	Amount	Change
						2014-2018
Saratoga County Water Authority	4.48	4.23	4.30	4.47	4.47	-0.3%
Saratoga Springs City Center Authority	1.59	1.61	1.67	1.63		
Schenectady Metroplex Development Authority	1.04	0.98	1.09	1.22	1.10	5.9%
Schenectady Urban Renewal Agency	0.01	0.00	0.00	-	-	-100.0%
Suffolk County Judicial Facilities Agency	1.73	1.72	1.72	1.72		
Suffolk County Water Authority	157.22	161.92	167.14	174.36	180.37	14.7%
Syracuse Parking Authority	-	-	-	-	-	
Syracuse Regional Airport Authority	13.86	28.86	28.14	28.42	29.55	113.1%
Syracuse Urban Renewal Agency	6.01	5.88	-	-	-	-100.0%
Town of Erwin Urban Renewal Agency	0.25	0.15	0.20	0.21	0.14	-43.8%
Town of Islip Community Development Agency	1.58	1.45	1.56	1.61	1.54	-2.6%
Town of North Hempstead Community Development Agency	0.94	1.09	2.19	1.21	2.31	146.8%
Town of Riverhead Community Development Agency	0.72	0.74	0.45			
Trust for Cultural Resources of the City of New York	6.08	6.57	6.39	6.95	8.66	42.5%
Trust for Cultural Resources of the County of Onondaga	0.04	0.04	0.05	0.08	0.09	133.9%
Ulster County Resource Recovery Agency	11.50	10.13	11.13	11.76	12.81	11.4%
Upper Mohawk Valley Memorial Auditorium Authority	0.86	1.08	1.22	1.39		
Upper Mohawk Valley Regional Water Board ²	26.81	15.59	15.61	16.51	15.37	-42.7%
Upper Mohawk Valley Regional Water Finance Authority	-	-	0.16	0.01	0.03	
Utica Urban Renewal Agency	0.52	0.33	0.35	0.38	0.45	-12.1%
Victor Urban Renewal Agency	0.00	0.00	0.00	-	0.00	-29.4%
Village of Elmira Heights Urban Renewal Agency	0.08	0.06	0.08	0.06	0.06	-27.6%
Village of Fairport Urban Renewal Agency	2.35	2.36	2.39	2.67	0.54	-76.9%
Village of Patchogue Community Development Agency	2.28	2.38	2.33	2.42	2.50	9.8%
Village of Rockville Centre Community Development Agency	0.33	-	0.08	-		
Water Authority of Great Neck North	5.86	6.44	6.66	7.10	6.87	17.4%
Water Authority of Southeastern Nassau County	-	-	-	-	-	
Water Authority of Western Nassau County	10.61	10.78	10.62	11.41	11.58	9.1%
Wayne County Water and Sewer Authority	5.77	6.06	7.41	7.85	8.45	46.5%
White Plains Urban Renewal Agency	0.33	0.41	0.37	0.37	0.37	14.0%
Wilton Water and Sewer Authority	1.32	1.33	1.51	1.50		
Yonkers Community Development Agency	0.36	0.14	1.23	0.43	0.13	-65.5%
Yonkers Parking Authority	6.05	6.32	6.85	7.03	6.05	0.0%
	Total: 15,361.41	16,208.40	17,335.09	18,405.41	17,825.46	16.0%

*Data reported as of June 4, 2019. Data shown as 0.00 indicates an authority had operating expenses, but they round to \$0.00 million. Data shown as - indicates an authority reported \$0 in operating expenses. ¹ City of Hudson Community Development and Planning Agency changed their FYE Date for the FY2014 reporting period. FY2014 data is for 15 months.

² Upper Mohawk Valley Regional Water Board changed their FYE Date for the FY2014 reporting period. FY2014 data is for 21 months.

Exhibit G

County	Number of IDAs
ALBANY, NY	7
ALLEGANY, NY	1
BRONX, NY	
BROOME, NY	1
CATTARAUGUS, NY	2
CAYUGA, NY	2
CHAUTAUQUA, NY	2
CHEMUNG, NY	1
CHENANGO, NY	1
CLINTON, NY	1
COLUMBIA, NY	2
CORTLAND, NY	1
DELAWARE, NY	1
DUTCHESS, NY	2
ERIE, NY	6
ESSEX, NY	1
FRANKLIN, NY	2
FULTON, NY	1
GENESEE, NY	1
GREENE, NY	1
HAMILTON, NY	1
HERKIMER, NY	1
JEFFERSON, NY	1
KINGS, NY	
LEWIS, NY	1
LIVINGSTON, NY	1
MADISON, NY	1
MONROE, NY	2
MONTGOMERY, NY	2
NASSAU, NY	3
NEW YORK, NY	1
NIAGARA, NY	3
ONEIDA, NY	2
ONONDAGA, NY	2
ONTARIO, NY	2
ORANGE, NY	6
ORLEANS, NY	1
OSWEGO, NY	1
OTSEGO, NY	1
PUTNAM, NY	1
QUEENS, NY	
RENSSELAER, NY	4
RICHMOND, NY	
ROCKLAND, NY	1

SAINT LAWRENCE, NY	1
SARATOGA, NY	4
SCHENECTADY, NY	2
SCHOHARIE, NY	1
SCHUYLER, NY	1
SENECA, NY	1
STEUBEN, NY	3
SUFFOLK, NY	5
SULLIVAN, NY	1
TIOGA, NY	1
TOMPKINS, NY	2
ULSTER, NY	1
WARREN, NY	2
WASHINGTON, NY	1
WAYNE, NY	1
WESTCHESTER, NY	7
WYOMING, NY	1
YATES, NY	1
Grand Total	110

*Warren and Washington County IDA counted in both counties

Exhibit H



Percent Change 2014-2018 3 17.8% 936.7% 5 68.1% 331.9% 0 8.4% 7 55.7% 318.3% 1 21.7% 545.0% 2 16.2% 467.1% 4 573.2% 320.7%
2014-2018 3 17.8% 9 -36.7% 5 68.1% 3 -31.9% 0 8.4% 7 55.7% 3 -18.3% 1 21.7% 5 -45.0% 2 16.2% 4 -67.1% 4 573.2% 3 -20.7%
3 17.8% 9 -36.7% 5 68.1% 3 -31.9% 0 8.4% 7 55.7% 3 -18.3% 1 21.7% 5 -45.0% 2 16.2% 4 -67.1% 4 573.2% 3 -20.7%
9 -36.7% 5 68.1% 3 -31.9% 0 8.4% 7 55.7% 3 -18.3% 1 21.7% 5 -45.0% 2 16.2% 4 -67.1% 4 573.2% 3 -20.7%
5 68.1% 3 -31.9% 0 8.4% 7 55.7% 3 -18.3% 1 21.7% 5 -45.0% 2 16.2% 4 -67.1% 4 573.2% 3 -20.7%
3 -31.9% 0 8.4% 7 55.7% 3 -18.3% 1 21.7% 5 -45.0% 2 16.2% 4 -67.1% 4 573.2% 3 -20.7%
D 8.4% 7 55.7% 3 -18.3% 1 21.7% 5 -45.0% 2 16.2% 4 -67.1% 4 573.2% 3 -20.7%
7 55.7% 3 -18.3% 1 21.7% 5 -45.0% 2 16.2% 4 -67.1% 4 573.2% 3 -20.7%
3 -18.3% 1 21.7% 5 -45.0% 2 16.2% 4 -67.1% 4 573.2% 3 -20.7%
3 -18.3% 1 21.7% 5 -45.0% 2 16.2% 4 -67.1% 4 573.2% 3 -20.7%
1 21.7% 6 -45.0% 2 16.2% 4 -67.1% 4 573.2% 3 -20.7%
6 -45.0% 2 16.2% 4 -67.1% 4 573.2% 3 -20.7%
2 16.2% 4 -67.1% 4 573.2% 3 -20.7%
4 -67.1% 4 573.2% 3 -20.7%
4 573.2% 3 -20.7%
3 -20.7%
-
4 -58.3%
6 1,704.5%
2 12.5%
9 1,543.5%
3 16.6%
3 21.1%
-46.8%
6 180.8%
7 31.2%
4 -35.0%
4 -13.9%
3 -73.4%
2 -3.2%
3 12.7%
7 43.1%
4 1.0%
5 625.6%
60.5%
255.4%
2 -78.4%
4 -41.0%
-10.5%
-0.7%
4 292.9%
1 3.1%
1 -13.4%
33.8%
-30.2%
2
-11.2%
1 15.5%
4 110.3%
+ IU70

Table 3: IDA Authority Operating Expenses 2014-2018* (\$ millions)



Authority Name	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	Percent
,	Amount	Amount	Amount	Amount	Amount	Change
						2014-2018
Madison County IDA	0.31	0.31	0.35	0.36	0.33	8.4%
Mechanicville-Stillwater IDA	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.00	0.01	-29.5%
Middletown IDA	0.00	0.03	0.03	0.01	0.01	84.5%
Monroe IDA	0.86	0.64	0.71	0.96	0.99	15.9%
Montgomery County IDA	0.08	0.26	0.15	0.66	0.20	136.3%
Mount Pleasant IDA	0.00	0.00	0.04	0.05	0.14	10,861.7%
Mount Vernon IDA	0.18	0.18	0.31	2.08		
Nassau County IDA	1.88	1.93	2.11	1.74	2.26	20.5%
New Rochelle IDA	0.16	0.21	0.21	0.27	0.63	298.3%
New York City IDA	6.22	4.77	4.19	3.52	3.46	-44.4%
Newburgh IDA	0.10	0.11	0.09	0.07	0.16	64.1%
Niagara County IDA	1.45	1.34	1.25	1.23	1.10	-23.9%
Niagara Town IDA	0.02	0.02	0.03	0.03	0.02	28.0%
North Greenbush IDA	0.01	0.01	0.04	0.02	0.02	36.4%
Oneida County IDA	0.18	0.19	0.19	0.18	0.18	-1.4%
Onondaga County IDA	0.75	0.89	0.76	0.75	2.83	276.8%
Ontario County IDA	0.97	1.11	1.07	1.02	0.92	-5.4%
Orange County IDA	1.25	1.28	1.88	2.16	2.26	81.1%
Orleans County IDA	0.53	0.47	0.42	0.47	0.52	-2.6%
Oswego County IDA	0.38	0.47	0.60	0.48	0.58	54.1%
Otsego County IDA	1.12	0.77	0.95	0.65	0.49	-56.2%
Peekskill IDA	0.03	0.02	0.06	0.09	0.10	233.8%
Port Chester IDA	0.03	0.12	0.07	0.12	0.07	137.5%
Port Jervis IDA	0.01	0.01	0.00	0.00	-	-100.0%
Poughkeepsie IDA	0.01	0.01	0.03	0.07	0.05	772.0%
Putnam County IDA	0.02	0.03	0.02	0.05	0.03	43.0%
Rensselaer County IDA	1.50	1.48	1.55	1.74	1.85	23.2%
Riverhead IDA	0.22	0.21	0.23	0.24	0.24	11.6%
Rockland County IDA	0.26	0.27	0.29	0.27	0.27	0.8%
Salamanca IDA	0.97	0.76	0.82	0.80	0.79	-17.9%
Saratoga County IDA	0.14	0.68	0.20	0.11	0.10	-31.4%
Schenectady County IDA	0.04	0.03	0.02	0.03	0.01	-60.8%
Schoharie County IDA	0.09	0.06	0.10	0.07	0.12	37.8%
Schuyler County IDA	0.07	0.15	0.10	0.10	0.10	38.8%
Seneca County IDA	0.61	0.59	0.73	0.47	0.50	-18.9%
St. Lawrence County IDA	1.02	0.91	0.82	0.76	0.70	-31.0%
Steuben County IDA	0.95	0.75	0.56	0.58	0.71	-25.0%
Suffolk County IDA	1.32	1.29	1.27	1.30	0.82	-38.1%
Sullivan County IDA	0.60	0.57	0.48	0.48	0.62	3.5%
Syracuse IDA	5.11	6.07	2.27	0.87	10.71	109.9%
Tioga County IDA	0.38	0.29	0.50	0.71	0.95	149.8%
Tompkins County IDA	0.11	0.20	0.32	0.36	0.36	224.4%
Town of Erwin IDA	0.03	0.03	0.02	0.03	0.05	61.7%
Town of Lockport IDA	0.15	0.14	0.15	0.14	0.22	47.2%
Town of Malone IDA	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.02	15.6%
Town of Montgomery IDA	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01		70 50/
Troy IDA	0.67	0.68	0.16	0.17	0.14	-79.5%
Ulster County IDA	0.29	0.07	0.11	0.16	0.17	-39.7%
Village of Groton IDA	0.01	0.01	-			
Wallkill IDA	0.00	0.02	0.03	0.15		
Warren and Washington	0.11	0.15	0.14	0.14		00.001
Wayne County IDA	0.57	0.54	0.58	0.56	0.21	-63.6%
Westchester County IDA	1.18	1.07	1.16	2.86		44.4.464
Wyoming County IDA	0.27	0.33	0.50	0.64	0.58	114.1%
Yates County IDA	0.69	0.61	0.68	0.68	0.69	-0.2%
Yonkers IDA	1.29	0.82	1.36	1.57	2.03	57.5%
Total:	60.06	60.08	58.95	65.04 rity had opera	69.66	16.0%

*Data reported as of June 4, 2019. Data shown as 0.00 indicates an authority had operating expenses, but they round to \$0.00 million. Data shown as - indicates an authority reported \$0 in operating expenses. ¹ Hornell IDA changed their FYE date for the FY2014 reporting period. FY2014 data is for 21 months.

Exhibit I



		(\$ millions)				
Authority Name	2014 Debt	2015 Debt	2016 Debt	2017 Debt	2018 Debt	Percent
	Outstanding	Outstanding	Outstanding	Outstanding	Outstanding	Change
						2014 - 2018
Albany City IDA	438.10	198.91	176.62	117.31	108.04	-75.3%
Albany County IDA	18.66	17.38	16.73	15.24	14.60	-21.7%
Allegany IDA	18.75	9.57	9.55	8.46	7.17	-61.8%
Amherst IDA	19.83	18.56	17.25	6.15	5.23	-73.6%
Amsterdam IDA	1.07	0.87	0.80	12.72	12.63	1085.3%
Auburn IDA	2.20	2.09	1.97	1.85		
Babylon IDA	42.27	33.94	25.83	17.60	8.95	-78.8%
Bethlehem IDA	12.32	12.02	11.70	11.28	10.93	-11.3%
Brookhaven IDA	107.84	104.94	100.97	87.04	30.02	-72.2%
Broome IDA	59.80	0.48	0.00	-	-	-100.0%
Cattaraugus IDA	14.10	13.29	5.50	4.99	0.92	-93.5%
Cayuga IDA	0.00	0.00	-	-	-	
Chautauqua IDA	96.45	93.66	92.07	79.05	71.73	-25.6%
Chemung IDA	38.73	12.28	11.90	10.02	8.56	-77.9%
Chenango IDA	0.00	-	-	-	-	
City of Schenectady IDA	37.10	33.09	31.25	4.64	4.48	-87.9%
Clarence IDA	0.00	-	-	-	-	
Clifton Park IDA	0.00	-	-	-	-	
Clinton County IDA	52.66	40.87	2.82	2.59	2.45	-95.3%
Cohoes IDA	4.54	4.38	4.22	4.05	3.88	-14.6%
Colonie IDA	6.35	6.11	5.81	5.16	4.86	-23.5%
Columbia IDA	12.89	12.25	11.60	10.93	10.21	-20.8%
Concord IDA	0.00	-	-	-		
Delaware County IDA	9.52	8.36	7.14	5.86	4.52	-52.6%
Dutchess County IDA	252.78	234.73	215.16	179.54	157.46	-37.7%
Erie County IDA	1,163.80	1,019.75	1,097.95	1,013.36	945.90	-18.7%
Essex County IDA	4.18	3.85	3.71	3.71	3.71	-11.3%
Fairport IDA	0.30	0.30	0.00	-		-100.0%
Franklin County IDA	13.89	12.45	10.91	7.79	6.40	-53.9%
Fulton County IDA	7.42	6.78	3.84	2.33	2.21	-70.2%
Genesee County IDA	14.08	13.32	12.53	11.72	10.89	-22.7%
Geneva IDA	57.56	57.56	57.56	0.00	10.69	-22.170
Glen Cove IDA	15.15	15.15	0.00	-	-	-100.0%
Glens Falls IDA		10.90	0.00		-	-100.0%
Green Island IDA	<u>11.18</u> 13.91	13.76	13.60	- 16.00	- 15.75	13.2%
Greene County IDA	0.57	0.51	0.46	0.43	0.36	-36.1%
Guilderland IDA	5.29	4.65	4.29	35.75	35.37	568.6%
Hamburg IDA	1.13	4.65	0.50	0.00		-100.0%
	1.13	135.88	133.07	110.90	- 90.95	-100.0%
Hempstead IDA Herkimer IDA						-48.8%
	16.84	14.59	8.54	7.43	5.19	-09.2%
	1.91	0.81 16.78	0.70	0.63	0.17	-90.9%
Islip IDA	56.99		15.28	15.28	0.1.00	E04 C0/
Jefferson IDA	3.48	28.38	27.46	25.92	24.09	591.6%
	32.34	25.01	26.95	26.29	25.78	-20.3%
Lewis County IDA	0.01				-	-100.0%
Livingston County IDA	9.62			6.23	5.14	-46.6%
Madison County IDA	110.78			3.96	3.58	-96.8%
Middletown IDA	0.75			-	-	-100.0%
Monroe IDA	429.65			357.01	675.58	57.2%
Montgomery County IDA	0.30			-	-	-100.0%
Mount Pleasant IDA	21.06	20.11	19.12	18.09	17.01	-19.2%
Mount Vernon IDA	34.14		14.66	11.53		
Nassau County IDA	525.29	460.92	431.52	388.83	372.74	-29.0%
New Rochelle IDA	68.48			61.28	59.41	-13.2%
New York City IDA	6,269.17	5,549.31	4,688.97	3,294.42	3,062.68	-51.1%
Newburgh IDA	34.61	33.12	31.53	29.80	28.42	-17.9%
Niagara County IDA	42.90			34.78	26.62	-37.9%
Niagara Town IDA	0.00			0.00	0.00	0.0%
North Greenbush IDA	1.91	1.65	1.50	1.24	1.04	-45.5%

Table 8: IDA Debt Outstanding 2014-2018* (\$ millions)

Authorities Budget Office



Authority Name	2014 Debt	2015 Debt	2016 Debt	2017 Debt	2018 Debt	Percent
	Outstanding	Outstanding	Outstanding	Outstanding	Outstanding	Change
			-	-	-	2014 - 2018
Oneida County IDA	37.80	26.09	9.84	165.63	68.60	81.5%
Onondaga County IDA	165.57	153.37	145.92	131.49	128.44	-22.4%
Ontario County IDA	44.24	42.75	41.68	31.27	30.22	-31.7%
Orange County IDA	182.99	50.31	49.08	47.99	45.20	-75.3%
Orleans County IDA	10.19	9.73	8.82	7.86	6.90	-32.3%
Oswego County IDA	21.34	19.96	18.46	17.53	16.69	-21.8%
Otsego County IDA	10.67	1.14	0.99	0.69	0.68	-93.6%
Peekskill IDA	24.15	23.66	23.14	22.70	22.29	-7.7%
Port Chester IDA	18.00	17.78	17.55	17.30	13.52	-24.9%
Port Jervis IDA	6.56	6.56	0.00	-	-	-100.0%
Poughkeepsie IDA	3.57	3.47	3.35	3.19	3.09	-13.6%
Putnam County IDA	26.37	21.50	20.22	10.17	9.21	-65.1%
Rensselaer County IDA	111.49	101.79	66.27	57.66	52.74	-52.7%
Riverhead IDA	64.06	60.05	56.56	53.01	41.58	-35.1%
Rockland County IDA	84.40	61.92	57.17	53.84	50.02	-40.7%
Salamanca IDA	0.42	0.28	0.20	0.12	0.09	-79.6%
Saratoga County IDA	98.33	91.33	83.35	49.43	40.40	-58.9%
Schenectady County IDA	17.96	9.41	9.02	8.64	8.24	-54.1%
Schoharie County IDA	0.00	0.00	0.00	-	-	-100.0%
Schuyler County IDA	0.88	0.72	0.55	0.37	0.19	-78.7%
Seneca County IDA	28.91	27.03	6.56	5.44	4.10	-85.8%
St. Lawrence County IDA	102.71	97.92	85.42	10.29	9.43	-90.8%
Steuben County IDA	0.00	-	-	-	-	
Suffolk County IDA	406.43	263.00	183.75	111.48	99.56	-75.5%
Sullivan County IDA	0.55	0.40	0.71	0.64	0.57	3.2%
Syracuse IDA	716.37	697.67	660.91	626.68	693.27	-3.2%
Tioga County IDA	1.14	1.05	0.94	0.82	0.64	-44.1%
Tompkins County IDA	247.55	196.74	188.30	167.86	159.14	-35.7%
Town of Lockport IDA	4.14	0.12	0.11	9.12	9.66	133.6%
Troy IDA	28.34	25.00	25.00	25.00	25.00	-11.8%
Ulster County IDA	77.64	75.62	73.48	12.10	10.45	-86.5%
Warren and Washington Counties IDA	65.61	11.70	10.74	9.75		
Wayne County IDA	5.06	5.06	0.00	-	-	-100.0%
Westchester County IDA	337.30	219.94	231.01	315.08		
Wyoming County IDA	2.06	1.93	1.80	1.65	1.49	-27.7%
Yates County IDA	6.05	5.33	4.56	3.79	2.88	-52.3%
Yonkers IDA	226.46	208.87	195.96	189.34	170.90	-24.5%
Total:	13,577.69	11,404.38	10,166.86	8,237.08	7,610.80	-43.9%

* Data reported as of June 4, 2019. Data shown as 0.00 indicates an authority had debt, but paid it off during the reporting year or that the authority had debt, but it rounds to \$0.00 million. Data shown as - indicates no debt outstanding during reporting period.

¹ Hornell IDA changed their FYE date for the FY2014 reporting period. FY2014 data is for 21 months.

Exhibit J

County	LDC
ALBANY, NY	8
ALLEGANY, NY	2
BRONX, NY	1
BROOME, NY	3
CATTARAUGUS, NY	4
CAYUGA, NY	3
CHAUTAUQUA, NY	5
CHEMUNG, NY	5 2 2 2 5 5 5 2 2 2 2 1
CHENANGO, NY	2
CLINTON, NY	5
COLUMBIA, NY	5
CORTLAND, NY	2
DELAWARE, NY	2
DUTCHESS, NY	1
ERIE, NY	10
ESSEX, NY	2
FRANKLIN, NY	4
FULTON, NY	3
GENESEE, NY	4
GREENE, NY	4
HAMILTON, NY	
HERKIMER, NY	
JEFFERSON, NY	7
KINGS, NY	2
LEWIS, NY	1
LIVINGSTON, NY	2
MADISON, NY	4
MONROE, NY	5
MONTGOMERY, NY	1
NASSAU, NY	6
NEW YORK, NY	13
NIAGARA, NY	8
ONEIDA, NY	7
ONONDAGA, NY	6
ONTARIO, NY	8
ORANGE, NY	9
ORLEANS, NY	4
OSWEGO, NY	2
OTSEGO, NY	2 2 2 2 2 5 1
PUTNAM, NY	2
QUEENS, NY	2
RENSSELAER, NY	5
RICHMOND, NY	
ROCKLAND, NY	4

Grand Total	257
YATES, NY	3
WYOMING, NY	2
WESTCHESTER, NY	13
WAYNE, NY	2
WASHINGTON, NY	2
WARREN, NY	7
ULSTER, NY	6
TOMPKINS, NY	4
TIOGA, NY	1
SULLIVAN, NY	7
SUFFOLK, NY	10
STEUBEN, NY	3
SENECA, NY	4
SCHUYLER, NY	1
SCHOHARIE, NY	2
SCHENECTADY, NY	2
SARATOGA, NY	6
SAINT LAWRENCE, NY	9

*Total does not account for LDCs located across multiple counties

Exhibit K



Table 4: LDC Authority Operating Expenses 2014-2018* (\$ millions)

Authority Name 2014	(\$ mil	llions)						
Alary CSO Pool Communities Corporation 30 30 270 224 288 Alary Courty Business Development Corporation 0.31 0.68 0.44 0.22 -28.8 0.22 -28.8 0.22 -28.8 0.22 -28.8 0.22 -28.8 0.22 -28.8 0.22 -28.8 0.22 -28.8 0.22 -28.8 0.22 -28.8 0.22 -28.8 0.22 -28.8 0.22 0.24 0.05 0.42 0.11	Authority Name							
Altery CSO POD Communities Corporation 0.1 3.00 2.70 2.48 Many County Lines Descipants 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.02 17.440 % Many County Lines Descipants 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.02 17.440 % Many County Lines Descipants 0.01<		Anount	Allount	Amount	Anount	Anount	•	
Altant Courty Guariness Development Corporation 0.31 0.68 0.45 0.22 -28.8% Altanty Courty Carel Resource Corporation 0.03 1.20 4.80 7.49 5.40 Altanty Courty Carel Resource Corporation 0.04 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 Altanty Courty Carel Resource Corporation 0.04 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 Altanty Courty Guard Resource Corporation 0.04 0.01	Albany CSO Pool Communities Corporation			3.03	2.76	2.64		
Altany Courty Land Bank Corporation 0.30 1.20 4.80 7.46 Allegany Courty Land Bank Corporation 0.04 0.01 0.02 0.01 0.02 0.01 0.02 0.01 0.02 0.01 0.02 0.01 0.02 0.01 0.02 0.01 0.02 0.01 0.02 0.01 0.02 0.01 0.02 0.01 0.02 0.01 0.01 0.02 0.01		0.31	0.68	0.45	0.23	0.22	-28.8%	
Allegany Courty Lapital Resource Corporation 0.04 0.01 0.01 Autom Local Development Corporation 0.04 0.01 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.01 1.01 <		0.00		0.01		0.02		
Allogiany, County Land Bark Corporation 0.0 0.01 0.02 0.01 0.02 0.01 0.02 0.01 0.02 0.01 0.02 0.01 0.02 0.01 0.02 0.01 0.02 0.01 0.02 0.01 0.02 0.01 0.02 0.01 0.02 0.01 0.02 0.01 0.02 0.01 0.01 0.02 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.02 0.01	Albany County Land Bank Corporation		0.30	1.20	4.80	7.45		
Alubri Incial Development Corporation 0.04 0.01	Allegany County Capital Resource Corporation	-	0.04	-	-	0.00		
BIRA NC Bire NC <t< td=""><td>Allegany County Land Bank Corporation</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>0.11</td><td></td></t<>	Allegany County Land Bank Corporation					0.11		
Batas Development Corporation 0.08 0.12 0.11 0.12 0.20 Bindle Local Development Corporation 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.02 0.03 0.01 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.03 0.01 0.02 0.03 0.03 0.01 0.02 0.02 0.03 0.03 0.01 0.02 0.02 0.03		0.04	0.01	0.01	0.01		-81.8%	
Bathel Local Development Corporation 0.04 0.02 0.04 0.03 0.03 0.13 1.31 4% Born Overall Economic Development Corporation 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.02 0.03 0.03 0.03 0.03 0.03 0.03 0.03 0.03 0.03 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.05 0.03 2.09 0.05 0.03 2.09 0.05 0.03 2.04 0.04 0.05 0.03 2.04 0.05 0.03 2.04 0.05 <								
Binghambor Local Development Corporation 0.13 0.17 0.18 0.33 0.31 13.1 34.95 Bront Local Development Corporation 1.99 3.30 2.65 2.38 2.75 38.25% Bront Ventile Flac Corporation 1.09 1.30 1.58.35 18.64 31.42 2.08.45% Bront Ventile Flac Corporation 0.11 0.01 0.00 0.01	· · · ·							
Boton Local Development Corporation 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.02 Broak Varial Economic Development Corporation 10.99 33.00 18.84 31.12 20.83 2.76 38.2% Broak Varial Economic Development Corporation 45.19 44.64 47.9% 48.37 47.9% Broak Varial Economic Development Corporation 0.11 0.02 0.23 0.33 2.85 2.85 2.85 2.85 2.87 8.47 55.4 5.75 2.87 8.47 55.4 5.75 5.75 2.87 8.47 55.4 5.75 <								
Brown Coreall Economic Development Corporation 1.99 3.30 2.63 2.83 2.75 38.2% Brooklyn Bridge Park Corporation 45.18 44.60 46.77 66.83 47.9% Brooklyn Nawy Yard Dewelopment Corporation 0.90 0.12 0.22 0.39 0.285 249.6% Brooken Courty Local Development Corporation 0.11 0.07 0.08 2.84 75.44						0.31	131.4%	
Brooklyn Kay Yard Development Corporation 10.09 13.00 15.83 18.64 31.12 228.4% Broome Courty Land Bank 0.09 0.12 0.23 0.39 298.9% Broome Courty Land Bank 0.09 0.12 0.23 0.39 0.35 298.9% Buffielo Uran Development Corporation 1.10 1.06 1.27 1.44 21.3% Buffielo Uran Development Corporation 0.21 1.70 2.07 3.38 1.476.9% Business Development Corporation 0.21 1.70 2.07 3.38 1.476.9% Business Development Corporation 0.02 0.27 0.25 0.19 0.19 4.76 0.6% 0.00 <t< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></t<>								
Brookey, Nawy Yard Dewelopment Corporation 44.60 44.67 64.87 44.87 Broome Courty Load Bank 0.09 0.12 0.23 0.03 0.35 298.9% Broome Courty Load Development Corporation 0.11 0.07 0.06 0.07 0.18 60.7% Buffab out Chen Courty Mustral Land Development Corporation 0.21 7.79 0.48 0.50 0.27 1.34 1.75 1.39 2.27 8.47 59.86% Buffab out Chen County Mustral Land Development Corporation 0.47 0.48 0.50 0.27 1.34 6.7% Carton Coptal Resource Corporation 0.47 0.48 0.50 0.47 1.44 6.8 Carthage Industrial Development Corporation 1.24 1.37 1.40 1.30 1.37 1.46 9.8 Cartage Industrial Development Corporation 9.88 16.48 13.19 8.81 16.86 9.9% Cartage Industrial Development Corporation 0.01 0.01 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.04 0.09 0.01								
Broome Courty Land Bank 0.00 0.12 0.23 0.35 286 078 Burdia Dican Development Corporation 1.10 1.05 1.27 1.44 21.3% Burdia Dican Development Corporation 1.33 1.75 1.39 2.27 8.47 25.48 8.48 Burdia on at fice County Regional Development Corporation 0.02 1.78 0.48 0.55 0.66 0.43 3.8 1.475 8.49 0.55 0.66 0.43 3.8 1.475 0.66 0.44 3.8 1.475 0.66 0.43 3.8 1.475 0.66 0.44 3.8 1.475 0.66 0.43 3.8 1.475 0.66 0.43 3.8 1.475 0.60 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.01 0.01 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 <td< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></td<>								
Broome County Local Development Corporation 0.11 0.07 0.07 0.18 60.7 1.18 1.27 1.48 1.34 2.13% Buffab Othan Development Corporation 1.33 1.75 1.39 2.27 8.47 23.48 21.3% Buffab ond Eric County Rustinal Land Development Corporation 0.47 0.40 0.58 0.57 1.344 6% Buffab ond Eric County Rustinal Land Development Corporation 0.47 0.40 0.58 0.56 0.27 1.344 6% Buainsto Eventory Corporation 0.47 0.40 0.58 0.56 0.27 1.44 5% Buainsto Eventory Corporation 0.29 1.70 2.07 3.39 3.81 1.76 6.99 6% Catratingue Country Economics Sustainability and Growth Corporation 0.01 0.02 0.01 1.05 1.72 1.48 1.86 6% 7.42 0.27 1.027 1.028 1.02 0.01 1.05 1.72 1.48 1.86 0.86 0.22 0.02 0.04								
Buffab Ciran Development Corporation 1.10 1.05 1.27 1.48 21.3% Buffab Urban Development Corporation 0.02 1.79 0.48 0.53 0.27 1.344 65.48 Buffab ont Eric County Regional Development Corporation 0.02 1.79 0.48 0.55 0.27 1.344 65.4 3.8 Buffa NC Resource Corporation for a Greater Massena 0.21 1.70 0.27 3.39 3.38 1.476.5% Canton Capital Resource Corporation 1.24 1.37 1.06 0.19 0.10								
Buffaio Uthan Development Corporation 1.33 1.76 1.39 2.27 8.47 53.48 % Buffaio and Eric County Regional Development Corporation 0.47 0.48 0.53 0.27 1.344.6% Buffaio and Eric County Regional Development Corporation 0.21 1.770 2.07 3.39 3.31 1.476.5% Business Development Corporation 0.02 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.37 1.40 1.33 1.476.5% Cartinage Industrian Development Corporation 0.24 1.37 1.40 1.30 1.31 1.48 1.48 1.48 1.48 1.48 1.49 1.37 1.40 5.0 1.48 5.0 1.48 5.0 1.48 5.0 1.48 5.0 1.48 5.0 1.48 5.0 1.43 4.8 1.48 4.8 1.48 5.0 6.0 1.48 5.0 6.0 1.48 5.0 6.0 1.48 5.0 6.0 1.48 5.0 </td <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>								
Buffalo and Erie Courty Regional Development Corporation 0.02 1.79 0.48 0.53 0.27 1.344 6% Build NYC Resource Corporation for a Greater Massena 0.17 1.00 2.07 3.39 3.38 1.476 5% Builes Development Corporation for a Greater Massena 0.17 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.01 1.37 10.0% 0.25 0.19 0.147 10.6% 0.88 16.49 13.19 0.06 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.02 0.01 0.01 1.9% Cattaragus County Economic Sustainability and Growth Corporation 0.01 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.04 0.05 1.400.0% Chataragua County Capital Resource Corporation 0.01 0.00 1.00.0% Chataragua County Capital Resource Corporat	• • •							
Buffsio and Ene County Regional Development Corporation 0.47 0.46 0.58 0.58 0.43 3.38 1.476.5% Business Development Corporation 0.01 0.00 0.01 0.17 0.07 0.01 0.01 0.05 0.04 0.09 0.02 0.01 0.05 0.05 0.01 <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>								
Buile NYC Resource Corporation 0.21 1.70 3.39 3.38 1.476.5% Buiness Development Corporation for a Greater Massena 0.17 0.00 0.00 0.00 Canton Capital Resource Corporation 0.20 0.27 0.25 0.19 0.19 0.17 Cathage Industrial Development Corporation 0.20 0.27 0.25 0.19 0.19 4.75% Cattaraugus County Economic Sustainability and Growth Corporation 0.01 0.01 0.02 <td< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></td<>								
Business Development Corporation 0.17 0.00 0.00 Capitalize Albany Corporation 1.24 1.37 1.40 1.30 1.37 Capitalize Albany Corporation 0.20 0.27 0.25 0.19 -4.7% Cattragie Industrial Development Corporation 0.88 16.49 1.319 8.81 10.86 9.9% Cattariaugus County Capital Resource Corporation 0.01 0.02 0.02 0.01 0.01 15.9% Cattaraugus County Lend Bank Corporation 0.04 0.08 0.04 0.08 0.04 0.05 0.04 0.06 0.02 0.02 0.04 108.5% Chadwick Bay Regional Development Corporation 0.01 0.01 -0.07 -100.0% Chautaugua County Capital Resource Corporation 0.01 0.02 0.24 Cheantraugue County Capital Resource Corporation 0.01 0.01 0.50 0.66 1.29 0.84 1.33 436.7% Chadwick Bay Capital Resource Corporation 0.01 0.01 0.05 0.66 1.29 0.62 0.61 1.29								
Canton Capital Resource Corporation 0.00 0.00 0.00 Cartitage Industrial Development Corporation 0.20 0.27 0.46 0.19 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.02 <					2.50	2.50	,	
Capitaliza Albany Corporation 1.24 1.37 1.40 1.30 1.37 10.6% Catariage Industrial Development Corporation 0.20 0.27 0.25 0.19 0.47% Catariaguis Countly Capital Resource Corporation 0.01 0.02 0.01 0.02 0.01 0.01 0.02 0.01 0.01 0.02 0.04 0.04 0.05 0.04 0.05 0.04 0.04 0.05 0.04 0.05 0.04 0.05 0.04 0.05 0.04 0.05 0.04 0.05 0.04 0.05 0.04 0.05 0.04 0.05 0.04 0.05 0.04 0.05 0.04 0.05 0.04 0.05 0.04 0.05 0.06 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.03 6.05 0.06 0.03 0.05 0.05 0.06 0.03 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.02 0.01 1.00 0.05				0.00				
Catisality Vatershed Corporation 9.88 16.49 13.19 8.81 10.86 9.9% Cattaraugus County Capital Resource Corporation 0.01 0.02 0.01 0.01 Cattaraugus County Development Corporation 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 Cattaraugus County Development Corporation 0.17 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.04 108.5% Chaudxugus Agregional Development Corporation 0.17 0.01 0.07 - - - 0.00 0.01 0.07 - - - 0.00 0.01 0.07 - - 0.00 0.01 0.07 - - 0.00 0.01 0.02 0.03 0.03 0.03 0.03 0.03 0.03 0.03 0.03 0.03 0.03 0.03 0.		1.24	1.37	1.40	1.30	1.37	10.6%	
Cattaraugus County Capital Resource Corporation 0.01 0.01 0.02 0.01 15.9% Cattaraugus County Lean Bank Corporation 0.02 0.02 0.04 0.09 Cattaraugus County Capital Corporation 0.17 0.02 0.02 0.04 0.08 5% Chadwack Bay Regional Development Corporation 0.17 0.02 0.02 0.04 0.08 5% Chautaugua County Capital Resource Orporation 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.02 0.24 0.02 0.04 1.33 436.7% Cheektowaga Economic Development Corporation 0.01 0.03 0.02 0.24 0.01 654.2% Chemung County Capital Resource Corporation 0.01 0.01 0.05 0.06 0.01 110.0% City of Allary Capital Resource Corporation 0.01 0.02 0.28 0.20 0.12 484 0.49 38.9% City of Nastron Local Development Corporation 0.06 0.00 0.03 0.03 70.7% 70.7% City of Wastrow Local Development Corporation	Carthage Industrial Development Corporation	0.20	0.27	0.25	0.19	0.19	-4.7%	
Cattaraugus County Land Bank Corporation - - - - 0.27 Cattaraugus County Development Corporation 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.04 108.5% Chaudusck Bay Regional Development Corporation 0.17 - - -100.0% Chauduscy acounty Capital Resource Corporation 0.01 0.01 - 0.07 - -100.0% Cheaturacy acounty Land Bank Corporation 0.01 0.03 0.02 0.24 - - - - - 100.0% Chemung County Property Development Corporation - 0.00 0.00 0.01 0.01 0.05 0.66 0.01 110.0% City of Kingston Local Development Corporation -<	Catskill Watershed Corporation	9.88	16.49	13.19	8.81	10.86	9.9%	
Catteraugue County Land Bank Corporation 0.04 0.09 Cayaga County Development Corporation 0.01 0.02 0.02 0.04 108.5% Chadwick Bay Regional Development Corporation 0.01 0.01 - 0.07 - 100.0% Chautaugua County Capital Resource Corporation 0.01 0.03 0.02 0.24 0.04 108.5% Cheektowaga Economic Development Corporation 0.00 - 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.01 554.2% Chemming County Capital Resource Corporation 0.01 0.01 0.05 0.06 0.01 110.0% City of Albary Capital Resource Corporation 0.01 0.01 0.05 0.06 0.01 110.0% City of Magnot Local Development Corporation -	Cattaraugus County Capital Resource Corporation	0.01	0.01	0.02	0.01	0.01	15.9%	
Cayuga County Development Corporation 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.04 108.5% Chaduck Bay Regional Development Corporation 0.01 0.01 - 0.07 - -100.0% Chautaugua County Capital Resource Corporation 0.02 0.02 0.24 -	Cattaraugus County Economic Sustainability and Growth Corporation		-	-	-	0.27		
Chadwick Bay Regional Development Corporation 0.17 Chautaugua County Capital Resource Corporation 0.01 0.01 -0.07 -100.0% Checktowaga Economic Development Corporation 0.01 0.02 0.24 - Checktowaga Economic Development Corporation 0.00 - 0.00 0.00 0.01 554.2% Chy of Many Capital Resource Corporation 0.01 0.01 0.05 0.06 0.01 110.0% City of Alany Capital Resource Corporation 0.01 0.01 0.03 0.04 0.06 <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>								
Chautauya County Capital Resource Corporation 0.01 -0.07 -100.0% Chautauya County Land Bark Corporation 0.25 0.66 1.29 0.84 1.33 436.7% Cheektowaga Economic Development Corporation 0.01 0.03 0.02 0.24 0.06 0.00 0.01 554.2% Chermung County Property Development Corporation 0.01 0.01 0.02 0.02 0.24 0.03 0.60 City of Albany Capital Resource Corporation 0.01 0.01 0.05 0.06 0.01 10.0% 0.03 0.30 736.7% City of Preskskill Local Development Corporation 0.00 0.00 0.03 0.03 736.7% City of Watervier Local Development Corporation 0.04 0.06 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.06 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.06 0.05<			0.02	0.02	0.02	0.04	108.5%	
Chautaugua County Land Bank Corporation 0.25 0.66 1.29 0.84 1.33 436.7% Cheektowaga Economic Development Corporation 0.01 0.03 0.02 0.24 Chemung County Capital Resource Corporation 0.01 0.05 0.06 0.01 1554.2% Chemung County Capital Resource Corporation 0.01 0.01 0.05 0.06 0.01 110.0% City of Alsany Capital Resource Corporation 0.01 0.01 0.03 0.05 0 0.05 0 0.05 0 0.05 0 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05			1					
Cheekovaga Economic Development Corporation 0.01 0.03 0.02 0.24 Chemung County Capital Resource Corporation 0.00 0.00 0.01 554.2% City of Kington Local Development Corporation 0.01 0.05 0.06 0.01 City of Kington Local Development Corporation 0.04 0.32 0.28 0.20 0.12 694.9% City of Fington Local Development Corporation 0.00 0.00 0.03 0.04 0.06 0.12 0.15 0.65 0.52 4.95				-		-		
Chemung County Capital Resource Corporation 0.00 - 0.00 0.01 554.2% Chemung County Property Development Corporation 0.01 0.01 0.05 0.06 0.01 110.0% City of Albany Capital Resource Corporation 0.01 0.01 0.02 0.22 0.28 0.20 0.12 694.4% City of Vingston Local Development Corporation 0.00 0.00 0.03 0.03 736.7% City of Watervinet Local Development Corporation 0.02 0.10 0.06 0.05 197.6% City of Watervinet Local Development Corporation 0.04 0.08 0.05 0.05 197.6% Columbia County Capital Resource Corporation 0.04 0.06 0.02 0.08 0.00 Columbia County Capital Resource Corporation 0.01 0.01 0.00 0.00 6.02 2.4% Columbia County Capital Resource Corporation 0.72 0.82 0.67 0.75 4.8% County Capital Resource Corporation 0.72 0.61 0.44 0.45 8.9%						1.33	436.7%	
Chemung County Property Development Corporation 0.01 0.03 0.60 City of Albany Capital Resource Corporation 0.01 0.01 0.05 0.06 0.01 110.0% City of Mingston Local Development Corporation 0.00 0.03			0.03			0.04	554.00/	
City of Albany Capital Resource Corporation 0.01 0.01 0.05 0.06 0.01 110.0% City of Pekskill Local Development Corporation 0.40 0.32 0.28 0.20 0.12 -94.4% City of Pekskill Local Development Corporation 0.00 0.00 0.03 0.03 736.7% City of Wateriven Local Development Corporation 0.02 0.10 0.06 0.05 0.05 City of Wateriven Local Development Corporation 0.04 0.08 0.05 0.05 196.6% Calvaton Local Development Corporation 0.04 0.06 0.12 0.05 0.05 196.6% Columbia Country Capital Resource Corporation 0.01 0.01 0.00 0.02 0.08 0.00 Columbia Country Capital Resource Corporation 0.72 0.82 0.67 0.77 4.8% Country Capital Resource Corporation 0.72 0.61 0.68 0.65 0.65 -9.5% Columbia Country Development Corporation 0.72 0.61 0.64 0.64 9.94 9.94% <td></td> <td>0.00</td> <td>-</td> <td>0.00</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>554.2%</td>		0.00	-	0.00			554.2%	
City of Kingston Local Development Corporation 0.40 0.32 0.28 0.20 0.12 -69.4% City of Toy Capital Resource Corporation 0.00 0.03 0.03 0.03 736.7% City of Toy Capital Resource Corporation 0.36 0.64 0.38 0.44 0.49 36.9% City of Watertown Local Development Corporation 0.02 0.10 0.06 0.05 0.05 0.06 0.06 0.06 0.05 0.06 0.06 0.06 0.06 0.06 0.06 0.06 0.06 0.06 0.06 0.06 0.06 0.06 0.06 0.06 0.06 0.06 0.06 0.06 0.00		0.01	0.01	0.05			110.0%	
City of Peekskill Local Development Corporation - - - - City of Troy Capital Resource Corporation 0.00 0.03 0.03 0.03 736.7% City of Watertown Local Development Corporation 0.02 0.10 0.06 0.05 - City of Wateriviet Local Development Corporation 0.04 0.08 0.05 0.05 19.6% Calinon County Capital Resource Corporation 0.04 0.06 0.12 0.08 0.00 Columbia County Capital Resource Corporation 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.00 64.6% Columbia Economic Development Corporation 0.72 0.82 0.67 0.77 0.75 4.8% Contral Agriculture and Food Technology Park Corporation 0.72 0.82 0.67 0.77 0.75 4.8% Contral do Varen and Washington Cick Development Corporation 0.42 0.51 0.45 0.45 0.45 0.45 0.44 0.45 8.9% Contrad County Business Development Corporation 0.02 0.04 0.00 0.00 0.00 <td< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></td<>								
City of Troy Capital Resource Corporation 0.00 0.03 0.03 738.7% City of WaterNet Local Development Corporation 0.06 0.64 0.38 0.44 0.49 City of WaterNet Local Development Corporation 0.02 0.10 0.06 0.05 Clayton Local Development Corporation 0.04 0.08 0.05 0.05 Columbia County Capital Resource Corporation 0.04 0.06 0.12 0.15 0.06 52.4% Columbia County Capital Resource Corporation 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.00 0.44.8% Contrad Development Corporation 0.72 0.82 0.67 0.77 0.75 4.8% Contrad County Business Development Corporation 0.42 0.51 0.46 0.65 0.55 9.5% Contland County Business Development Corporation 0.42 0.51 0.45 0.44 0.45 8.9% Contland County Business Development Corporation 0.42 0.51 0.45 0.44 0.45 8.9% Contland County Development Corporation 0.42		0.40	0.52	0.20	0.20	0.12	-09.478	
City of Watertown Local Development Corporation 0.36 0.64 0.38 0.44 0.49 36.9% City of WaterNiet Local Development Corporation 0.02 0.10 0.06 0.05 0.05 Clayton Local Development Corporation 0.04 0.08 0.05		0.00	0.00	0.03	0.03	0.03	736.7%	
City of Waterviet Local Development Corporation 0.02 0.10 0.06 0.05 Clayton Local Development Corporation 0.04 0.08 0.05 0.05 19.6% Clinton County Capital Resource Corporation 0.04 0.06 0.12 0.15 0.06 52.4% Columbia County Capital Resource Corporation 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.00 -64.6% Columbia County Capital Resource Corporation 0.72 0.82 0.67 0.77 0.75 4.8% Contail Scource Corporation 0.72 0.61 0.68 0.65 9.95% Cortland County Development Corporation 0.72 0.61 0.44 0.45 8.9% Cortland County Development Corporation 0.02 0.04 0.00 0.00 0.00 County Local Development Corporation 0.02 0.04 0.06 3.9.4% Development Chenango Corporation 0.02 0.04 0.06 3.9.4% Duckies County Local Development Corporation 0.02 0.01 0.22 0.29 0.22 0.29 </td <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>								
Clayton Local Development Corporation 0.04 0.08 0.05 0.05 19.6% Clinton County Capital Resource Corporation - 0.00 0.02 0.08 0.00 Cohoes Local Development Corporation 0.04 0.06 0.12 0.15 0.06 52.4% Columbia County Capital Resource Corporation 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.00 0.00 -64.6% Columbia Economic Development Corporation 0.72 0.82 0.67 0.77 0.75 4.8% Contral County Development Corporation 0.72 0.61 0.68 0.65 -9.5% Cortland County Development Corporation 0.42 0.51 0.45 0.44 0.45 8.9% Contaits of Warren and Washington Civic Development Corporation 0.02 0.04 0.00 0.00 Development Chenango Corporation 0.25 0.35 0.24 0.32 0.27 5.5% Dobbs Ferry Local Development Corporation 0.02 0.01 0.02 0.04 0.01 -26.6% Durkink Local Development Corporation					-	0.10	00.070	
Clinton County Capital Resource Corporation 0.00 0.02 0.08 0.00 Cohose Local Development Corporation 0.04 0.06 0.12 0.15 0.06 52.4% Columbia Economic Development Corporation 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.00 0.00 64.6% Columbia Economic Development Corporation 0.72 0.82 0.67 0.77 0.75 4.8% Cortland County Development Corporation 0.42 0.51 0.45 0.44 0.45 8.9% Cortland County Development Corporation 0.02 0.00						0.05	19.6%	
Cohoes Local Development Corporation 0.04 0.06 0.12 0.15 0.06 52.4% Columbia County Capital Resource Corporation 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.00 0.00 64.6% Columbia Economic Development Corporation 0.72 0.82 0.67 0.77 0.75 4.8% Comell Agriculture and Food Technology Park Corporation 0.42 0.51 0.45 0.44 0.45 8.9% Contland County Development Corporation 0.42 0.51 0.45 0.44 0.45 8.9% Contaits of Warren and Washington Civic Development Corporation 0.02 0.04 0.00 0.00 0.00 Development Chenango Corporation 0.02 0.04 0.05 0.44 0.65 0.5% Duk Serry Local Development Corporation 0.02 0.01 0.02 0.04 0.01 -26.6% Durk Nick Local Development Corporation 0.02 0.01 0.22 0.29 0.96 934.1% East of Hudson Watershed Corporation 0.53 0.36 0.64 0.56		-					,.	
Columbia Economic Development Corporation 0.72 0.82 0.67 0.77 0.75 4.8% Cornell Agriculture and Food Technology Park Corporation 0.72 0.61 0.68 0.65 0.65 -9.5% Cornell Agriculture and Food Technology Park Corporation 0.42 0.51 0.45 0.44 0.45 8.9% Cortland County Development Corporation 0.00 <td></td> <td>0.04</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>52.4%</td>		0.04					52.4%	
Cornell Agriculture and Food Technology Park Corporation 0.72 0.61 0.68 0.65 -9.5% Cortland County Business Development Corporation 0.42 0.51 0.45 0.44 0.45 8.9% Cortland County Development Corporation 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 Counties of Warren and Washington Ciric Development Corporation 0.02 0.04 0.00 0.02 Delaware County Local Development Corporation 0.02 0.04 0.05 0.04 0.06 39.4% Development Corporation 0.25 0.35 0.24 0.32 0.27 5.5% Dobbs Ferry Local Development Corporation 0.02 0.01 0.02 0.04 0.01 -26.6% Durkirk Local Development Corporation 0.99 0.23 0.96 0.96 934.1% East of Hudson Watershed Corporation 0.05 0.06 0.64 0.54 0.64 12.8% Economic Development Corporation 0.53 1.37 1.49 1.32 1.91 258.1% Essex County C		0.01		0.01	0.00	0.00	-64.6%	
Cortland County Business Development Corporation 0.42 0.51 0.45 0.44 0.45 8.9% Cortland County Development Corporation 0.00	Columbia Economic Development Corporation	0.72	0.82	0.67	0.77	0.75	4.8%	
Cortland County Development Corporation 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 Counties of Warren and Washington Civic Development Corporation 0.02 0.04 0.00 0.02 Delaware County Local Development Corporation 0.04 0.04 0.05 0.04 0.06 39.4% Development Chenango Corporation 0.25 0.35 0.24 0.32 0.27 5.5% Dobbs Ferry Local Development Corporation 0.02 0.01 0.02 0.04 0.01 -26.6% Durkirk Local Development Corporation 0.09 0.23 0.96 0.96 934.1% East of Hudson Watershed Corporation 8.31 3.14 2.75 2.23 2.70 67.6% Economic Development Corporation 0.56 0.62 0.64 0.54 0.64 12.8% Emergid Improvement Corporation 0.53 1.37 1.49 1.32 1.91 258.1% Essex County Capital Resource Corporation 0.53 0.01 0.02 0.02 0.05 123.0% Finger Lakes Regional Land Bank Cor	Cornell Agriculture and Food Technology Park Corporation	0.72	0.61	0.68	0.65	0.65	-9.5%	
Counties of Warren and Washington Civic Development Corporation 0.02 0.04 0.00 0.02 Delaware County Local Development Corporation 0.04 0.04 0.05 0.04 0.06 39.4% Development Chenango Corporation 0.25 0.35 0.24 0.32 0.27 5.5% Dobbs Ferry Local Development Corporation 0.02 0.01 0.02 0.04 0.01 -26.6% Dunkirk Local Development Corporation 0.09 0.23 0.96 0.96 934.1% East of Hudson Watershed Corporation 0.09 0.23 0.96 0.96 934.1% Economic Development Corporation - Warren County 0.56 0.62 0.64 12.8% Emerald Corporate Center Economic Development Corporation 0.05 0.06 0.07 - Fairport Local Development Corporation 0.01 0.01 0.02 0.02 0.02 1.37 1.49 1.32 1.91 258.1% Energy Improvement Corporation 0.02 0.01 0.02 0.02 0.05 123.0% <t< td=""><td>, , , ,</td><td>0.42</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>8.9%</td></t<>	, , , ,	0.42					8.9%	
Delaware County Local Development Corporation 0.04 0.04 0.05 0.04 0.06 39.4% Development Chenango Corporation 0.25 0.35 0.24 0.32 0.27 5.5% Dobbs Ferry Local Development Corporation 0.02 0.01 0.02 0.04 0.01 -26.6% Dunkirk Local Development Corporation 0.09 0.23 0.96 0.96 934.1% East of Hudson Watershed Corporation 0.05 0.62 0.64 0.54 0.64 12.8% Economic Development Corporation 0.05 0.62 0.64 0.54 0.64 12.8% Emerald Corporate Center Economic Development Corporation 0.05 0.06 0.07 -						0.00		
Development Chenango Corporation 0.25 0.35 0.24 0.32 0.27 5.5% Dobbs Ferry Local Development Corporation 0.02 0.01 0.02 0.04 0.01 -26.6% Durkiex Local Development Corporation 0.02 0.21 0.22 0.29								
Dobbs Ferry Local Development Corporation 0.02 0.01 0.02 0.04 0.01 -26.6% Durkirk Local Development Corporation 0.12 0.22 0.29								
Dunkirk Local Development Corporation 0.12 0.22 0.29 Dutchess County Local Development Corporation 0.09 0.23 0.96 0.96 934.1% East of Hudson Watershed Corporation 8.31 3.14 2.75 2.23 2.70 -67.6% Economic Development Corporation - Warren County 0.56 0.62 0.64 0.54 0.64 12.8% Emerald Corporate Center Economic Development Corporation 0.053 1.37 1.49 1.32 1.91 258.1% Essex County Capital Resource Corporation 0.02 0.01 0.02 0.02 0.05 123.0% Finger Lakes Horizon Economic Development Corporation 0.02 0.01 0.01 0.03 193.8% Finger Lakes Regional Land Bank Corporation 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.03 193.8% Franklin County Local Development Corporation 1.03 1.01 1.00 1.11 Franklin County Civic Development Corporation 0.00 0.00 0.00 42.3% Franklin County Local Development Corporation 0.08 0.0								
Dutchess County Local Development Corporation 0.09 0.23 0.96 0.96 934.1% East of Hudson Watershed Corporation 8.31 3.14 2.75 2.23 2.70 -67.6% Economic Development Corporation - Warren County 0.56 0.62 0.64 0.54 0.64 12.8% Emerald Corporate Center Economic Development Corporation 0.05 0.06 0.06 0.07		0.02				0.01	-26.6%	
East of Hudson Watershed Corporation 8.31 3.14 2.75 2.23 2.70 -67.6% Economic Development Corporation - Warren County 0.56 0.62 0.64 0.54 0.64 12.8% Emerald Corporate Center Economic Development Corporation 0.05 0.06 0.06 0.07 - Energy Improvement Corporation 0.53 1.37 1.49 1.32 1.91 258.1% Essex County Capital Resource Corporation - <							004 10	
Economic Development Corporation - Warren County 0.56 0.62 0.64 0.54 0.64 12.8% Emerald Corporate Center Economic Development Corporation 0.05 0.06 0.06 0.07 Energy Improvement Corporation 0.53 1.37 1.49 1.32 1.91 258.1% Essex County Capital Resource Corporation - - - - - Fairport Local Development Corporation 0.02 0.01 0.02 0.02 0.05 123.0% Finger Lakes Horizon Economic Development Corporation 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.03 193.8% Finger Lakes Regional Land Bank Corporation 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.00 0.00 0.27 Finger Lakes Regional Telecommunications Development Corporation 1.03 1.01 1.00 1.11 1.00 1.11 1.01 0.00 0.00 0.00 42.3% 1.81% 1.81.5% 1.81.5% 1.81.5% 1.81.5% </td <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>								
Emerald Corporate Center Economic Development Corporation 0.05 0.06 0.06 0.07 Energy Improvement Corporation 0.53 1.37 1.49 1.32 1.91 258.1% Essex County Capital Resource Corporation - <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>								
Energy Improvement Corporation 0.53 1.37 1.49 1.32 1.91 258.1% Essex County Capital Resource Corporation -						0.64	12.8%	
Essex County Capital Resource Corporation -						1.04	259 404	
Fairport Local Development Corporation 0.02 0.01 0.02 0.02 0.05 123.0% Finger Lakes Horizon Economic Development Corporation 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.03 193.8% Finger Lakes Regional Land Bank Corporation 0.06 0.27 Finger Lakes Regional Telecommunications Development Corporation 1.03 1.01 1.00 1.11 Franklin County Civic Development Corporation ² 0.00 0.00 0.19 0.00 0.00 42.3% Franklin County Local Development Corporation 0.08 0.00 0.02 0.01 -81.5% Fulton County Center for Regional Growth, Inc. 0.36 0.43 0.61 0.55 Genesee County Funding Corporation - 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 Genesee Gateway Local Development Corporation 2.49 1.37 0.92 0.81 2.07 -17.0%		0.53	1.37	1.49	1.32	1.91	238.1%	
Finger Lakes Horizon Economic Development Corporation 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.03 193.8% Finger Lakes Regional Land Bank Corporation 0.06 0.27 0.06 0.27 Finger Lakes Regional Telecommunications Development Corporation 1.03 1.01 1.00 1.11 Franklin County Civic Development Corporation ² 0.00 0.00 0.09 0.00 42.3% Franklin County Local Development Corporation 0.08 0.00 0.02 0.01 -81.5% Fulton County Center for Regional Growth, Inc. 0.36 0.43 0.61 0.55 Genesee County Funding Corporation - 0.00 0.00 0.00 Genesee Gateway Local Development Corporation 2.49 1.37 0.92 0.81 2.07 -17.0%		- 0.02	- 0.01	-	-	- 0.05	123 00/	
Finger Lakes Regional Land Bank Corporation 0.06 0.27 Finger Lakes Regional Telecommunications Development Corporation 1.03 1.01 1.00 1.11 Franklin County Civic Development Corporation ² 0.00 0.00 0.19 0.00 42.3% Franklin County Local Development Corporation 0.08 0.00 0.02 0.01 -81.5% Fulton County Center for Regional Growth, Inc. 0.36 0.43 0.61 0.55 Genesee County Funding Corporation - 0.00 0.00 0.00 Genesee Gateway Local Development Corporation 2.49 1.37 0.92 0.81 2.07 -17.0%								
Finger Lakes Regional Telecommunications Development Corporation 1.03 1.01 1.00 1.11 Franklin County Civic Development Corporation ² 0.00 0.00 0.19 0.00 0.00 42.3% Franklin County Local Development Corporation 0.08 0.00 0.02 0.01 0.01 -81.5% Fulton County Center for Regional Growth, Inc. 0.36 0.43 0.61 0.55 Genesee County Funding Corporation - 0.00 0.00 0.00 Genesee Gateway Local Development Corporation 2.49 1.37 0.92 0.81 2.07 -17.0%		0.01	0.01	0.01			133.076	
Franklin County Civic Development Corporation ² 0.00 0.00 0.19 0.00 0.00 42.3% Franklin County Local Development Corporation 0.08 0.00 0.02 0.01 0.01 -81.5% Fulton County Center for Regional Growth, Inc. 0.36 0.43 0.61 0.55 Genesee County Funding Corporation - 0.00 0.00 0.00 Genesee Gateway Local Development Corporation 2.49 1.37 0.92 0.81 2.07 -17.0%		1.03	1 01	1.00		0.21		
Franklin County Local Development Corporation 0.08 0.00 0.02 0.01 0.01 -81.5% Fulton County Center for Regional Growth, Inc. 0.36 0.43 0.61 0.55 Genesee County Funding Corporation - 0.00 0.00 0.00 Genesee Gateway Local Development Corporation 2.49 1.37 0.92 0.81 2.07 -17.0%						0.00	42.3%	
Fulton County Center for Regional Growth, Inc. 0.36 0.43 0.61 0.55 Genesee County Funding Corporation - 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 Genesee Gateway Local Development Corporation 2.49 1.37 0.92 0.81 2.07 -17.0%								
Genesee County Funding Corporation - 0.00 0.00 0.00 Genesee Gateway Local Development Corporation 2.49 1.37 0.92 0.81 2.07 -17.0%		0.00					0	
Genesee Gateway Local Development Corporation 2.49 1.37 0.92 0.81 2.07 -17.0%		-						
		2.49					-17.0%	

Authorities Budget Office



Authority Name	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	Percent
	Amount	Amount	Amount	Amount	Amount	Change 2014-2018
Glen Cove Local Economic Assistance Corporation	-	-	0.00	0.00	0.00	2014-2010
Glens Falls Civic Development Corporation		0.14	0.05	0.01	0.01	
Glenville Local Development Corporation	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.02	7.7%
Golden Hill Local Development Corporation Governors Island Corporation	0.00	0.00 26.31	0.00 30.35	0.00 35.18	41.75	-100.0% 160.0%
Greater Brockport Development Corporation	0.01	0.01	00.00	00.10	41.75	100.070
Greater Glens Falls Local Development Corporation	0.09	0.18	0.06	0.06	0.12	35.3%
Greater Lockport Development Corporation	1.71		1.00	1.00	1.23	-27.9%
Greater Mohawk Valley Land Bank Corporation Greater Syracuse Property Development Corporation	2.74	5.59	5.38	0.22 3.92	3.72	35.6%
Greater Wawarsing Local Development Corporation	0.00	0.00	0.07	0.00	0.04	948.0%
Griffiss Local Development Corporation	5.50	5.79	3.98	4.85	4.80	-12.7%
Griffiss Utility Services Corporation	11.67	9.85	9.53	9.10	10.41	-10.7%
Hamburg New York Land Development Corporation	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.01	0.05	159.7%
Hilton Local Development Corporation Hornell Area Industrial Development Corporation	0.01	0.02	0.03	0.03	0.04	209.6%
Hudson Development Corporation ¹	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.03	0.04	-27.2%
Hudson Valley AgriBusiness Development Corp	0.63	0.64	0.59	0.58	0.55	-12.8%
Hudson Yards Development Corporation	1.62	0.63	1.09	0.87	2.08	28.3%
Hudson Yards Infrastructure Corporation	0.44	0.51	0.50	1.32	0.70	61.8%
Jamestown Local Development Corporation Jefferson County Civic Facility Development Corporation	0.10	0.13	0.16	1.18 0.00	0.17	
Jefferson County Local Development Corporation	1.70	1.06	0.10	0.00	0.17	-42.2%
Land Reutilization Corporation of The Capital Region	0.10	0.71	1.11	0.07	0.08	-23.6%
Lewis County Development Corporation	0.04	1.03	0.76	0.15	0.80	1,846.8%
Livingston County Capital Resource Corporation	-	0.54	-	-	-	400.5%
Livingston County Development Corporation Livingston County Land Bank Corporation	0.23	0.51	0.76	0.88	<u>1.34</u> 0.04	469.5%
Lloyd Community Development Corporation ²	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	-27.3%
Local Development Corporation of the Town of Union	0.11	0.13	0.12	0.13	0.11	7.9%
Long Beach Local Development Corporation	0.11	0.01	0.02	0.01		
Lumber City Development Corporation MUNIPRO, Inc.	0.21	0.21	0.08	0.25	0.27	26.2% 231.5%
Madison County Capital Resource Corporation	0.02	0.02	0.03	0.10	0.07	-28.1%
Mamakating Local Development Corporation				0.01	0.01	
Maplewood Manor Local Development Corporation	0.07	0.12	0.65	8.18	0.02	-78.3%
Monroe County Industrial Development Corporation	0.67	0.77	0.96	0.85	1.19	76.7%
Montgomery County Capital Resource Corporation NFC Development Corporation	0.01	- 0.08	0.00	0.00	0.00	-88.0% 47.8%
NYC Neighborhood Capital Corporation	0.10	0.05	0.00	0.75	0.69	47.070
Nassau County Land Bank Corporation			-	0.01		
Nassau County Local Economic Assistance Corporation	0.40	0.17	0.15	0.11		
New Rochelle Corporation for Local Development	0.01	0.01	0.03	0.07	0.01	-50.5%
New York City Business Assistance Corporation New York City Economic Development Corporation	0.01 857.49	0.01 742.03	0.00 810.11	0.00 674.95	0.00 749.64	-82.5% -12.6%
New York City Energy Efficiency Corporation	2.60	2.94	3.00	2.47	745.04	-12.070
New York City Land Development Corporation	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.00	0.00	-92.2%
Newburgh Community Land Bank	0.15	0.22	3.13	1.09	0.76	399.0%
Niagara Area Development Corporation	0.00	-	-	-	-	-100.0%
Niagara County Brownfields Development Corporation Niagara County Development Corporation	0.01	0.03	0.01	0.01	0.03	213.7%
Niagara Orleans Land Improvement Corporation		0.11	0.00	0.00	0.01	
Niagara Power Coalition	0.09	0.06	0.05	0.04		
Ogdensburg Growth Fund Development Corp.	0.08	0.12	0.04			
Olean Local Development Corporation	0.04	0.01	0.01	0.00	0.02	-64.5%
Oneida County Local Development Corporation Onondaga Civic Development Corporation	0.16	0.06	0.03 0.65	0.04	0.04	-73.6% -24.5%
Onondaga Convention Center Hotel Development Corporation	0.00	-	15.00	-	0.11	21.070
Ontario County Economic Development Corporation	0.22	0.11	0.11	0.12	0.13	-41.8%
Ontario County Four Seasons Development Corporation	0.89	0.98	0.88	0.96	1.08	21.2%
Ontario County Local Development Corporation	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.02	91.1%
Operation Oswego County Orange County Funding Corporation	0.02	1.08 0.02	1.22 0.03	0.98	0.03	22.1%
Orange County Partnership Inc	0.02	0.02	1.02	1.02	0.00	LL. 1 /0
Orleans County Local Development Corporation	0.05	0.07	0.06	0.19	0.06	16.2%
Orleans Land Restoration Corporation	0.30	0.31	0.83	0.12	0.03	-88.7%
Oswego County Civic Facilities Corporation	-	-	-	-	-	
Oswego County Land Bank Corporation Otsego County Capital Resource Corporation ²	0.00	0.48	0.01	0.72	0.78	37.0%
Peekskill Facilities Development Corporation		- 0.40		- 0.09	0.00	51.070
Port Chester Local Development Corporation	-	-	-	-	-	
Prattsville Local Development Corporation	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	-	-100.0%

Authorities Budget Office



Authority Name	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	Percent
	Amount	Amount	Amount	Amount	Amount	Change 2014-2018
Putnam County Economic Development Corporation	0.17	0.10	0.17	0.17		
Queens Economic Development Corporation	1.79	1.70	1.82	1.89	1.86	4.1%
Ramapo Local Development Corporation Riverhead IDA Economic Job Development Corporation	2.38	-	0.00	0.00	0.00	
Roberts Road Development Corporation	-	-	-	-	0.00	
Rochester Economic Development Corporation	0.32	0.58	0.27	0.23	0.38	18.8%
Rochester Land Bank Corporation	0.77	0.94	1.45	1.83	0.54	-30.2%
Rockland County Economic Assistance Corporation	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.00 0.16	0.01	-42.2%
Rockland County Health Facilities Corporation Rockland Economic Development Corporation	0.51 0.89	0.46	0.13	0.18	0.61	-31.0%
STAR (Sales Tax Asset Receivable) Corporation	0.37	0.43	0.07	0.02	0.25	-32.7%
Sackets Harbor Local Development Corporation	0.01	0.05	-		0.01	22.2%
Salamanca Area Development Corporation		0.01	0.00	0.01	0.01	
Saranac Lake Local Development Corporation	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.06	0.05	36.6%
Saratoga County Capital Resource Corporation Saratoga County Prosperity Partnership, Inc	0.04	0.04	0.04	0.08	0.05	30.0%
Schenectady County Capital Resource Corporation	0.01	0.02	0.00	0.10	0.01	31.4%
Schoharie County Capital Resource Corporation	0.05	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.00	-92.9%
Schuyler County Human Services Development Corporation	0.14	0.15	0.15	0.14	0.14	2.6%
Seneca County Economic Development Corporation	0.15	0.11	0.12	0.12	0.12	-16.8%
Seneca County Funding Corporation	0.00	0.04	-	0.00	0.01	262.69/
Seneca Falls Development Corporation Seneca Knit Development Corporation	0.02	0.04	0.02	0.06	0.08	262.6%
Sherburne Area Local Development Corporation	0.11	0.05	0.01	0.05	0.05	-55.5%
Sleepy Hollow Local Development Corporation		0.06	0.12	0.19		
Southern Tier Network, Inc.	2.06	1.64	1.53	2.03	2.19	6.4%
Southold Local Development Corporation	0.03	0.03	0.02	0.02		
St. Lawrence County IDA Civic Development Corporation	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.01	246.3%
St. Lawrence County IDA Local Development Corporation St. Lawrence County Property Development Corporation	0.56	0.34	0.40	0.40	0.40	-28.6%
Steuben Area Economic Development Corporation	0.00	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.02	321.1%
Steuben County Land Bank Corporation				0.04	0.29	
Suffolk County Economic Development Corporation	0.03	0.08	0.28	0.07	0.08	201.0%
Sullivan County Funding Corporation	0.07	0.13	0.11	0.20	0.64	771.5%
Sullivan County Land Bank Corporation Syracuse Economic Development Corporation	0.12	0.24	0.40	0.01	0.09	335.9%
Syracuse Local Development Corporation	0.12	- 0.24	0.40	0.47	0.31	333.976
The Greene Local Development Corporation		-	0.00	0.00	0.00	
The Mayor's Fund to Advance New York City			4.07	23.28	20.75	
The North Country Alliance Local Development Corporation				0.08	0.08	
The Recreation and Economic Development Corporation of Suffolk County The Suffolk County Land Bank Corporation	0.05	0.21	0.29	0.39 0.54	0.42	691.1%
The Sullivan County Infrastructure Local Development Corporation	0.05	0.21	0.48	0.54	0.43	691.1%
The Town of Huntington Economic Development Corporation	0.03	0.03	0.02	0.05	0.00	
Theater Subdistrict Council Local Development Corporation	0.02	0.01	0.02	0.04	0.02	-8.6%
Ticonderoga Revitalization Alliance	0.00	0.03	0.04	0.01	0.04	1,227.6%
Tioga County Local Development Corporation	0.10	0.22	0.11	0.11	0.13	28.1%
Tioga County Property Development Corporation Tompkins County Development Corporation	0.13	0.16	0.04	-	0.03	-79.9%
Town Of Islip Economic Development Corporation	0.02	0.10	0.04	0.01	0.05	-73.370
Town of Amherst Development Corporation	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.41	0.01	1,359.2%
Town of Babylon L. D. Corporation II	0.01	0.01	0.02	0.01	0.04	191.5%
Town of Brookhaven Local Development Corporation	0.07	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.02	-65.7%
Town of Colonie Local Development Corporation Town of Dewitt Local Development Corporation	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	97.0% -5.2%
Town of Hempstead Local Development Corporation	0.09	0.07	0.08	0.10	0.08	-5.2%
Town of Huntington Local Development Corporation	0.00	0.06	0.05	0.00	0.00	11.070
Town of Montgomery Capital Resource Corporation		0.00	-			
Town of North Hempstead Business and Tourism Development Corporation	0.05	0.03	0.04	0.16		
Town of Plattsburgh Local Development Corporation	0.00	0.01	0.01	0.00	0.02	992.4%
Town of Waterford Capital Resource Corporation Troy Community Land Bank Corporation	0.03	0.06	0.05 0.11	0.06	0.86	
Troy Local Development Corporation	0.48	-	0.11	0.09	0.86	-74.0%
Tuxedo Farms Local Development Corporation	0.10	0.04	0.09	0.05	0.07	
Ulster County Capital Resource Corporation	0.03	0.07	0.05	0.01	0.13	422.0%
Ulster County Economic Development Alliance, Inc.	0.16	0.14	0.43	0.30	0.36	124.9%
Utica Harbor Point Local Development Corporation		-	-	0.00	-	
Victor Local Development Corporation Village of Chittenango Local Development Corporation	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.07		
Village of Holley Development Corporation	0.01	- 0.01	- 0.01			
Village of South Glens Falls Local Development Corporation	0.02	0.01				
Village of Valatie Local Development Corporation	0.06	0.06	0.05	0.10		


2019 Annual Report on Public Authorities in New York State

Authority Name	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	Percent
	Amount	Amount	Amount	Amount	Amount	Change
Warren County Local Development Corporation	0.06	0.06	0.08	0.11	_	2014-2018 -100.0%
Washington County Local Development Corporation	0.10	0.10	0.00	0.41	0.12	20.0%
Watertown Industrial Center Local Development Corporation	0.62	0.59	0.61	0.61	0.56	-11.0%
Wayne County Civic Facility Development Corporation	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.00	0.00	-52.4%
Wayne Economic Development Corporation	0.05	0.04	0.88	0.88	0.94	1,671.8%
West Brighton Community Local Development Corporation	0.34	0.39	0.33	0.33	0.01	22.9%
Westchester County Local Development Corporation	0.12	0.18	0.21	0.24	0.12	
Wheatfield Local Development Corporation	0.112	0.110	0.00	0.01	0.01	
White Plains Center Local Development Corporation	-		-	-	-	
Wyandanch Community Development Corporation	0.42	0.50	0.46	-		
Wyoming County Business Assistance Corporation				0.16	0.17	
Wyoming County Business Center	0.15	0.12	0.10	0.04	0.05	-66.1%
Yates County Capital Resource Corporation ²	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	32.9%
Yonkers Downtown Waterfront Development Corporation	0.47	0.27	0.00	0.00	0.00	021070
Yonkers Economic Development Corporation	0.20	0.17	0.03	0.06	0.06	-70.9%
Subtotal (excluding TASCs):	1,012.36	918.37	1,017.99	904.33	1,012.80	0.04%
	1,012.00	010.01	1,011.00	001.00	1,012.00	0.0170
Broome Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation	0.04	0.04	0.05	0.04	0.04	-2.0%
Cayuga Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation	1.70	1.78	1.73	1.78	1.81	6.8%
Chautauqua Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation	0.06	0.09	0.08	0.08	0.08	29.1%
Chemung Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.02	-5.2%
Columbia Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation	1.26	0.04	1.29	1.30	1.33	5.8%
Cortland Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation	0.79	0.85	0.04	0.06		
Dutchess Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation	0.05	0.07	0.07	0.06	0.06	11.8%
Erie Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation	0.14	0.13	0.13	0.10	0.10	-30.3%
Fiscal Year 2005 Securitization Corporation	0.10	0.10	0.10	0.09	0.11	15.3%
Genesee Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.03	6.0%
Greene Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.03	6.7%
Herkimer Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation	1.41	1.44	1.44	1.36	1.58	12.0%
Livingston Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation	1.15	1.18	1.18	1.20	1.24	7.7%
Monroe Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation	0.11	0.11	0.12	0.11	0.11	6.6%
Nassau County Tobacco Settlement Corporation	0.12	0.13	0.10	0.11	0.10	-14.8%
Niagara Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation	-	2.86	2.85	-	-	
Oneida Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.03	-20.8%
Onondaga Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation	0.12	0.12	1.65	0.12	0.12	2.7%
Ontario Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.04	0.04	53.0%
Oswego Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation	0.05	0.04	0.05	0.06	0.06	18.6%
Putnam Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation	0.05	0.05	0.05	0.05	0.06	28.5%
Rensselaer Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation	0.06	0.07	0.07	0.04	0.06	-9.6%
Rockland Second Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.04	0.05	61.8%
Rockland Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation	0.07	0.07	0.06	0.06	0.06	-12.0%
Schuyler Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation	0.37	0.37	0.37	0.38	0.39	7.1%
Seneca Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation	0.69	0.74	0.74	0.70	0.77	12.0%
Steuben Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.03	-1.3%
Suffolk Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation	6.08	5.34	10.52	4.75	5.21	-14.3%
Sullivan Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.03	18.5%
Tioga Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.02		
			0.02	0.02	0.06	17.0%
Tioga Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation Tompkins Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation TSASC, Inc.	0.02	0.02			0.38	17.0% -13.2%
Tioga Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation Tompkins Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation TSASC, Inc. Ulster Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation	0.02 0.05 0.44 0.04	0.02 0.06 0.44 0.03	0.06 0.42 1.04	0.06 0.66 0.05	0.38 0.04	-13.2% 12.0%
Tioga Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation Tompkins Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation TSASC, Inc.	0.02 0.05 0.44	0.02 0.06 0.44	0.06 0.42	0.06 0.66	0.38	-13.2%
Tioga Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation Tompkins Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation TSASC, Inc. Ulster Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation	0.02 0.05 0.44 0.04	0.02 0.06 0.44 0.03	0.06 0.42 1.04	0.06 0.66 0.05	0.38 0.04	-13.2% 12.0%
Tioga Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation Tompkins Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation TSASC, Inc. Ulster Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation Warren Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation	0.02 0.05 0.44 0.04 0.47	0.02 0.06 0.44 0.03 0.48	0.06 0.42 1.04 0.03	0.06 0.66 0.05 0.43	0.38 0.04 0.03	-13.2% 12.0% -93.9%
Tioga Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation Tompkins Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation TSASC, Inc. Ulster Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation Warren Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation Washington Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation	0.02 0.05 0.44 0.04 0.47 0.71	0.02 0.06 0.44 0.03 0.48 0.68	0.06 0.42 1.04 0.03 0.68 0.13 0.77	0.06 0.66 0.05 0.43 0.64	0.38 0.04 0.03	-13.2% 12.0% -93.9%
Tioga Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation Tompkins Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation TSASC, Inc. Ulster Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation Warren Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation Washington Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation Westchester Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation	0.02 0.05 0.44 0.04 0.47 0.71	0.02 0.06 0.44 0.03 0.48 0.68 0.14	0.06 0.42 1.04 0.03 0.68 0.13	0.06 0.66 0.05 0.43 0.64 0.12	0.38 0.04 0.03 0.66	-13.2% 12.0% -93.9%
Tioga Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation Tompkins Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation TSASC, Inc. Ulster Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation Warren Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation Washington Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation Westchester Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation Wyoming Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation	0.02 0.05 0.44 0.04 0.47 0.71 0.14	0.02 0.06 0.44 0.03 0.48 0.68 0.14 0.18	0.06 0.42 1.04 0.03 0.68 0.13 0.77	0.06 0.66 0.05 0.43 0.64 0.12 0.20	0.38 0.04 0.03 0.66 0.25	-13.2% 12.0% -93.9% -6.4%

*Data reported as of June 4, 2019. Data shown as 0.00 indicates an authority had operating expenses, but they round to \$0.00 million.

Data shown as - indicates an authority reported \$0 in operating expenses.

¹ Hudson Development Corporation changed their FYE date for the FY2014 reporting period. FY2014 data is for 15 months.

²While the data rounds to and appears \$0 in this table for these authorities, they did report operating expenses and as a result have a percent change.

Exhibit L

Public Authorities That Have Failed to File Reports in the Public Authorities Reporting Information System as of June 30, 2019

Pursuant to Section 2800 of Public Authorities Law, public authorities are required to file an annual report and audit report within 90 days of the fiscal year end (FYE). In accordance with Section 2801 of this Law, State authorities must submit a budget report 90 days prior to the start of the fiscal year; local authorities must file a budget report 60 days prior to the start of the fiscal year. The following authorities have failed to satisfy one or more of these requirements. The delinquent report(s) are identified by the date the report was due.

The Authorities Budget Office has the authority to "publically warn and censure authorities for non-compliance" with this requirement and to recommend the "suspension or dismissal of officers or directors, based on information that is, or is made, available to the public under law."

Type of		Budget	Annual	Audit
Authority	Authority Name	Report Due*	Report Due	Report Due
State	Nassau Health Care Corporation	10/1/2018	3/31/2019	3/31/2019
Local - Other	Central New York Regional Market Authority	2/1/2019	6/30/2018	6/30/2018
	City of Fulton Community Development Agency		3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	City of Hudson Community Development and Planning Agency		3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Clifton-Fine Health Care Corporation ¹	11/1/2018	3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Franklin County Solid Waste Management Authority	5/1/2019		
	Freeport Community Development Agency		5/31/2019	5/31/2019
	Greater Rochester Sports Authority	11/1/2018	3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Green Island Power Authority	4/1/2019		
	Huntington Community Development Agency	11/1/2018	3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Incorporated Village of Hempstead Community Development Agency	4/1/2019		
	Little Falls Urban Renewal Agency		3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Mechanicville Community Development Agency	11/1/2018	3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Mount Vernon Urban Renewal Agency		3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	New York City Educational Construction Fund	5/1/2019		
	New York City School Construction Authority	5/1/2019		
	Niagara Falls Public Water Authority	11/1/2018	3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	North Hempstead Solid Waste Management Authority		3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Nyack Parking Authority	4/1/2019		
	Port Jervis Community Development Agency	11/1/2018	3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Poughkeepsie Urban Renewal Agency	11/1/2018	3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Saratoga Springs City Center Authority		3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Suffolk County Judicial Facilities Agency		3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Tonawanda (City) Community Development Agency	11/1/2018	3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Town of Riverhead Community Development Agency		3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Upper Mohawk Valley Memorial Auditorium Authority		3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Village of Rockville Centre Community Development Agency		8/31/2018	8/31/2018
	Village of Spring Valley Urban Renewal Agency	4/1/2019	8/31/2018	8/31/2018
	Wilton Water and Sewer Authority	11/1/2018		
	Yonkers Community Development Agency	5/1/2019		
	Yonkers Parking Authority	11/1/2018		
Local - IDA	Concord Industrial Development Agency	11/1/2018	3/31/2019	
	Corinth Industrial Development Agency	11/1/2018	3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Dunkirk Industrial Development Agency		3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Geneva Industrial Development Agency		12/31/2018	12/31/2018
	Hamilton County Industrial Development Agency		3/31/2019	12/01/2010
	Mount Vernon Industrial Development Agency		3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Nassau County Industrial Development Agency		3/31/2019	0/0 1/2010
	Poughkeepsie Industrial Development Agency	11/1/2018	0/01/2010	
	Village of Groton Industrial Development Agency ²	4/1/2019	8/31/2018	8/31/2018
	Wallkill Industrial Development Agency	1/1/2010	3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Warren and Washington Counties Industrial Development Agency		3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Westchester County Industrial Development Agency		3/31/2019	3/31/2019
Local - Not-for-	Albany County Land Bank Corporation	11/1/2018	5/51/2013	5/51/2013
	Albion Housing and Economic Development Corporation	11/1/2018	3/31/2019	3/31/2019
Corporations	Allegany County Telecommunications Development Corp	11/1/2018	3/31/2019	3/31/2019
Corporations	Batavia Regional Recreation Corporation	9/1/2018	1/31/2019	1/31/2019
	Bolton Local Development Corporation	3/1/2010	3/31/2019	3/31/2019
		5/1/2019	3/31/2019	3/3//2019
	Bronx Overall Economic Development Corporation Brooklyn Navy Yard Development Corporation	5/1/2019		
	Buffalo Niagara Convention Center Management Corporation	5/1/2019	3/31/2019	
	BURA INC	11/1/2010	5/51/2019	
		11/1/2018	0/04/0040	2/24/2012
	Business Development Corporation for a Greater Massena	11/1/2018	3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Canton Capital Resource Corporation	11/1/2018	3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Chadwick Bay Regional Development Corporation	11/1/2018	3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Cheektowaga Economic Development Corporation	2/1/2019	6/30/2018	6/30/2018
	City of Watervliet Local Development Corporation	11/1/2018	3/31/2019	3/31/2019

Type of		Budget	Annual	Audit
	Authority Name	Report Due*	Report Due	Report Due
	Cortland Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation		3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Counties of Warren and Washington Civic Development Corporation	4/4/0040	3/31/2019	3/31/2019
Corporations	Crossroads Incubator Corporation Dunkirk Local Development Corporation	4/1/2019	8/31/2018 3/31/2019	8/31/2018 3/31/2019
	Emerald Corporate Center Economic Development Corporation		3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Finger Lakes Regional Land Bank Corporation	11/1/2018		
	Finger Lakes Regional Telecommunications Development Corporation		3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Fulton County Economic Development Corporation	11/1/2018	3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Greater Aurora Development Corporation Greater Brockport Development Corporation	11/1/2018 3/31/2019	3/31/2019 7/31/2018	3/31/2019 7/31/2018
	Greater Mohawk Valley Land Bank Corporation	3/31/2019	3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Greater Syracuse Soundstage Development Corporation		3/31/2019	0.0112010
	Hilton Local Development Corporation ¹	11/1/2018	3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Hoosick Local Development Corporation	11/1/2018	3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Jamestown Local Development Corporation Lake City Local Development Corporation	11/1/2018	3/31/2019 3/31/2019	3/31/2019 3/31/2019
	Local Development Corporation of Laurelton, Rosedale, and Springfield Gardens	11/1/2018	3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Local Development Corporation of Mount Vernon	11/1/2018	3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Long Beach Local Development Corporation		3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Madison Grant Facilitation Corporation	11/1/2018	3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Malone Economic Development Corporation ¹ Municipal Electric and Gas Alliance, Inc	11/1/2018 2/1/2019	3/31/2019 6/30/2018	3/31/2019 6/30/2018
	Nassau County Economic Development Corporation ¹	11/1/2018	3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Nassau County Leonomic Development Corporation	11112010	3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Nassau County Local Economic Assistance Corporation		3/31/2019	
	New Rochelle Local Development Corporation ¹	11/1/2018	3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	New York City Energy Efficiency Corporation	5/1/2019	2/24/2040	2/24/2010
	Niagara Power Coalition Ogdensburg Growth Fund Development Corp.	11/1/2018	3/31/2019 3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Onondaga Convention Center Hotel Development Corporation	11/1/2018	3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Operation Oswego County		3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Oswegatchie Development Corporation	11/1/2018	3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Otsego County Development Corporation	4/1/2019	8/31/2018	8/31/2018
	Potsdam Community Development Corporation ¹ Putnam County Economic Development Corporation	4/1/2019	8/31/2018 3/31/2019	8/31/2018 3/31/2019
	Ramapo Local Development Corporation		3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Roberts Road Development Corporation		3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Rockland County Health Facilities Corporation		3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Rome Community Brownfield Restoration Corporation	11/1/2018	3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Saranac Lake Local Development Corporation Seneca Knit Development Corporation	11/1/2018	3/31/2019 3/31/2019	3/31/2019 3/31/2019
	Sleepy Hollow Local Development Corporation	4/1/2019	8/31/2018	8/31/2018
	Southern Tier Economic Development, Inc.	11/1/2018	3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Southold Local Development Corporation		3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Sullivan County Partnership for Economic Development	11/1/2018	3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	The Castleton-Schodack Local Development Corporation ¹ The Catskill Local Development Corporation	4/1/2019 11/1/2018	8/31/2018 3/31/2019	8/31/2018 3/31/2019
	The City of Newburgh Local Development Corporation ¹	11/1/2018	3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	The Mayor's Fund to Advance New York City	5/1/2019	0.01.2010	0.0112010
	The Recreation and Economic Development Corporation of Suffolk County	11/1/2018	3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	The Schoharie Community Development Corporation	11/1/2018	3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	The Town of Huntington Economic Development Corporation	4/1/2019	3/31/2019	9/21/2019
	The Village of Waterford Local Development Corporation ¹ The Walden Local Development Corporation	11/1/2019	8/31/2018 3/31/2019	8/31/2018 3/31/2019
	Theater Subdistrict Council Local Development Corporation	4/1/2019	0.01/2019	5/61/2019
	Tompkins Consolidated Area Transit Inc.	11/1/2018	3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Tompkins County Area Development	11/1/2018	3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Town of Huntington Local Development Corporation	11/1/2018	3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Town of Montgomery Capital Resource Corporation Town of North Hempstead Business and Tourism Development Corporation	11/1/2018	3/31/2019 3/31/2019	3/31/2019 3/31/2019
	Town of North Hempstead Business and Tourism Development Corporation	11/1/2018	3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Town of Waterford Capital Resource Corporation	1.1.1.2010	3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Town of Wawayanda Local Development Corporation	11/1/2018	3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Tusten Local Development Corporation ¹	11/1/2018	3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Tuxedo Local Development Corporation	11/1/2018	3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Utica Industrial Development Corporation Victor Local Development Corporation	7/1/2018	11/30/2018 3/31/2019	11/30/2018
			0/01/2019	

Type of		Budget	Annual	Audit
Authority	Authority Name	Report Due*	Report Due	Report Due
Local - Not-for-	Village of Highland Falls High Point Utility Local Development Corporation	11/1/2018	3/31/2019	3/31/2019
Profit	Village of Holley Development Corporation	11/1/2018	3/31/2019	3/31/2019
Corporations	Village of Lancaster Community Development Corporation	4/1/2019	8/31/2018	8/31/2018
	Village of Penn Yan Local Development Corporation ¹	4/1/2019	8/31/2018	8/31/2018
	Village of South Glens Falls Local Development Corporation	11/1/2018	3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Village of Valatie Local Development Corporation ¹	6/1/2018	10/31/2018	10/31/2018
	Wayne County Regional Land Bank Corporation	11/1/2018	3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Westchester County Local Development Corporation		3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Westchester Tobacco Asset Securitization Corporation		3/31/2019	3/31/2019
	Western Ontario Local Community Development Corporation ¹	5/1/2019	9/30/2018	9/30/2018
	Wyandanch Community Development Corporation	5/1/2019	9/30/2018	9/30/2018
	Yonkers Downtown Waterfront Development Corporation ¹	11/1/2018	3/31/2019	3/31/2019

* Budget reports are to be submitted 90 days in advance of a State authority's fiscal year. For example, a State authority with a fiscal year beginning 1/1/2019 should have submitted a Budget Report by 10/1/2018. All non-State Authorities must submit a Budget report 60 days prior to the start of the fiscal year. For example, a non-State authority with a fiscal year beginning on 1/1/2019 should have submitted a Budget Report by 11/1/2018.

¹ Authorities that have indicated their intentions to dissolve, but have not completed the formal dissolution process. These authorities are subject to public disclosure, reporting and corporate governance provisions of the Public Authorities Law until such time as they are legally dissolved.

² The enabling legislation for the Village of Groton IDA expired in 2003, although it kept operating through at least 2016. There are concerns whether the IDA's assets were properly transferred to the Village.

Exhibit M

IDA	Mission Statement	Enabling Statute	By-Laws	Code of Ethics
Albany City Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Amherst Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Amsterdam Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	No	Yes
Brookhaven Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Broome County Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Chautauqua County Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Chemung Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
City of Schenectady Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
City of Utica Industrial Development Authority	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
County of Clinton Industrial Development Agency	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
Cortland County Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Delaware County Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Dutchess County Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Fairport Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Fulton County Industrial Development Agency	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
Genessee County Industrial Development Agency	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
Geneva Industrial Development Agency	No	No	Yes	Yes
Glens Falls Industrial Development Agency	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
Greene County Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Hamburg Industrial Development Agency	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
Hempstead Industrial Development Agency	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
Hornell Industrial Development Agency	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
Jefferson County Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Lancaster Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Lewis County Industrial Development Agency	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
Livingston County Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Madison County Industrial Development Agency	No	No	Yes	Yes
Mechanicville-Stillwater Industrial Development Agency	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
Nassau County Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
New York City Industrial Development Authority	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Newburgh Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Niagara County Industrial Development Agency	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Oneida County Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Onondaga County Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Orange County Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Port Chester Industrial Development Agency	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
Poughkeepsie Industrial Development Agency	No	No	No	No
Putnam County Industrial Development Agency	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
Riverhead Industrial Development Agency	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
Rockland County Industrial Development Agency	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
City of Salamanca Industrial Development Agency	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Schenectady County Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes

Seneca County Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
St. Lawrence County Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Syracuse Industrial Development Agency	No	No	Yes	Yes
Town of Lockport Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Troy Industrial Development Agency	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
Town of Wallkill Industrial Development Agency	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
Westchester County Industrial Development Authority	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
Yonkers Industrial Development Agency	Yes	No	Yes	Yes

Albany City Industrial Development Agency Amherst Industrial Development Agency Amsterdam Industrial Development Agency Brookhaven Industrial Development Agency Broome County Industrial Development Agency Chautauqua County Industrial Development Agency Chemung Industrial Development Agency City of Schenectady Industrial Development Agency City of Utica Industrial Development Authority County of Clinton Industrial Development Agency Cortland County Industrial Development Agency Delaware County Industrial Development Agency Dutchess County Industrial Development Agency Fairport Industrial Development Agency Fulton County Industrial Development Agency Genessee County Industrial Development Agency Geneva Industrial Development Agency Glens Falls Industrial Development Agency Greene County Industrial Development Agency Hamburg Industrial Development Agency Hempstead Industrial Development Agency Hornell Industrial Development Agency Jefferson County Industrial Development Agency Lancaster Industrial Development Agency Lewis County Industrial Development Agency Livingston County Industrial Development Agency Madison County Industrial Development Agency Mechanicville-Stillwater Industrial Development Agend Nassau County Industrial Development Agency New York City Industrial Development Authority Newburgh Industrial Development Agency Niagara County Industrial Development Agency Oneida County Industrial Development Agency Onondaga County Industrial Development Agency Orange County Industrial Development Agency Port Chester Industrial Development Agency Poughkeepsie Industrial Development Agency Putnam County Industrial Development Agency **Riverhead Industrial Development Agency** Rockland County Industrial Development Agency City of Salamanca Industrial Development Agency Schenectady County Industrial Development Agency Yes

	Report on Operations or Accomplisments	List of Board Members	List of Committees + Members
	No	Yes	Yes
	No	Yes	Yes
	Yes	Yes	Yes
	Yes	Yes	Yes
	No	Yes	Yes
	Yes	Yes	No
	Yes	Yes	Yes
	No	Yes	Yes
	No	Yes	Yes
	Yes	Yes	Yes
	Yes	Yes	Yes
	No	Yes	Yes
	No	Yes	Yes
	Yes	Yes	No
	No	No	No
	No	Yes	Yes
	No	Yes	Yes
	Yes	No	Yes
	No	Yes	Yes
	Yes	Yes	Yes
	Yes	Yes	Yes
icy	No	Yes	Yes
	Yes	Yes	Yes
	Yes	Yes	No
	Yes	Yes	Yes
	Yes	Yes	Yes
	No	Yes	No
	Yes	Yes	Yes
	Yes	Yes	Yes
	No	Yes	Yes
	No	Yes	No
	Yes	Yes	Yes

Seneca County Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes
St. Lawrence County Industrial Development Agency	No	Yes	Yes
Syracuse Industrial Development Agency	No	Yes	Yes
Town of Lockport Industrial Development Agency	Yes	yes	Yes
Troy Industrial Development Agency	No	Yes	Yes
Town of Wallkill Industrial Development Agency	No	No	No
Westchester County Industrial Development Authority	No	Yes	Yes
Yonkers Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes

Albany City Industrial Development Agency Amherst Industrial Development Agency Amsterdam Industrial Development Agency Brookhaven Industrial Development Agency Broome County Industrial Development Agency Chautauqua County Industrial Development Agency Chemung Industrial Development Agency City of Schenectady Industrial Development Agency City of Utica Industrial Development Authority County of Clinton Industrial Development Agency Cortland County Industrial Development Agency Delaware County Industrial Development Agency Dutchess County Industrial Development Agency Fairport Industrial Development Agency Fulton County Industrial Development Agency Genessee County Industrial Development Agency Geneva Industrial Development Agency Glens Falls Industrial Development Agency Greene County Industrial Development Agency Hamburg Industrial Development Agency Hempstead Industrial Development Agency Hornell Industrial Development Agency Jefferson County Industrial Development Agency Lancaster Industrial Development Agency Lewis County Industrial Development Agency Livingston County Industrial Development Agency Madison County Industrial Development Agency Mechanicville-Stillwater Industrial Development Agency Nassau County Industrial Development Agency New York City Industrial Development Authority Newburgh Industrial Development Agency Niagara County Industrial Development Agency Oneida County Industrial Development Agency Onondaga County Industrial Development Agency Orange County Industrial Development Agency Port Chester Industrial Development Agency Poughkeepsie Industrial Development Agency Putnam County Industrial Development Agency **Riverhead Industrial Development Agency** Rockland County Industrial Development Agency City of Salamanca Industrial Development Agency Schenectady County Industrial Development Agency

	Executive Management Team	Board Meeting Schedule	Meeting Notices	Board Meeting Agendas
	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
	Yes	Yes	No	No
	Yes	No	Yes	No
	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
	Yes	Yes	Yes	No
	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
	No	Yes	No	Yes
	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
	Yes	Yes	No	Yes
	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
	Yes	No	No	Yes
	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
	No	No	No	No
	No	No	No	Yes
	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
	No	No	Yes	No
	Yes	No	No	No
	Yes	Yes	No	Yes
	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
	Yes	No	Yes	No
	Yes	Yes	No	Yes
	Yes	No	No	No
сy	Yes	Yes	No	Yes
	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
	No	Yes	Yes	No
	Yes	Yes	No	Yes
	Yes	yes	No	No
	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
	Yes	Yes	No	Yes
	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
	Yes	Yes	No	No
	Yes	Yes	No	Yes
	Yes	Yes	No	Yes
	No	No	Yes	Yes

Seneca County Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
St. Lawrence County Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes	No
Syracuse Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Town of Lockport Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	No	Yes
Troy Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	No	Yes
Town of Wallkill Industrial Development Agency	No	No	No	No
Westchester County Industrial Development Authority	Yes	No	No	Yes
Yonkers Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes

IDA	Board Meeting Minutes	Annual Budget Report (19)	Audited Financial Statement/Report (2018/19)
Albany City Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes
Amherst Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes
Amsterdam Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes
Brookhaven Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes
Broome County Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes
Chautauqua County Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes
Chemung Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes
City of Schenectady Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes
City of Utica Industrial Development Authority	Yes	Yes	Yes
County of Clinton Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes
Cortland County Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes
Delaware County Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	No (link error)
Dutchess County Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes
Fairport Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes
Fulton County Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes
Genessee County Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes
Geneva Industrial Development Agency	Yes	No	No
Glens Falls Industrial Development Agency	Yes	No	Yes
Greene County Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes
Hamburg Industrial Development Agency	Yes	No	Yes
Hempstead Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes
Hornell Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes
Jefferson County Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes
Lancaster Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes
Lewis County Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	No
Livingston County Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes
Madison County Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes
Mechanicville-Stillwater Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	No
Nassau County Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes
New York City Industrial Development Authority	No	Yes	Yes
Newburgh Industrial Development Agency	Yes	No	Yes
Niagara County Industrial Development Agency	Yes	No	Yes
Oneida County Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes
Onondaga County Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes
Orange County Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes
Port Chester Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes
Poughkeepsie Industrial Development Agency	Yes	No	Yes
Putnam County Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes
Riverhead Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes
Rockland County Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes
City of Salamanca Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes
Schenectady County Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes

Seneca County Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes
St. Lawrence County Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes
Syracuse Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes
Town of Lockport Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes
Troy Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes
Town of Wallkill Industrial Development Agency	Yes	No	Yes
Westchester County Industrial Development Authority	Yes	No	No
Yonkers Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes

Albany City Industrial Development Agency Amherst Industrial Development Agency Amsterdam Industrial Development Agency Brookhaven Industrial Development Agency Broome County Industrial Development Agency Chautauqua County Industrial Development Agency Chemung Industrial Development Agency City of Schenectady Industrial Development Agency City of Utica Industrial Development Authority County of Clinton Industrial Development Agency Cortland County Industrial Development Agency Delaware County Industrial Development Agency Dutchess County Industrial Development Agency Fairport Industrial Development Agency Fulton County Industrial Development Agency Genessee County Industrial Development Agency Geneva Industrial Development Agency Glens Falls Industrial Development Agency Greene County Industrial Development Agency Hamburg Industrial Development Agency Hempstead Industrial Development Agency Hornell Industrial Development Agency Jefferson County Industrial Development Agency Lancaster Industrial Development Agency Lewis County Industrial Development Agency Livingston County Industrial Development Agency Madison County Industrial Development Agency Mechanicville-Stillwater Industrial Development Agency Nassau County Industrial Development Agency New York City Industrial Development Authority Newburgh Industrial Development Agency Niagara County Industrial Development Agency Oneida County Industrial Development Agency Onondaga County Industrial Development Agency Orange County Industrial Development Agency Port Chester Industrial Development Agency Poughkeepsie Industrial Development Agency Putnam County Industrial Development Agency **Riverhead Industrial Development Agency** Rockland County Industrial Development Agency City of Salamanca Industrial Development Agency No Schenectady County Industrial Development Agency No No

List of Active IDA Projects No	Applications for All Active Projects Yes	Resolutions for All Active Projects No
Yes	Yes	Yes
No	No	No
Yes	Yes	Yes
Yes	Yes	Yes
No	No	No
Yes	Yes	Yes
Yes	Yes	Yes
No	No	No
Yes	Yes	Yes
Yes	No	No
Yes	No	Yes
Yes	Yes	Yes
No	No	No
Yes	Yes	Yes
Yes	Yes	Yes
No	No	No
No	No	No
No	No	No
Yes	Yes	Yes
Yes	No	No
Yes	No	No
No	No	No
Yes	No	Yes
Yes	Yes	No
Yes	Yes	Yes
Yes	Yes	Yes
No	No	No
Yes	Yes	Yes
No	No	No
Yes	Yes	Yes
Yes	Yes	Yes
Yes	No	No
No	No	Yes
No	No	No
Yes	No	No
Yes	Yes	No
No	No	No

No

Seneca County Industrial Development Agency	No	No	No
St. Lawrence County Industrial Development Agency	Yes	No	No
Syracuse Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes
Town of Lockport Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes
Troy Industrial Development Agency	Yes	No	No
Town of Wallkill Industrial Development Agency	No	No	No
Westchester County Industrial Development Authority	No	No	No
Yonkers Industrial Development Agency	Yes	No	No

Albany City Industrial Development Agency Amherst Industrial Development Agency Amsterdam Industrial Development Agency Brookhaven Industrial Development Agency Broome County Industrial Development Agency Chautauqua County Industrial Development Agency Chemung Industrial Development Agency City of Schenectady Industrial Development Agency City of Utica Industrial Development Authority County of Clinton Industrial Development Agency Cortland County Industrial Development Agency Delaware County Industrial Development Agency Dutchess County Industrial Development Agency Fairport Industrial Development Agency Fulton County Industrial Development Agency Genessee County Industrial Development Agency Geneva Industrial Development Agency Glens Falls Industrial Development Agency Greene County Industrial Development Agency Hamburg Industrial Development Agency Hempstead Industrial Development Agency Hornell Industrial Development Agency Jefferson County Industrial Development Agency Lancaster Industrial Development Agency Lewis County Industrial Development Agency Livingston County Industrial Development Agency Madison County Industrial Development Agency Mechanicville-Stillwater Industrial Development Agency Nassau County Industrial Development Agency New York City Industrial Development Authority Newburgh Industrial Development Agency Niagara County Industrial Development Agency Oneida County Industrial Development Agency Onondaga County Industrial Development Agency Orange County Industrial Development Agency Port Chester Industrial Development Agency Poughkeepsie Industrial Development Agency Putnam County Industrial Development Agency **Riverhead Industrial Development Agency** Rockland County Industrial Development Agency City of Salamanca Industrial Development Agency No Schenectady County Industrial Development Agency No

Project Agreements for All Active Projects Yes	Uniform Tax Exemption Policy Yes
Yes	Yes
No	Yes
Yes	Yes
Yes	Yes
No	Yes
Yes	Yes
Yes	Yes
No	Yes
Yes	Yes
No	Yes
No	Yes
Yes	Yes
No	No
Yes	No
Yes	Yes
No	Yes
No	Yes
No	Yes
Yes	Yes
No	No
Yes	Yes
Yes	Yes
No	Yes
Yes	Yes
No	No
Yes	Yes
Yes	Yes
No	Ves

Yes

Yes

Seneca County Industrial Development Agency	No	Yes
St. Lawrence County Industrial Development Agency	No	Yes
Syracuse Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes
Town of Lockport Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes
Troy Industrial Development Agency	No	Yes
Town of Wallkill Industrial Development Agency	No	Yes
Westchester County Industrial Development Authority	No	Yes
Yonkers Industrial Development Agency	No	No

Albany City Industrial Development Agency Amherst Industrial Development Agency Amsterdam Industrial Development Agency Brookhaven Industrial Development Agency Broome County Industrial Development Agency Chautauqua County Industrial Development Agency Chemung Industrial Development Agency City of Schenectady Industrial Development Agency City of Utica Industrial Development Authority County of Clinton Industrial Development Agency Cortland County Industrial Development Agency Delaware County Industrial Development Agency Dutchess County Industrial Development Agency Fairport Industrial Development Agency Fulton County Industrial Development Agency Genessee County Industrial Development Agency Geneva Industrial Development Agency Glens Falls Industrial Development Agency Greene County Industrial Development Agency Hamburg Industrial Development Agency Hempstead Industrial Development Agency Hornell Industrial Development Agency Jefferson County Industrial Development Agency Lancaster Industrial Development Agency Lewis County Industrial Development Agency Livingston County Industrial Development Agency Madison County Industrial Development Agency Mechanicville-Stillwater Industrial Development Agency Nassau County Industrial Development Agency New York City Industrial Development Authority Newburgh Industrial Development Agency Niagara County Industrial Development Agency Oneida County Industrial Development Agency Onondaga County Industrial Development Agency Orange County Industrial Development Agency Port Chester Industrial Development Agency Poughkeepsie Industrial Development Agency Putnam County Industrial Development Agency **Riverhead Industrial Development Agency** Rockland County Industrial Development Agency City of Salamanca Industrial Development Agency Schenectady County Industrial Development Agency No

	Uniform Evaluation	Whistleblower Policy	Conflicts of Interest
	Criteria Policy		Policy
	Yes	Yes	No
	No	Yes	Yes
	No	Yes	No
	Yes	Yes	No
	Yes	Yes	Yes
	No	Yes	No
	No	Yes	Yes
	No	Yes	Yes
	No	Yes	No
	Yes	Yes	Yes
	No	Yes	Yes
	No	Yes*	Yes*
	No	Yes	Yes
	No	Yes	Yes
	Yes	Yes	No
	No	Yes	Yes
	No	Yes	No
	No	Yes	No
	Yes	Yes	Yes
	No	Yes	Yes
	No	Yes	Yes
	No	Yes	No
	No	Yes	No
	No	Yes	Yes
	Yes	Yes	No
	Yes	Yes	No
	Yes	No	No
y	No	Yes	No
	No	Yes	No
	No	Yes	Yes
	No	Yes	Yes
	No	Yes	No
	Yes	Yes	No
	No	Yes	Yes
	No	Yes	Yes
	No	Yes	No
	Yes	Yes	Yes
	No	Yes	No
	NT	V	N

Yes

No

Seneca County Industrial Development Agency	No	Yes	No
St. Lawrence County Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	Yes
Syracuse Industrial Development Agency	No	Yes	No
Town of Lockport Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	No
Troy Industrial Development Agency	Yes	Yes	No
Town of Wallkill Industrial Development Agency	No	Yes	No
Westchester County Industrial Development Authority	No	Yes	No
Yonkers Industrial Development Agency	No	Yes	No

Exhibit N



Fwd: Orange County IDA

1 message

Vinnie Cozzolino <vcozzolino@the-accelerator.com> To: skoufis@nysenate.gov, valle@nysenate.gov, lvillasuso@ocnyida.com Tue, Sep 10, 2019 at 7:38 PM

Vincent Cozzolino Managing Director The Accelerator 845-656-1334

Begin forwarded message:

From: "Gerstein, Eric" <EGerstein@medline.com> Date: January 12, 2019 at 9:39:27 PM EST To: Vincent Cozzolino <vcozzolino@the-accelerator.com> Cc: "Ivillasuso@ocnyida.com" <Ivillasuso@ocnyida.com> Subject: RE: Orange County IDA

Vinnie-

Happy new year to you as well.

We are changing gears and going to go through the Town of Montgomery IDA. We had spoken to some people with the Montgomery as well as with Orange County Partners as we have explored beginning our project and there were some questions as to why we were using OCIDA rather than TOMIDA. We had assumed using either would be the same process, same costs, etc. As we learned more about the TOMIDA and the local processes, we determined that working with the TOMIDA will provide "one-stop shopping" and reduced costs. Since the Town will be issuing permits and approvals, as well as IDA financial assistance, we believe it will improve efficiency to be in one place. Once the permits are issued the TOMIDA will proceed to consider approval of the financial assistance. This will allow Medline to build a relationship with the local community that we will be a part of for a couple of decades from the beginning of the process.

With respect to costs, the TOMIDA is significantly less expensive than the OCIDA. As a low margin medical products provider, managing costs is critical to our success and our sustainability.

I was actually going to call you on Monday once I knew for sure to tell you of this change. We did not know that there was a going to be an article about this. I'm sorry you had to hear about this change this way.

Eric

Eric Gerstein Three Lakes Drive, Northfield, IL 60093 Tel/Direct: +1 847 643 4603 | Fax: +1 847 643 3744 | Mobile: +1 312 493 3131 egerstein@medline.com | www.medline.com

-----Original Message-----From: Vincent Cozzolino <vcozzolino@the-accelerator.com> Sent: Saturday, January 12, 2019 2:56 PM To: Gerstein, Eric <EGerstein@medline.com> Cc: Ivillasuso@ocnyida.com Subject: Orange County IDA Hi Eric, Happy New Year

It's Vinnie Cozzolino from the Orange County IDA

This article, below, appeared in our local paper that sparked a series of calls to us from our board members. We were expecting your project to continue through our Orange County IDA must this article claims you are going through the local Montgomery IDA.

https://www.recordonline.com/news/20190111/2-big-warehouse-projects-on-montgomery-ida-agenda

Did something happen?

As you recall, you presented your project and met our board during a meeting last year in Goshen where the board accepted your application.

Sorry for the Saturday text but this has caused a stir in our board. I'm hoping it's an error in the story and I'd like to respond to the board members.

Thanks

Vinnie

Vincent Cozzolino Managing Director The Accelerator 845-656-1334

Exhibit O

Maureen Halahan

From:	Dukhan, Dmitry <ddukhan@medline.com></ddukhan@medline.com>
Sent:	Monday, September 09, 2019 12:46 PM
То:	Maureen Halahan
Cc:	RJ Smith; Kaitlynn Perez
Subject:	Re: Montgomery IDA Meeting - Today 9/9

Thanks!

On Sep 9, 2019, at 11:48 AM, Maureen Halahan <<u>Maureen@ocpartnership.org</u>> wrote:

I'm hearing that the Montgomery IDA is still supportive. I will be there with Katie.

М.

<image005.png> | Maureen Halahan

President & CEO, Orange County Partnership p: 845.294.2806 a: 40 Matthews Street, Suite 108 | Goshen, NY 10924 s: www.ocpartnership.org <image006.jpg> <image007.jpg> <image008.jpg>

From: RJ Smith [mailto:richard.smith@randcommercial.com]
 Sent: Monday, September 09, 2019 10:09 AM
 To: Kaitlynn Perez <<u>Kaitlynn@ocpartnership.org</u>>; <u>ddukhan@medline.com</u>; Maureen Halahan
 <<u>Maureen@ocpartnership.org</u>>
 Subject: RE: Montgomery IDA Meeting - Today 9/9

I am around all day but in and out of meetings. Let me know what time. I am beast between 1:00 and 2:30

Richard "RJ" Smith Real Estate Associate Broker ri@randcommercial.com

Rand Commercial and Better Homes and Gardens Rand Realty PO Box 668 55 Main Street Pine Bush, NY 12566 845-744-2095 845-744-5268 fax

From: Kaitlynn Perez [<u>mailto:Kaitlynn@ocpartnership.org</u>] **Sent:** Monday, September 09, 2019 9:01 AM **To:** <u>ddukhan@medline.com</u>; RJ Smith; Maureen Halahan **Subject:** Montgomery IDA Meeting - Today 9/9

Good Morning,

I hope that you all had a great weekend and had a chance to relax.

I wanted to reach out to see if we should strategize before this evenings IDA meeting in Montgomery at 5:30PM.

If there is anything specific that we should discuss or topics that we should be focused on, let's try to set up a call prior to this evening.

Thank you,

<image009.png> Kaitlynn Perez Economic Development Specialist Orange County Partnership p: 845.294.5238 a: 40 Matthews Street, Suite 108 | Goshen, NY 10924 s: <u>www.ocpartnership.org</u> <image010.png> <image011.png> <image012.png>

Exhibit P

Maureen Halahan

From:	Dukhan, Dmitry <ddukhan@medline.com></ddukhan@medline.com>
Sent:	Monday, August 05, 2019 11:35 AM
To:	Maureen Halahan
Subject:	Re: 8/13 meeting
Follow Up Flag:	Follow up
Flag Status:	Flagged

Absolutely and I have spoken with Todd several times so I think he is on board. Thanks a lot!

> On Aug 5, 2019, at 10:26 AM, Maureen Halahan <Maureen@ocpartnership.org> wrote: > > We are on it. > > We are drafting our "ask" and identifying our supporters. > > We will keep a running list of rsvp's. > > Are you working with Todd and the trades? > > I'll keep you updated. > > Let's GO!!! >> Maureen > >> Maureen Halahan > President & CEO, Orange County Partnership > p: 845.294.2806 a: 40 Matthews Street, Suite 108 | Goshen, NY 10924 > s: https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=http-3A www.ocpartnership.org&d=DwIFAw&c=ZyuC0pi8BQ0JtN0UhY3DPMRPQOzp-0mvXzAggKz74wI&r=KBFGhc0hb17IPeLFfGmJBTou3a0fmuPK8fUDVqBOH4&m=rRragPlninCnXOhi4ELUs-O0iiE2keOCtXc-080KVLY&s=zM4g6tIRITuNsnOKfEMKfAU7BaqyKopVGHdNfBndFys&e= > > > > > ----- Original Message-----> From: Dukhan, Dmitry [mailto:DDukhan@medline.com] > Sent: Saturday, August 03, 2019 9:35 PM > To: Maureen Halahan < Maureen@ocpartnership.org> > Subject: 8/13 meeting > > Maureen - Can you please reach out to members of Orange County Partnership for help with 8/13 meeting at 7pm at

Valley Central High School cafeteria. If there is any way you can have 30-40 members come for support that would be great.

> Opposition is getting momentum and after Amazon project got approved this week they are angry and getting pushy and uncivil. We need good number of supporters to reassure the board that project is supported.

>

> My goal is to have 50 employees, 60-80 resident and other supporters and 30-40 additional businesses.

- >
- > Thanks!
 > Dmitry
 >